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Cabela’s is the nation’s largest direct marketer, and a leading specialty retailer, of hunting,

fishing, camping and related outdoor merchandise. Since our founding in 1961, Cabela’s®

has grown to become one of the most well-known outdoor recreation brands in the

United States, and we have long been recognized as the World’s Foremost Outfitter®.

Through our well-established direct business and our growing number of destination

retail stores, we believe we offer the widest and most distinctive selection of high-quality

outdoor products at competitive prices while providing superior customer service. Our

multi-channel retail model – catalog, Internet and destination retail stores – strategically

positions us to meet our customers’ ever-growing needs. We also issue the Cabela’s Club

VISA credit card through which we offer a related customer loyalty rewards program as

a vehicle for strengthening our customer relationships.

As the World’s Foremost Outfitter,
we passionately serve people 

who enjoy the outdoor lifestyle 
by delivering innovation, quality and 

value in our products and services.

Cabela’s Class A Common Stock began trading on June 25, 2004  

on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “CAB”.

As the World’s Foremost Outfitter,
we passionately serve people 

who enjoy the outdoor lifestyle 
by delivering innovation, quality and 

value in our products and services.

Cabela’s Class A Common Stock began trading on June 25, 2004  

on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “CAB”.

®®



FinancialFinancialHIGHLIGHTS

Fiscal Year 2004 2003 2002 

(Dollars in thousands except per-share data and per-square-foot data)

Total revenue $ 1,555,974 $ 1,392,423 $ 1,224,581

Operating income $ 97,215 $ 84,931 $ 76,001

Operating income as a percentage of revenue 6.2% 6.1% 6.2%

Net income $ 64,996 $ 51,391 $ 46,922

Diluted earnings per share $ 1.03 $ 0.93 $ 0.88

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 63,277,400 55,306,294 53,399,546

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 248,184 $ 192,581 $ 178,636

Marketable securities $ 145,587 $ 72,632 $ 57,482

Total debt $ 148,152 $ 142,651 $ 161,452

Total stockholders’ equity $ 566,354 $ 372,515 $ 259,530

Number of catalogs mailed 120,383,000 103,976,000 96,723,000

Number of retail stores (at end of period) 10 9 8

Total gross square-footage 1,317,060 1,140,709 893,810

Average sales per gross square-foot $ 398 $ 386 $ 381

Inventory turns 3.0x 3.3x 3.2x
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Dear Cabela’s Shareholders:
Welcome to our annual report, our first as a publicly

traded company. I am pleased to report that 2004 was

another record year in both sales and profits for Cabela’s.

We are proud of our financial results and many important

accomplishments, which I will discuss in greater detail

throughout this letter.

These are very exciting times at Cabela’s. Retail

expansion will continue to be our primary growth

vehicle and will complement our catalog and Internet

business. Our multi-channel retail model – catalog,

Internet and destination retail stores – combined with

our financial services business, strategically positions us to

meet our customers’ ever-growing needs.

The Cabela’s brand has never been stronger. Cabela’s

continues to grow in our core hunting, fishing and

outdoor product categories and has expanded to include

other outdoor lifestyle categories such as women’s,

children’s and casual clothing, home and cabin

furnishings, workwear and gifts. These product offerings

have allowed us to appeal to a larger customer base and

increase our margins. We have also leveraged our brand

by expanding our private-label product lines, which

account for roughly one-third of sales. This expansion

allows us to offer our customers top-quality products at

a great value, while also maximizing our profit potential

and promoting the Cabela’s brand.

We ended the year once again as the largest direct

marketer and a leading specialty retailer of outdoor gear.

We believe we are uniquely positioned to maintain

market leadership and deliver exceptional value to our

customers. As we forge ahead, we will continue to focus

on our customers and deliver the highest quality and

deepest product selection in our industry.

Financial Highlights
The year 2004 proved to be another record year for

Cabela’s. Total revenue for the year increased 13.4% on a

comparative 52-week basis to a record $1.56 billion.

Revenue in our direct business (catalog and Internet)

grew 6.6% on a comparative 52-week basis to $970.6

million. Retail revenue grew 24.4% on a comparative

52-week basis to $499.1 million, led by the full-year

impact of our retail store in Hamburg, Pennsylvania,
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which opened in September 2003, and our new retail

store in Wheeling,West Virginia, which opened in August

2004. Financial services revenue grew 34.0% for the

year, as we continued to grow our active account base.

Net income rose 26.5% to a record $65.0 million, and

earnings per share were $1.03 for the year.

2004 Accomplishments
In addition to our strong financial results, we also

achieved many operational milestones. In the second half

of 2004, we opened our 10th destination retail store in

Wheeling, West Virginia, and sales there have exceeded

our expectations. This 176,000-square-foot store allows

us to better serve our customers in the region. Cabela’s

large-format destination retail stores are popular tourist

attractions. If you haven’t seen one, you owe it to

yourself to plan a visit.

Also, in the second half of the year, we opened our

595,000-square-foot state-of-the-art distribution center

in Wheeling,West Virginia. This facility is a key link in

our retail expansion plans, serving as our primary

distribution center for the East Coast. In addition to

keeping our retail stores fully stocked, it also benefits our

direct business by reducing delivery times and lowering

transportation costs to our catalog and Internet

customers in the eastern United States.

In June 2004, we completed our initial public offering,

raising more than $114 million. These funds were used

primarily for new store expansion. This was not only an

important accomplishment for the year, but has opened a

new chapter in our 44-year company history.

We also announced we are in negotiations to enter

several new markets, significantly accelerating our

destination retail store expansion. Construction is well

under way on our stores in Fort Worth and Buda,Texas,

and Lehi, Utah, which are all scheduled to open in 2005.

We also recently announced plans to construct a store in

Rogers, Minnesota, which is expected to open in late

2005. Additionally, we have announced stores in Wheat
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Ridge, Colorado; Gonzales, Louisiana; Reno, Nevada;

and East Rutherford,New Jersey, and there is more in the

works regarding our retail expansion plans.

Our direct business continues to lead the industry.

Our world-renowned catalogs – mailed to all 50 states

and more than 120 countries – serve as our primary

marketing tool and, in addition to producing sales,

drive customers to our Internet site and destination

retail stores. In 2004, we mailed more than 120

million catalogs with 76 different titles and shipped

8.1 million packages.

The Cabela’s Club VISA credit card, issued by our

wholly-owned subsidiary,World’s Foremost Bank, serves

as the primary loyalty rewards program for Cabela’s. In

2004, average active accounts increased nearly 19% to

618,951. This growth, combined with a 6% increase in

the average account balance, drove financial services

revenue growth of 34% in 2004. For the first time ever,

our financial services segment had total managed

receivables of more than $1 billion. We also achieved

another milestone, opening our one-millionth credit card

account. This growth occurred while our provision for

loan losses, delinquencies and charge-offs continued to

improve. With the Cabela’s Club VISA credit card, we

can provide our cardholders a no-hassle, no-coupon way

to earn free merchandise through our catalogs, Internet

site and destination retail stores.

The Cabela’s Difference
Having worked at Cabela’s for almost 30 years, I could

talk all day about what makes Cabela’s stand apart from

our competitors. One thing is the strength of the

Cabela’s brand. We have the premier outdoor lifestyle
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brand, with roughly one-third of our selection carrying

the Cabela’s private-label brand. We have strong global

vendor relationships, and our quality-control department

assures customer satisfaction. Additionally, with

approximately 245,000 stock-keeping units, or SKUs, we

believe the depth and breadth of our product selection is

second to none.

Our primary differentiating factor is our devotion to

customer service. All our internal planning and

discussion centers around improving the customer

experience. We understand the customer is the reason

for our very existence. Customer service was our No. 1

priority long before it was a popular buzzword in the

industry. Need proof?  In Cabela’s early years, our

founders, Jim and Dick Cabela, established a 100%

Satisfaction Guarantee that is still the backbone of our

customer service strategy.

In closing, I assure you that all of us at Cabela’s remain

committed to our vision. I would like to thank all of our

employees who make a difference every day. Though Jim

and Dick Cabela started this business 44 years ago, they

have always given credit to the Cabela’s family of

employees who, through their hard work and dedication,

are the key to our success.We believe the strength of the

Cabela’s brand, our superior product selection and our

devotion to customer service will allow us to continue to

increase our market share and solidify our position as the

World’s Foremost Outfitter.

Sincerely,

Dennis Highby

President and Chief Executive Officer
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Looking To The Future
We believe our multi-channel approach gives us a

tremendous advantage over our competitors. All our

business segments – retail, direct and financial services –

build on each other to enhance our competitive position

and overall financial performance. For example, the

incredibly detailed data we gather from our direct

business greatly aids in our retail store expansion, helping

not only to locate and size stores, but also size

departments, pre-determine a store’s merchandising mix

and even project margins and profitability. This helps us

achieve our outstanding sales-per-square-foot metric.

Our exciting destination retail stores serve as a catalyst for

introducing new customers to the growing Cabela’s

direct business. Also, we continue to build customer

loyalty through our Cabela’s Club VISA program. Club

members have demonstrated this loyalty with increased

levels of spending and lower attrition rates.

Spearheaded by an aggressive push to bring more retail

stores to our customers,we are refining our multi-channel

model. Cabela’s retail store expansion, combined with

our growing Internet business, catalog distribution and

Cabela’s Club VISA loyalty rewards program, is creating

new opportunities to increase the visibility and exposure

of the Cabela’s brand while providing our customers with

excellent selection, value and customer service.

The cornerstone of Cabela’s successful multi-channel

model is our continued commitment to superior

customer service and satisfaction across all channels.

Working together, Cabela’s catalog, Internet and retail

store efforts generate multi-channel sales and cross-

promote visibility of the brand to existing and potential

customers. Our extensive product offering of

approximately 245,000 SKUs provides Cabela’s

customers with an unparalleled selection of merchandise.

Cabela’s success in 2004 was due to the refinement of our

multi-channel retail strategy. Total revenues increased by

$163.6 million, or 11.7%, to $1.56 billion in fiscal 2004

from $1.39 billion in fiscal 2003. On a comparative 

52-week basis, revenue increased 13.4%.
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Accelerated
Store Expansion
Cabela’s experienced remarkable retail

revenue growth during the year. In fiscal 2004, total

retail revenue increased 22.6% to $499.1 million from

$407.2 million in fiscal 2003. This growth was fueled by the

strong performance of our 247,000-square-foot retail store

in Hamburg, Pennsylvania, which opened in September

2003, and our new 176,000-square-foot retail store in

Wheeling,West Virginia, which opened in August 2004.

Cabela’s retail showrooms are more than just stores – they are

major destinations and attractions,regularly drawing customers

from a 250-mile radius.

They feature museum-

quality wildlife displays,

huge aquariums, indoor

mountains, archery ranges

and restaurants. They are

unique, breathtaking tourist

attractions that appeal to

the entire family and are a

testimony to America’s rich

outdoor heritage.

Cabela’s has a 44-year history 

of serving outdoor enthusiasts. Our 

strategy for future growth is to capitalize on this long

history, which provides us with certain strategic advantages.

The most important of these advantages is our direct

database, which provides us with information to select new

store sites, size departments and establish initial inventory

down to the SKU level. Additionally, our direct business

provides us with brand recognition as we enter a new

market. For example, when we opened our store in

Wheeling,West Virginia, people were already familiar with

the Cabela’s brand due to their experience with our catalogs

and Internet site. We believe our direct business provides

significant advantages as we accelerate our retail expansion.

Cabela’s plans to open four new destination retail stores

in 2005, two in Texas (Fort Worth and Buda), one in

Lehi, Utah, and one in Rogers, Minnesota. We also are

in negotiations to build new destination retail stores in

Wheat Ridge, Colorado; Gonzales, Louisiana; Reno,

Nevada; and East Rutherford, New Jersey.
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Redefining Growth And
Dr iving Sales
As an integral part of Cabela’s direct

retailing strategy,Cabela’s Internet presence

at www.cabelas.com provides customers

with detailed information and a huge

selection of products and services. The

website contains links to Cabela’s product

lines, as well as buyer’s guides, product

reviews and more. Our website was in the

top 1% of sport and fitness sites according

to Hitwise Incorporated.

Catalog sales continue to serve as the

foundation for Cabela’s success. Revenue in our direct

merchandising channel, including both catalog and

Internet sales, accounted for 66% of total merchandise

revenue. Direct revenue for the year increased 5.0% to

$970.6 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $924.3 million

in fiscal 2003. On a comparative 52-week basis, direct

revenue increased 6.6%.

Cabela’s remains the largest direct marketer in the

outdoor industry. In 2004, we shipped 8.1 million

packages and mailed more than 120 million catalogs with

76 separate titles. This catalog circulation strategy reduces

our need for high-cost traditional advertising such as TV,

radio and newspaper. Our catalogs drive customers to our

Internet site and destination retail stores.
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World’s Foremost Bank
Another important component of Cabela’s multi-

channel efforts is the Cabela’s Club VISA credit card,

issued through our wholly-owned subsidiary, World’s

Foremost Bank. The program, now in its 10th year, has

been successful in increasing brand loyalty and

strengthening customer relationships. Cabela’s Club

VISA members receive rewards whenever and wherever

they use their Cabela’s Club VISA. Approximately 17.7%

of Cabela’s total merchandise sales in fiscal 2004 were

made using the Cabela’s Club VISA credit card.

We adhere to stringent credit practices and only provide

cards to our most creditworthy customers. By lending to

only “super prime” credit quality customers, we have been

able to maintain our credit statistics well below industry

averages. Charged-off loans as a percentage of average

managed receivables fell to 2.21% in 2004 from 2.42% in

2003. We have maintained these superior credit statistics as

financial services revenue has grown at a compound annual

growth rate (CAGR) of nearly 42% over the past four years.

In 2004, our financial services segment ended the year

with total managed receivables outstanding of more than

$1 billion and surpassed the one million credit card

accounts mark. Cabela’s financial services revenue

increased 34.0% to a record

$78.1 million from $58.3

million in fiscal 2003.

Cabela’s Club VISA members

have demonstrated their loyalty

with increased levels of spending

and lower customer attrition

rates. Going forward, the Cabela’s

Club VISA will continue to

serve as our primary customer

loyalty rewards program.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains ""forward-looking statements'' that are based on our beliefs, assumptions and
expectations of future events, taking into account the information currently available to us. All statements
other than statements of current or historical fact contained in this report are forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance
or Ñnancial condition to diÅer materially from the expectations of future results, performance or Ñnancial
condition we express or imply in any forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but
are not limited to: the ability to negotiate favorable lease and economic development arrangements,
expansion into new markets; market saturation due to new destination retail store openings; the rate of
growth of general and administrative expenses associated with building a strengthened corporate
infrastructure to support our growth initiatives; increasing competition in the outdoor segment of the
sporting goods industry; the cost of our products; supply and delivery shortages or interruptions; adverse
weather conditions which impact the demand for our products; Öuctuations in operating results; adverse
economic conditions; increased fuel prices; labor shortages or increased labor costs; changes in consumer
preferences and demographic trends; increased government regulation; inadequate protection of our
intellectual property; other factors that we may not have currently identiÑed or quantiÑed; and other risks,
relevant factors and uncertainties identiÑed in the ""Factors AÅecting Future Results'' section of this
report. The words ""believe,'' ""may,'' ""should,'' ""anticipate,'' ""estimate,'' ""expect,'' ""intend,'' ""objective,''
""seek,'' ""plan,'' ""will,'' and similar statements are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Given
the risks and uncertainties surrounding forward-looking statements, you should not place undue reliance on
these statements. Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Other than as
required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Overview

We are the nation's largest direct marketer, and a leading specialty retailer, of hunting, Ñshing,
camping and related outdoor merchandise. Since our founding in 1961, Cabela's has grown to become one
of the most well-known outdoor recreation brands in the United States, and we have long been recognized
as the World's Foremost OutÑtter. Through our well-established direct business and our growing number
of destination retail stores, we believe we oÅer the widest and most distinctive selection of high quality
outdoor products at competitive prices while providing superior customer service. Our multi-channel retail
model Ócatalog, Internet and destination retail stores Ì  strategically positions us to meet our customer's
ever-growing needs. We also issue the Cabela's Club VISA credit card through which we oÅer a related
customer loyalty rewards program as a vehicle for strengthening our customer relationships.

Our extensive product oÅering consists of approximately 245,000 stock keeping units, or SKUs, and
includes hunting, Ñshing, marine and camping merchandise, casual and outdoor apparel and footwear,
optics, vehicle accessories, gifts and home furnishings with an outdoor theme. Our direct business uses
catalogs and the Internet to increase brand awareness and generate customer orders via the mail, telephone
and the Internet. In Ñscal 2004, we circulated over 120 million catalogs with 76 separate titles and our
website, cabelas.com, was in the top 1% of sites in the Hitwise Incorporated online measurement sport and
Ñtness category based on market share of visits. We opened our Ñrst destination retail store in 1987 and
currently operate ten destination retail stores that range in size from 35,000 square feet to 250,000 square
feet, including our Ñve large-format destination retail stores which are 150,000 square feet or larger. We
currently have plans to open four new destination retail stores in 2005, at least two in 2006, and at least
two in 2007.

We were initially incorporated as a Nebraska corporation in 1965 and were reincorporated as a
Delaware corporation in January of 2004. In June of 2004, we completed our initial public oÅering of
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common stock, raising over $114 million, of which $38.1 million was used to pay the outstanding balance
on our line of credit and the balance was used for retail expansion. Our common stock is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ""CAB.''

Cabela's», Cabela's Club», World's Foremost OutÑtter», World's Foremost Bank», and Bargain
Cave» are registered trademarks that we own. Other service marks, trademarks and trade names referred
to in this report are the property of their respective owners.

Accomplishments in 2004

Fiscal 2004 was a historic year for Cabela's, as several exciting things happened which set the stage
for our future, including;

‚ We raised over $114 million in our initial public oÅering, which was used for retail expansion and
paying down our line of credit.

‚ We initiated plans to open four new stores in 2005, two in 2006, and two in 2007.

‚ We opened our new Wheeling, West Virginia distribution center, strategically located around our
customer and retail base.

‚ We opened a new 176,000 square foot destination retail store in Wheeling, West Virginia.

‚ Our direct business continued on a steady growth pattern and increased revenues by 5% in Ñscal
2004, on a 53 to 52 week comparison. For the comparative 52 weeks, revenues increased by 6.6%.
We added new catalogs featuring home and cabin furnishings, women's and children's clothing, and
work wear.

‚ Our wholly-owned bank subsidiary, World's Foremost Bank, reached $1 billion in its managed
credit card receivables, and surpassed the one million credit card accounts mark.

Business Strategy

Our business strategy emphasizes the following key components:

Continue to open new destination retail stores. We have grown our destination retail store base from
four stores in 1998 to ten in 2004. We currently plan to open four large-format destination retail stores in
2005, all of which have been announced. Through our extensive customer database and analysis of
historical sales data generated by our direct business, we are able to identify geographic areas with a high
concentration of customers that represent potential new markets for our destination retail stores. We
believe that there are many additional markets throughout the United States that could potentially support
one of our large-format destination retail stores. Additionally, we believe that smaller-format destination
retail stores could provide further opportunities for future expansion. We continue to actively seek
additional locations to open new destination retail stores.

Expand our direct business. We plan to expand our direct business through several initiatives
regarding existing and new customers. We will seek to increase the amount each customer spends on our
merchandise through the continued introduction of new catalog titles and the development and
introduction of new products. We have begun to take advantage of web-based technologies such as
targeted promotional e-mails, on-line shopping engines and Internet aÇliate programs to increase sales. We
also plan to improve our customer relationship management system which we expect will allow us to better
manage our customer relationships and more eÅectively tailor our marketing programs.

Improve our operating eÇciencies and store productivity. As we continue to grow our business
through opening new destination retail stores and building our direct business, we believe that we will
improve our operating eÇciencies by optimizing and investing in our management information systems, or
MIS, distribution and logistics capabilities. In addition, we intend to improve destination retail store
productivity by adjusting our in-store staÇng levels and reÑning our destination retail store layout
strategies.
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Expand the reach of our brand and target market through complementary opportunities. We focus
on increasing consumer awareness of our company and maintaining and developing our outdoor lifestyle
image by using consistent branding in all of our distribution channels. We also will seek to continue to
eÅectively broaden the application of our brand through opportunistic acquisitions of complementary
businesses, as well as through the internal development of relevant businesses and product categories. We
will continue to leverage our brand recognition in selected areas through corporate relationships and
alliances. We intend to increase the penetration of our Cabela's Club VISA credit card among our
customer base through low cost target marketing and solicitations at our destination retail stores, which we
believe, based upon historical results, will reinforce our customer loyalty and retention and thereby increase
revenue and net income.

Direct Business

Our direct business uses catalogs and the Internet as marketing tools to generate sales orders via the
telephone, the Internet and the mail. Our direct business generated $970.6 million in revenue in Ñscal
2004, representing approximately 66% of our total revenue from our direct and retail businesses for Ñscal
2004. See Note 20 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements and our ""Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations'' for additional Ñnancial information regarding
our direct business.

We have been marketing our products through our print catalog distributions to our customers and
potential customers for over 40 years. We believe that our catalog distributions have been one of the
primary drivers of the growth of our goodwill and brand name recognition and serve as an important
marketing tool for our destination retail stores. In Ñscal 2004, we mailed more than 120 million catalogs
with 76 separate titles to all 50 states and to more than 120 countries. Our general catalogs range from
300 to 1,480 pages and our specialty catalogs range from 52 to 240 pages. Our catalog layouts are designed
to increase sales by presenting products in speciÑc categories and sections.

Our specialty catalogs oÅer products focused on one outdoor activity, such as Öy Ñshing, archery or
waterfowl. We carefully analyze our historical sales data and introduce targeted specialty catalogs featuring
product lines that have historically generated suÇcient customer interest. For example, as a result of the
demand for women's apparel and footwear in our general catalogs, we have designed new specialty catalogs
featuring a wide selection of merchandise in that category. We introduced six new specialty catalogs in
2004 that focused on outdoor-themed furniture and home accessories as well as women's clothing and
children's outdoor clothing.

We use the customer database generated by our direct business to ensure that customers receive
catalogs matching their merchandise preferences, identify new customers and cross-sell merchandise to
existing customers.

We also market our products through our website which has a number of features, including product
information and ordering capabilities and general information on the outdoor lifestyle. This cost-eÅective
medium is designed to oÅer a convenient, highly visual, user-friendly and secure online shopping option for
new and existing customers. Our website was in the top 1% of sites in the Hitwise Incorporated online
measurement sport & Ñtness category based on market share of visits.

Our website oÅers all of the merchandise included in our catalogs and contains more extensive
product descriptions and photographs, as well as additional sizes and colors of selected merchandise. In
addition to the ability to order the same products available in our catalogs (including the use of the
catalog product identiÑcation number for quick ordering), our website gives customers the ability to
purchase gift certiÑcates, research outdoor activities and choose from other services we provide. Our
website also oÅers discontinued merchandise through a Bargain Cave link which is advertised in our
catalogs.

Our website is our most cost-eÅective means of oÅering certain specialized or hard-to-Ñnd
merchandise that may not be available through our catalogs or destination retail stores. This allows us to
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oÅer rare and highly specialized merchandise to our customers which enhances our reputation as a leading
authority in the outdoor recreation market. We have agreements to drop-ship specialized merchandise
directly from our vendors to our customers, enabling us to provide unusual, hard-to-ship and hard-to-
inventory items, including furniture and perishables, to our customers without having to physically
maintain an inventory of these items at our distribution centers.

We have been aggressively expanding our e-mail mailing lists as a way to provide inexpensive
communication with customers and as a means to promote our products and our brand. Our promotional
e-mails are customized to meet customers' shopping preferences and merchandise tastes. We believe that
with the growing number of households with Internet and e-mail access, we can leverage our website to
generate more revenue and connect more frequently with new and existing customers.

Many of our customers read and browse our catalogs, but order products through our website. Based
on our customer surveys, we believe that approximately 95% of our customers wish to continue to receive
catalogs even though they purchase merchandise and services through our website. Accordingly, we remain
committed to marketing our products through our catalog distributions and view our catalogs and the
Internet as a uniÑed selling and marketing tool.

We have acquired selected other businesses that comprise a part of our direct business which we
believe are an extension of our core competencies. These businesses include Dunn's, which oÅers hunting-
dog equipment and high-end hunting accessories, Van Dyke's Restorers, which oÅers home restoration
products, Van Dyke's Taxidermy, which oÅers taxidermy supplies, Wild Wings, which oÅers wildlife prints
and other collectibles and the Ducks Unlimited catalog, which oÅers waterfowl products. In 1996, we
acquired the assets of the Gander Mountain direct business and integrated them into our business.

Retail Business

We currently operate ten destination retail stores in eight states. Our retail operations generated
$499.1 million in revenue in Ñscal 2004 representing 34% of our total revenues from our direct and retail
businesses for Ñscal 2004. See Note 20 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements and our ""Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations'' for additional Ñnancial
information regarding our retail business.

Building on our success in the direct business, we opened our Ñrst destination retail store in Kearney,
Nebraska in 1987. In 1991, we opened a second destination retail store in Sidney, Nebraska. Since 1998,
we expanded our retail business by opening eight additional destination retail stores in seven states. For
Ñscal 2004, our destination retail stores which were open as of January 4, 2004 generated average net sales
per gross square foot of $398 as compared to $386 per gross square foot in Ñscal 2003.

Store Format and Atmosphere. We have developed a destination retail store concept that is designed
to appeal to the entire family and draw customers from a broad geographic and demographic range. Our
destination retail stores range in size from 35,000 to 250,000 square feet and our large-format destination
retail stores are 150,000 square feet or larger. These destination retail stores are similar in format,
merchandise oÅered and ambiance, despite variations in their size. The sites for our destination retail
stores are generally located in close proximity to major traÇc arteries and in regions of the country that
have large concentrations of existing customers of our direct business. Our large-format destination retail
stores have been recognized in some states as one of the top tourist attractions, often attracting the
construction and development of hotels, restaurants and other retail establishments in areas adjacent to
these stores. The large size of our destination retail stores allows us to oÅer a broad selection of products,
helps to provide us with Öexibility to respond to seasonal needs and merchandise trends and enables us to
manage the Öow of customer traÇc. We attempt to adjust our staÇng levels to meet customer traÇc
Öows.

We design our destination retail stores to reinforce our outdoor lifestyle image and to create an
enjoyable, friendly and interactive shopping experience for both casual customers and outdoor enthusiasts.
These stores are designed to communicate an outdoor lifestyle environment characterized by the outdoor
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feel of our interior lighting, wood or tile Öooring, cedar wood beams, open ceilings, neutral tone decor and
lodge type atmosphere. We also present our merchandise in a customer friendly fashion with engaging end-
cap displays and eÅective product category adjacencies and have begun the process of implementing a new
space planning software system for our destination retail stores which we believe will help us better utilize
the space in our destination retail stores.

In addition, our large-format destination retail stores are designed to simulate an outdoor lifestyle
environment by including numerous amenities and interactive areas so that customers can test our products
before making a purchase decision. These attributes diÅerentiate our destination retail stores making them
appeal to entire families and we believe increase the average shopping time customers spend in our stores.
The design, durability and style of our destination retail stores also allow us to keep our remodeling and
upkeep costs low.

New Store Site Selection. We have identiÑed locations that may be suitable for new destination retail
stores as part of our retail expansion strategy. With only ten destination retail stores in operation at the
present time, we believe opening additional destination retail stores provides a signiÑcant growth
opportunity. Through our extensive customer database generated by our direct business and additional
demographic and competitive research, we can identify geographic areas with a high concentration of
customers that represent potential new markets for our destination retail stores. We believe that there are
many additional markets throughout the United States that could potentially support one of our large-
format destination retail stores. We also believe that our customer database gives us a competitive
advantage in tailoring product oÅerings in each of our destination retail stores to reÖect our customers'
regional preferences. Additionally, we believe that smaller-format destination retail stores could provide
further opportunities for future retail expansion.

In August 2004, we opened a new 176,000 square foot destination retail store in Wheeling, West
Virginia. In 2005, we currently plan on opening a 230,000 square foot destination retail store in Ft. Worth,
Texas, a 185,000 square foot destination retail store in Buda, Texas, a 150,000 square foot destination
retail store in Lehi, Utah, and a 185,000 square foot destination retail store in Rogers, Minnesota. We also
continue to actively seek additional locations to open new destination retail stores.

Store Locations and Ownership. We own all of our destination retail stores. However, in connection
with some of the economic development packages received from state or local governments where our
stores are located, we have entered into agreements granting ownership of the taxidermy, diorama or other
portions of our stores to these state and local governments. See Item 2 ""Properties'' for a listing of
locations of our stores. We have evaluated the Securities and Exchange Commission's (SEC) recently
issued clariÑcation of lease accounting and we believe that we have accounted for our limited number of
lease agreements appropriately.

Construction and Store Development. Currently, the average initial net investment to construct a
large-format destination retail store ranges from approximately $40 million to $80 million depending on the
size of the store, the location and the amount of public improvements necessary. This includes the costs of
real estate, site work, public improvements such as utilities and roads, buildings, Ñxtures (including
taxidermy) and inventory. As we continue to open new destination retail stores, we believe that the layout
for our future destination retail stores will reÖect improvements in our construction processes, materials
and Ñxtures, merchandise layout and store design. These improvements may further enhance the appeal of
our destination retail stores to our customers and lower our overall costs. Historically, in connection with
the acquisition of land for our new stores, we have attempted to acquire and develop additional land for
use by complementary businesses, such as hotels and restaurants, which are adjacent to our destination
retail stores. We intend to continue to acquire, develop and sell additional land adjacent to some of our
future destination retail stores. We have previously aimed to obtain tailored economic development
arrangements from local and state governments where our destination retail stores are located and we
expect to obtain similar arrangements in connection with the construction of future destination retail
stores.
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Products and Merchandising

We oÅer our customers a comprehensive selection of high quality, competitively priced, national and
regional brand products, including our own Cabela's brand. Our product oÅering includes hunting, Ñshing,
marine and camping merchandise, casual and outdoor apparel and footwear, optics, vehicle accessories,
gifts and home furnishings with an outdoor theme.

Our merchandise assortment ranges from products at entry-level price points to premium-priced high-
end items and we generally price our products consistently across our direct and retail businesses. Our
destination retail stores generally oÅer the same merchandise available through our direct business
augmented by a selection of seasonal specialty items and gifts appropriate for the store. We also tailor the
merchandise selection in our destination retail stores to meet the regional tastes and preferences of our
customers.

As of Ñscal year end 2004, we had 43 product categories, which we have combined into Ñve general
product categories that are summarized below. The following chart sets forth the percentage of revenues
contributed by each of the Ñve product categories for our direct and retail businesses and in total in Ñscal
years 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Direct Retail Total

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Hunting Equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26.8% 27.5% 28.5% 32.2% 31.2% 30.1% 28.6% 28.6% 28.9%

Fishing & Marine ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.1% 14.0% 13.9% 16.2% 16.4% 18.1% 14.1% 14.8% 15.0%

Camping Equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.0% 14.8% 14.5% 11.1% 11.0% 10.8% 13.7% 13.7% 13.5%

Clothing & Footwear ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40.1% 39.1% 38.5% 34.2% 35.2% 34.7% 38.1% 37.9% 37.6%

Gifts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.0% 4.6% 4.6% 6.3% 6.2% 6.3% 5.5% 5.0% 5.0%

Hunting equipment. We provide equipment, accessories and consumable supplies for almost every
type of hunting and sport shooting. Our hunting products are supported by services including gun bore
sighting and scope mounting and archery technicians for bow tuning to service the complete needs of our
customer.

Fishing and marine equipment. We provide products for fresh water Ñshing, Öy-Ñshing, salt water
Ñshing and ice-Ñshing. We carry in excess of 20,000 types of lures and a broad selection of rods, reels and
combos. In addition, our Ñshing and marine equipment oÅering features a wide selection of electronics,
boats and accessories, canoes, kayaks and other Öoatation accessories.

Camping equipment. We primarily focus on outdoor gear for the outdoor enthusiast, augmented with
gear for family camping and the weekend hiker. In addition, we include automobile and ATV accessories
in this general category.

Clothing and footwear. Our clothing and footwear merchandise includes both technical gear and
lifestyle apparel and footwear for the active outdoor enthusiast as well as apparel and footwear for the
casual customer.

Gifts and home furnishings. Our gifts and home furnishings merchandise includes gifts, games, food
assortments, books, jewelry and home furnishings with an outdoor theme.

Private Label Products. In addition to national brands, we oÅer our exclusive Cabela's private label
merchandise. We have a signiÑcant penetration of private label merchandise in casual apparel and footwear
as well as in selected hard goods categories such as camping, Ñshing and optics. Where possible, we seek
to protect our private label products by applying for trademark or patent protection for these products. Our
private label products typically generate higher gross proÑt margins compared to our branded products. In
Ñscal 2004, our private label merchandise accounted for approximately one-third of our merchandise
revenues. By attempting to have an appropriate mix of branded and private label merchandise, we strive to
meet the expectations and needs of our customers.
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We have in-house teams that are responsible for the design and development of all private label
merchandise. This allows us to exercise signiÑcant control over the merchandise development process and
the quality of our private label products. The design and development of our products is based on our
understanding of our customers' styles and preferences as well as their price expectations. We have our
own quality assurance department that tests the products after the products have been manufactured by
third party vendors to help ensure that the merchandise meets our speciÑcations.

We intend to continue to design and develop a variety of new private label products to increase our
revenues, enhance our margins, and expand the recognition of the Cabela's brand. In addition, these
private label products are important to our eÅorts to broaden our customer base and communicate our
value position. In certain categories where there is not a dominant national brand, we believe that our
Cabela's private label products have stronger brand recognition than other branded products.

Merchandising and Sourcing. Our merchandising team is comprised of approximately 76 people with
an average of eight years of experience working for us. The members of this team are responsible for
selecting our products and negotiating the costs of our merchandise. We also have a retail merchandising
team that is responsible for the regional and local merchandise needs of each destination retail store. In
addition, our merchants provide product quality assurance for our retail and direct businesses. The
merchandising teams use historical revenue data from our direct and retail businesses, feedback from our
retail store managers and industry trends to determine which products to purchase. Our merchants are
outdoor enthusiasts who use our products in the Ñeld to gain a better understanding of our customers'
needs as well as the functionality and overall performance of the products. We believe that we are well
known to our customers for providing the widest product oÅering to the outdoor recreation market and we
continue to look at category expansion to further serve our customers. We have also expanded our product
oÅering through the acquisition of related businesses.

We have developed strong vendor relationships over the past 43 years. These relationships generally
provide us with greater access to technological innovations and new products. We source our merchandise
from approximately 4,000 suppliers in over 99 countries. In Ñscal 2004, over half of our merchandise was
sourced from locations in foreign countries, with approximately 35.3% of our merchandising being sourced
from China, Taiwan and Japan. During Ñscal 2004, no single vendor represented greater than 10% of total
purchases. In order to exert greater control over product quality, we test products prior to the time the
product is shipped to us.

Inventory Control. Our inventory control team is comprised of approximately 104 people with an
average of seven years of experience working for us. These individuals are responsible for initial inventory
planning and allocation decisions. These decisions are made by assessing historical revenue, performance of
our direct and retail businesses, and anticipated economic outlook. Our inventory control group is equipped
with distribution center and inventory management systems and is able to eÅectively assess revenue trends,
customer demand and current inventory positions and allocate items appropriately. We track revenue at
the SKU level on a daily basis and adjust our reorder and markdown strategies accordingly. We are also
able to utilize our popular Bargain Cave as a means to sell discontinued and returned merchandise. Our
merchandise and inventory control teams work together to make decisions regarding appropriate purchasing
levels and the proper Öow of merchandise. We believe this joint eÅort helps us to maximize the
eÅectiveness of our merchandising team and eÅectively manage our inventory levels.

Marketing

Our marketing strategy focuses on using our multi-channel retail model to build the strength and
recognition of our brand by communicating our wide and distinctive oÅering of quality products to our
customers and potential customers in a cost eÅective manner. Our largest marketing eÅort consists of
distributing over 120 million catalogs annually in order to attract customers to our direct and retail
businesses. We have also established our website to market our products to customers and potential
customers who shop via the Internet. We use both our catalogs and our website to cross-market our
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destination retail stores. Our marketing strategy is designed to convey our outdoor lifestyle image, enhance
our brand and emphasize our position in our target markets.

In addition to the use of our catalogs and our website, we also use a combination of promotional
events, traditional advertising and media programs as marketing tools.

Competition

We compete in a number of large and highly fragmented and intensely competitive markets, including
the outdoor recreation and casual apparel and footwear markets. The outdoor recreation market is
comprised of several categories including hunting, Ñshing and wildlife watching, and we believe it crosses
over a wide range of geographic and demographic segments.

We compete directly or indirectly with other broad-line merchants, large-format sporting goods stores
and chains, mass merchandisers, warehouse clubs, discount stores and department stores, small specialty
retailers and catalog and Internet-based retailers.

Many of our competitors have a larger number of stores and some of them have greater market
presence, name recognition, and Ñnancial, distribution, marketing and other resources, than we have. We
believe that we compete eÅectively with our competitors on the basis of our wide and distinctive
merchandise selection and the superior customer service associated with the Cabela's brand, as well as our
commitment to understanding and providing merchandise that is relevant to our targeted customer base.
We cater to the outdoor enthusiast and the casual customer, and believe we have an appealing store
environment. We also believe that our multi-channel retail model enhances our ability to compete by
allowing our customers to choose the most convenient sales channel. This model also allows us to reach a
broader audience in existing and new markets and to continue to build on our nationally recognized
Cabela's brand.

Customer Service

Since our founding in 1961, we have been deeply committed to serving our customers by selling high
quality products through sales associates that deliver excellent customer service and in-depth product
knowledge. We strive to provide superior customer service at the time of sale and after the sale through
our 100 percent money-back guarantee. Our customers can always access well-trained, knowledgeable
associates to answer their product use and merchandise selection questions. We believe that our ability to
establish and maintain long-term relationships with our customers and encourage repeat visits and
purchases is due, in part, to the strength of our customer support and service operations.

Financial Services Business

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, World's Foremost Bank, we issue and manage the Cabela's
Club VISA card and related customer loyalty rewards program. We believe the Cabela's Club VISA card
loyalty rewards program is an eÅective vehicle for strengthening our relationships with our customers,
enhancing our brand name and increasing our merchandise revenues. The primary purpose of our Ñnancial
services business is to provide our merchandise customers with a rewards program that will enhance
revenues, proÑtability and customer loyalty in our direct and retail businesses.

Our bank subsidiary is an FDIC-insured, special purpose, Nebraska state-chartered bank. Our bank's
charter is limited to issuing credit cards and selling brokered certiÑcates of deposit of $100,000 or more
and it does not accept demand deposits or make non-credit card loans. During Ñscal 2004, we had an
average of 618,951 active accounts with an average month-end balance of $1,436. See Note 20 to our
consolidated Ñnancial statements and our ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations'' for Ñnancial information regarding our Ñnancial services business.

The Cabela's Club VISA card loyalty program is a rewards based credit card program, which we
believe has increased brand loyalty among our customers. Our rewards program is a simple loyalty program
that allows customers to earn points whenever and wherever they use their credit card and then redeem
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earned points for products and services through our direct business or at our destination retail stores. The
rewards points are easy to redeem and never expire as long as the account is in good standing. The
rewards program encourages our customers to buy more merchandise at a discount when they redeem their
accumulated points. Our rewards program is integrated into our store point of sale system which adds to
the convenience of the rewards program as our employees can inform customers of their number of
accumulated points when making purchases at our stores. In Ñscal 2004, approximately 17.7% of our total
merchandise sales in our direct and retail businesses were made to customers who used their Cabela's
Club VISA credit card, compared to 17.1% in Ñscal 2003.

Financial Services Marketing. We adhere to a low cost, eÇcient and tailored credit card marketing
program that leverages the Cabela's brand name. We market the Cabela's Club VISA card through a
number of channels, including inbound telemarketing, retail locations, catalogs and the Internet. Customer
service representatives at our customer care centers oÅer the Cabela's Club card to qualifying customers.
The Cabela's Club card is marketed throughout our catalogs and Cabela's Club card oÅers are inserted in
purchases when shipped to a customer. The Cabela's Club card is also oÅered at our destination retail
stores through an application similar to the oÅer inserted with customer purchases. We oÅer customers
who apply for a Cabela's Club card while visiting one of our destination retail stores a voucher for use on
merchandise purchased at the store on the same day the customer applies for the Cabela's Club card.

Underwriting and Credit Criteria. We attempt to underwrite high quality credit customers and have
historically maintained attractive credit statistics versus industry averages. We adhere to strict credit
policies and target consistent proÑtability in our Ñnancial services business. Fair Isaac & Company, or
FICO, scores are a widely-used tool for assessing a person's credit rating. As of the end of Ñscal 2004, our
cardholders had a median FICO score of 774, which is well above industry averages. We had net charge-
oÅs as a percent of total outstanding balances of approximately 2.2% in 2004, compared to an industry
average of 5.44% in 2004, which we believe is due to our credit and operating practices. In addition, our
rewards program has helped reduce customer attrition in our direct and retail businesses, as demonstrated
by the fact that our customers who use a Cabela's Club card are more likely to make another purchase
from us over the subsequent twelve months and spend 15% to 20% more than non-Cabela's Club card
customers.

The table below illustrates the historically high credit quality of our managed credit card portfolio,
presenting additional data on our credit card portfolio's performance in 2004 compared with industry
averages.

As a Percentage of Managed Receivables The Bank Industry(1)

Delinquencies ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.71% 4.22%

Gross charge-oÅs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.60% 6.22%

Net charge-oÅsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.21% 5.44%

(1) Source: 2004 data from The Nilson Report, February 2005; Industry includes all VISA and
MasterCard accounts.

Financial Services Customer Service. Each inbound call to our bank subsidiary's customer service
department is answered by the interactive voice response, or IVR, available 24 hours per day. Cardholders
choose from a menu and receive detailed information including the following: account balance, available
credit limit, last payment amount, last payment receipt date, payment due amount, payment due date and
point total. Customer service representatives will handle all credit-related requests not answered by the
IVR. They are also responsible for referring cardholders to credit analysts to underwrite Gold Card
upgrades and credit line increases that do not meet the customer service standard guidelines. Cardholders
can pay their bill via the mail, the telephone or the Internet.

Collection and Recoveries. We employ a ""cradle to grave'' collection approach whereby a collector
will work all delinquency categories. We classify an account as delinquent when the minimum payment
due on the account is not received by the payment date speciÑed by the statement cycle. Accounts are
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placed in collection status with an internal or third party collector at various stages of delinquency. All
delinquent accounts enter collections no later than 15 days delinquent.

We have outsourced a small percentage of pre-charge-oÅ, delinquent accounts to third party collection
agencies. The account's reward score determines whether or not it will be outsourced for collection and
evaluates the predictability of collecting the delinquent balance.

We outsource the majority of post charged-oÅ collections to third party collection agencies. If not
initially resolved, post charged-oÅ accounts will then be placed with secondary and tertiary collection
agencies until resolution. We currently employ one collector who works a limited number of post charged-
oÅ accounts and manages the various collection agency relationships.

Third Party Card Programs. In 2004, our bank subsidiary entered into agreements to issue new
VISA credit accounts for fans of International Speedway Corp. and for customers of Woodworker's Supply
Inc., a retailer of tools for woodworking enthusiasts. These third party programs represented only 0.3% of
the total net purchases made on our co-branded VISA cards issued by the bank. In addition, they
represented $5.2 million of credit card loans receivable, as currently our securitization program does not
accept these co-branded third party receivables. We intend to continue to explore selected similar co-
branding opportunities as additional vehicles for growth in our Ñnancial services business.

Distribution and FulÑllment

We operate four distribution centers located in Sidney, Nebraska, Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin,
Mitchell, South Dakota and Wheeling, West Virginia. These distribution centers comprise nearly
2,502,000 square feet of warehouse space which house all of our inventories. We ship merchandise to our
direct customers via UPS and the United States Postal Service. We use common carriers and typically
deliver inventory two to three times per week to our destination retail stores. Our primary returns
processing facility is located in Oshkosh, Nebraska.

Management Information Systems

Our management information and operational systems manage our direct, retail and Ñnancial services
businesses. These systems are designed to process customer orders, track customer data and demographics,
order, monitor and maintain suÇcient amounts of inventory, facilitate vendor transactions, and provide
Ñnancial reporting. We continually evaluate, modify and update our information technology systems
supporting the product pipeline, including design, sourcing, merchandise planning, forecasting and purchase
order, inventory, distribution, transportation and price management. We are planning modiÑcations to our
technology that will involve updating or replacing our systems with successor systems during the course of
several years, including changes to the sortation systems at our distribution centers, updating of the space
planning and labor scheduling software for our destination retail stores and improvements to our customer
relationship management system.

Employees

As of March 5, 2005, we employed approximately 7,830 employees, approximately 4,675 of whom
were employed full time. We use part-time and temporary workers to supplement our labor force at peak
times during our third and fourth quarters. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or are
parties to a collective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider
our relationship with our employees to be good.

Seasonality

We experience seasonal Öuctuations in our net revenue and operating results. Due to buying patterns
around the holidays and the opening of hunting seasons, our merchandise revenues are traditionally are
higher in the third and fourth Ñscal quarters than in the Ñrst and second Ñscal quarters, and we typically
earn a disproportionate share of our operating income in the third and fourth Ñscal quarters. See Item 7
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""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Ì Quarterly
Results of Operations and Seasonal InÖuences''.

Government Regulation

Regulation of our Bank Subsidiary. Our wholly-owned bank subsidiary is a Nebraska state chartered
bank with deposits insured by the Bank Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or
the FDIC. Our bank subsidiary is subject to comprehensive regulation and periodic examination by the
Nebraska Department of Banking and Finance, or NDBF, and the FDIC. We are also registered as a bank
holding company with the NDBF and as such are subject to periodic examination by the NDBF.

Our bank subsidiary does not qualify as a ""bank'' under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as
amended, or the BHCA, because it is in compliance with a credit card bank exemption from the BHCA.
If it failed to meet the credit card bank exemption criteria, its status as an insured depository institution
would make us subject to the provisions of the BHCA, including restrictions as to the types of business
activities in which a bank holding company and its aÇliates may engage. We could be required to either
divest our bank subsidiary or divest or cease any activities not permissible for a bank holding company and
its aÇliates, including our direct and retail businesses. While the consequences of being subject to
regulation under the BHCA would be severe, we believe that the risk of being subject to the BHCA is
minimal as a result of the precautions we have taken in structuring our business.

There are various federal and Nebraska law regulations relating to minimum regulatory capital
requirements and requirements concerning the payment of dividends from net proÑts or surplus, restrictions
governing transactions between an insured depository institution and its aÇliates, and general federal and
Nebraska regulatory oversight to prevent unsafe or unsound practices. At the end of 2004, our bank
subsidiary met the requirements for a ""well capitalized'' institution, the highest of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation Improvement Act's (FDICIA) Ñve capital ratio levels. A ""well capitalized''
classiÑcation should not necessarily be viewed as describing the condition or future prospects of a
depository institution, including our bank subsidiary.

FDICIA also requires the FDIC to implement a system of risk-based premiums for deposit insurance
pursuant to which the premiums paid by a depository institution will be based on the probability that the
FDIC will incur a loss in respect of that institution. The FDIC has since adopted a system that imposes
insurance premiums based upon a matrix that takes into account an institution's capital level and
supervisory rating.

Subject to certain limitations, federal bank agencies may also require banking organizations such as
our bank subsidiary to hold regulatory capital against the full risk-weighted amount of its retained
securitization interests. We understand that these federal bank agencies continue to analyze interests in
securitization transactions under their rules to determine the appropriate capital treatment. Any such
determination could require our bank subsidiary to hold signiÑcantly higher levels of regulatory capital
against such interests.

The activities of our bank subsidiary as a consumer lender also are subject to regulation under the
various federal laws, including the Truth-in-Lending Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair
Credit Reporting Act, the USA Patriot Act, the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003, the
Community Reinvestment Act, the Service members' Civil Relief Act and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
(GLB), as well as various state laws. The Truth-in-Lending Act requires disclosure of the ""Ñnance
charge'' and the ""annual percentage rate'' and certain costs and terms of credit. The Equal Credit
Opportunity Act prohibits discrimination against an applicant for credit because of age, sex, marital status,
religion, race, color, national origin or receipt of public assistance. The Fair Credit Reporting Act
establishes procedures for correcting mistakes in a person's credit record and generally requires that the
records be kept conÑdential. The USA Patriot Act, among other things, regulates money laundering and
prohibits structuring Ñnancial transactions to evade reporting requirements. The Community Reinvestment
Act requires federal agencies to encourage depository Ñnancial institutions to help meet the credit needs of
their communities. The Service members' Civil Relief Act provides for temporary suspension of legal
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proceedings and Ñnancial transactions that may adversely aÅect the civil rights of service members during
military service. We spend signiÑcant amounts of time ensuring we are in compliance with these laws and
work with our service providers to ensure that actions they take in connection with services they perform
for us are in compliance with these laws. Depending on the underlying issue and applicable law, regulators
are often authorized to impose penalties for violations of these statutes and, in some cases, to order our
bank subsidiary to compensate injured borrowers. Borrowers may also have a private right of action to
bring actions for some violations. Federal bankruptcy and state debtor relief and collection laws also aÅect
the ability of our bank subsidiary to collect outstanding balances owed by borrowers. The GLB Act
requires our bank subsidiary to disclose its privacy policy to customers and consumers, and requires that
such customers and consumers be given a choice (through an opt-out notice) to forbid the sharing of non-
public personal information about them with non-aÇliated third persons. We have a written Privacy Notice
posted on our website which is delivered to each of our customers when the customer relationships begin,
and annually thereafter, in compliance with the GLB Act.

Certain acquisitions of our capital stock or our bank subsidiary's capital stock may be subject to
regulatory approval or notice under federal or Nebraska law. Investors are responsible for ensuring that
they do not, directly or indirectly, acquire shares of our capital stock in excess of the amount which can be
acquired without regulatory approval.

Taxation Applicable to Us. We pay applicable corporate income, franchise and other taxes, to states
in which our destination retail stores are physically located. Upon entering a new state, we apply for a
private letter ruling from the state's revenue department stating which types of taxes our direct and retail
businesses will be required to collect and pay in such state, and we accrue and remit the applicable taxes
based upon the private letter ruling. As we open more destination retail stores, we will be subject to tax in
an increasing number of state and local taxing jurisdictions. Although we believe we have properly accrued
for these taxes based on our current interpretation of the tax code and prior private letter rulings, state
taxing authorities may challenge our interpretation, attempt to revoke their private letter rulings or amend
their tax laws. If state taxing authorities are successful, additional taxes, interest and related penalties may
be assessed. See ""Factors AÅecting Future Results Ì Our use tax collection policy for our direct business
may expose us to the risk that we may be assessed for unpaid use taxes which would harm our operating
results and cash Öows'' and ""Ì Our destination retail store expansion strategy may result in our direct
business establishing nexus with additional states which may cause our direct business to pay additional
income taxes and require us to collect use taxes from our direct customers which would have an adverse
eÅect on the proÑtability and cash Öows of our direct business.''

Other Regulations Applicable to Us. We must comply with federal, state and local regulations,
including the federal Brady Handgun Violence Prevention Act, which require us, as a federal Ñrearms
licensee, to perform a pre-sale background check of purchasers of hunting riÖes and other Ñrearms.

We are also subject to a variety of state laws and regulations relating to, among other things,
advertising, pricing, and product safety/restrictions. Some of these laws prohibit or limit the sale, in certain
states and locations, of certain items we oÅer such as black powder Ñrearms, ammunition, bows, knives
and similar products. State and local government regulation of hunting can also aÅect our business.

We are subject to certain federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the
environment and human health and safety. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with the
terms of environmental laws and that we have no liabilities under such laws that we expect to have a
material adverse eÅect on our business, results of operations or Ñnancial condition.

Our direct business is subject to the Merchandise Mail Order Rule and related regulations
promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, which aÅect our catalog mail order operations.
FTC regulations, in general, govern the solicitation of orders, the information provided to prospective
customers, and the timeliness of shipments and refunds. In addition, the FTC has established guidelines
for advertising and labeling many of the products we sell.
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Intellectual Property

Cabela's», Cabela's Club», Cabelas.com», World's Foremost OutÑtter», World's Foremost Bank»,
Bargain Cave», Dunn's», Van Dyke's», Wild Wings» and Herters» are among our registered service marks
or trademarks with the United States Patent and Trademark OÇce. We have numerous pending
applications for trademarks. In addition, we own several other registered and unregistered trademarks and
service marks involving advertising slogans and other names and phrases used in our business. We own
several patents associated with various products. We also own trade secrets, domain names and copyrights,
which have been registered for each of our catalogs.

We believe that our trademarks are valid and valuable and intend to maintain our trademarks and any
related registrations. We do not know of any pending claims of infringement or other challenges to our
right to use our marks in the United States or elsewhere. We have no franchises or other concessions
which are material to our operations.

Available Information

Our website address is www.cabelas.com. There we make available, free of charge, our annual report
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to
those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically Ñle such material with or furnish it
to the SEC. Our SEC reports can be accessed through the investor relations section of our website. The
information on our website, whether currently posted or in the future, is not part of this or any other report
we Ñle with or furnish to the SEC.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In addition to our destination retail stores listed below, we also operate a corporate headquarters,
administrative oÇces, four distribution centers, a return center, Ñve customer care centers and a taxidermy
manufacturing facility. The following table provides information regarding the general location, use and
approximate size of our non-retail principal properties:

Total Segment That
Property Location Square Feet Uses Property

Corporate Headquarters and Customer
Care Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Sidney, NE 294,000 Other, Retail and Direct

Administrative OÇcesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Sidney, NE 28,000 Other
Distribution Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Sidney, NE 752,000 Other
Distribution Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Prairie du Chien, WI 1,071,000 Other
Distribution Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Mitchell, SD 84,000 Other
Merchandise Return Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Oshkosh, NE 52,000 Other
Customer Care Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ North Platte, NE 12,000 Direct
Administrative OÇces and Customer

Care Center (including retail store) ÏÏÏ Kearney, NE 186,000 Direct and Retail
Customer Care Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Grand Island, 12,000 Direct

NE(1)
Customer Care Center and

Administrative OÇcesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Lincoln, NE 76,000 Direct, Financial
Services and Other

Manufacturing and Administrative OÇces Woonsocket, SD 145,000 Direct
Distribution Center ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Wheeling, WV(1) 595,000 Other

(1) We own all of these properties except the Grand Island, Nebraska customer care center and
Wheeling, West Virginia distribution center, which we lease. We have evaluated the SEC's recent
clariÑcation of lease accounting and we believe that we have accounted for our limited number of
lease agreements appropriately.
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We own all of our destination retail stores. However, in connection with some of the economic
development packages received from state or local governments where our stores are located, we have
entered into agreements granting ownership of the taxidermy, diorama, or other portions of our stores to
these state and local governments. The following table shows the location, opening date, and total square
footage of our destination retail stores used in our retail segment:

Location Opening Date Total Sq. Ft.

Kearney, NE ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ October, 1987 35,000

Sidney, NEÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ July, 1991 89,000

Owatonna, MN ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ March, 1998 159,000

Prairie Du Chien, WI ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ September, 1998 53,000

East Grand Forks, MNÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ September, 1999 59,000

Dundee, MI ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ March, 2000 228,000

Mitchell, SD ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ August, 2000 84,000

Kansas City, KS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ August, 2002 186,000

Hamburg, PAÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ September, 2003 247,000

Wheeling, WV ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ August, 2004 176,000

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are party to certain lawsuits in the ordinary course of our business. The subject matter of these
proceedings primarily include commercial disputes, employment issues and product liability lawsuits,
including the product liability lawsuits regarding tree stands described on page 59. We do not believe that
the ultimate dispositions of these proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse
eÅect on our consolidated Ñnancial position, results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of Ñscal 2004.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

We have common stock and non-voting common stock. Our common stock began trading on June 25,
2004 on the NYSE under the symbol ""CAB''. Prior to that date, there was no public market for our
common stock. Our non-voting common stock is not listed on any exchange and not traded over the
counter.

On January 1, 2005, the closing price of our common stock on the NYSE was $22.74 per share. As
of March 15, 2005, there were 459 holders of record of our common stock and 6 holders of record of our
non-voting common stock. This does not include persons who hold our common stock in nominee or
""street name'' accounts through brokers or banks.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our
common stock as reported on the NYSE:

Fiscal 2004 High Low

Second Quarter (beginning June 25, 2004) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $28.82 $25.60

Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $30.27 $23.25

Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $26.42 $20.96
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Use of Proceeds

On June 30, 2004, we closed the initial public oÅering of 7,812,500 shares of our common stock at a
price of $20 per share in a Ñrm commitment underwritten oÅering. In connection with the oÅering, certain
of our stockholders (the ""Selling Stockholders'') sold 1,562,500 of the 7,812,500 shares oÅered and
granted an option to the underwriters to purchase up to an additional 1,171,875 shares at a price of
$20 per share to cover over-allotments, which option was exercised in full by the underwriters and also
closed on June 30, 2004. Of the total oÅering, we sold 6,250,000 shares, raising net proceeds of
$114.2 million. We did not receive any of the proceeds ($54.7 million before underwriting discounts and
commissions) from any shares of our common stock sold by the Selling Stockholders or from the exercise
of the over-allotment option. The oÅering was eÅected pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-113835), which the Securities and Exchange Commission declared eÅective on June 24,
2004. The proceeds were used to pay the outstanding balance of $38.1 million on our line of credit, with
the remainder used for our destination retail store expansion, including the purchase of economic
development bonds. The managing underwriters of our oÅering were Credit Suisse First Boston LLC and
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. The aggregate gross proceeds of the shares oÅered and sold, including the
over-allotment, were $179.7 million. In connection with the oÅering, an aggregate of $12.1 million in
underwriting discounts and commissions was paid to the underwriters by us and the selling stockholders. In
addition, the following table sets forth the other material expenses we incurred in connection with the
oÅering:

SEC registration fee ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 48,000

NASD Ñling feeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23,500

Printing and engraving expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 316,000

Legal fees and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,370,000

Accounting fees and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 935,000

Blue Sky fees and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50,000

Transfer agent and registrar fees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 65,000

Miscellaneous fees and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 535,900

$3,343,400

On November 16, 2004, certain of our stockholders sold 12,000,000 shares of common stock,
including the underwriters over allotment, at a price of $22.50 per share in a Ñrm commitment
underwritten oÅering. We did not receive any proceeds from this sale.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the past Ñscal year, we issued unregistered securities to a limited number of persons, as
described below. None of these transactions involved any underwriters or public oÅerings.

On February 9, 2004, we issued 18,350 shares of common stock to an employee for an aggregate
amount of $182,680 in connection with the exercise of stock options granted under our 1997 Stock Option
Plan. These securities were issued pursuant to an employee beneÑt plan, in a transaction exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 701 of the Securities Act.

On February 10, 2004, we issued 385,056 shares of common stock for an aggregate amount of
$1,116,576 in connection with the early exercise of stock options granted under our 1997 Stock Option
Plan. These securities were issued pursuant to an employee beneÑt plan, in a transaction exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 701 of the Securities Act.

On February 16, 2004, we issued 154,140 shares of common stock to an employee for an aggregate
amount of $868,080 in connection with the exercise of stock options granted under our 1997 Stock Option
Plan. These securities were issued pursuant to an employee beneÑt plan, in a transaction exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 701 of the Securities Act.
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On March 19, 2004, we issued 3,670 shares of common stock for an aggregate of $41,090 in
connection with the exercise of stock options under our 1997 Stock Option Plan. These securities were
issued pursuant to an employee beneÑt plan, in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 701 of the Securities Act.

In March, April and May of 2004, we issued 1,149,424 shares of common stock to employees for an
aggregate amount of $7,284,737.78 in connection with the exercise of stock options granted under our 1997
Stock Option Plan. These securities were issued pursuant to an employee beneÑt plan, in a transaction
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 701 of the
Securities Act.

In May 2004, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 1,313,860 shares of common stock
under our 2004 Stock Plan to employees, non-employee directors and advisors. 550,500 of these options
have an exercise price of $13.34 per share and 763,360 of these options have an exercise price of
$20.00 per share. We received no payment from optionees upon issuance of these options. These securities
were issued pursuant to an employee beneÑt plan, in a transaction exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act in reliance upon Rule 701 of the Securities Act.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, our revolving credit
facility and our senior notes restrict our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders based upon our prior
year's consolidated EBITDA and our consolidated net worth, respectively. See ""Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Ì Liquidity and Capital Resources Ì
Credit Facilities and Other Indebtedness''. We were in compliance with these covenants as of January 1,
2005.

Equity Compensation Plans

The information under the heading ""Executive Compensation Ì Equity Compensation Plan Informa-
tion as of Fiscal Year-End'' in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the selected historical consolidated Ñnancial and other data set forth below in
conjunction with ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations'' and our audited consolidated Ñnancial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in
this report. In the opinion of management, the audited consolidated Ñnancial statements reÖect all
adjustments which are necessary to summarize fairly our Ñnancial position and our results of operations
and cash Öows for the periods presented. We have derived the historical consolidated statement of
operations data for our Ñscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 and the historical consolidated balance sheet data
as of the end of our Ñscal years 2004 and 2003 from our audited consolidated Ñnancial statements included
elsewhere in this report. We have derived the historical consolidated statement of operations data for our
Ñscal year 2001 and 2000 and the historical consolidated balance sheet data as of the end of our Ñscal
years 2002, 2001 and 2000 from our audited historical consolidated Ñnancial statements that are not
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included in this report. The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results to
be expected for any future period.

Fiscal Year(1)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue:

Direct revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 970,646 $ 924,296 $ 867,799 $ 787,170 $ 735,183

Retail revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 499,074 407,238 305,791 262,330 207,574

Financial services revenue(2) ÏÏÏÏÏ 78,104 58,278 46,387 27,329 Ì

Other revenue(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,150 2,611 4,604 770 4,635

Total revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,555,974 1,392,423 1,224,581 1,077,599 947,392

Cost of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 925,665 827,528 735,445 662,186 597,434

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 630,309 564,895 489,136 415,413 349,958

Selling, general and administrative
expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 533,094 479,964 413,135 353,462 297,986

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 97,215 84,931 76,001 61,951 51,972

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 601 408 443 404 487

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,178) (11,158) (8,413) (7,307) (5,604)

Other income(4)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,443 5,612 4,708 4,387 6,749

Income before provision for income
taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100,081 79,793 72,739 59,435 53,604

Provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,085 28,402 25,817 21,020 18,824

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64,996 51,391 46,922 38,415 34,780

Less: Cumulative redeemable
convertible preferred stock dividend Ì Ì Ì (3,901) (3,569)

Income available to common
stockholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 64,996 $ 51,391 $ 46,922 $ 34,514 $ 31,211

Basic earnings per shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.06 $ 0.99 $ 0.94 $ 0.77 $ 0.74

Diluted earnings per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.03 $ 0.93 $ 0.88 $ 0.71 $ 0.66

Weighted average basic shares
outstanding (000's)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 61,277 52,060 49,899 44,920 42,308

Weighted average diluted shares
outstanding (000's)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63,277 55,307 53,400 53,742 52,567

Selected Balance Sheet Data (as of
end of period):

Cash and cash equivalents(5) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 248,184 $ 192,581 $ 178,636 $ 109,755 $ 27,724

Working capitalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 274,746 228,580 188,229 100,082 32,103

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,228,231 963,553 834,968 646,690 426,145

Total debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 148,152 142,651 161,452 62,545 24,054

Total redeemable convertible
preferred stock(6)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 42,323

Total stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 566,354 372,515 259,530 212,075 129,911
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Fiscal Year(1)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Selected Cash Flow Data

Net cash Öows from operating
activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 47,018 $ 67,236 $ 55,692 $ 69,373 $ 41,329

Net cash Öows from investing
activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (127,170) (93,718) (84,510) (71,678) (74,383)

Net cash Öows from Ñnancing
activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 135,755 40,427 97,699 84,336 17,793

Other Data:

Number of catalogs mailed (000's) ÏÏ 120,383 103,976 96,723 83,520 76,011

Number of destination retail stores
(at end of period)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10 9 8 7 7

Total gross square footage (at end of
the period)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,317,060 1,140,709 893,810 707,868 707,868

Average sales per gross square
foot(7) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 398 $ 386 $ 381 $ 367 $ 354

Comparable store sales growth(8) ÏÏÏ (0.6)% 0.2% 3.7% 3.8% 6.2%

Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 29,843 $ 26,715 $ 23,539 $ 17,355 $ 14,681

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52,568 72,972 53,387 47,257 64,615

Purchases of marketable securities(9) 74,492 18,201 32,821 13,768 7,452

EBITDA(10) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 137,501 $ 117,258 $ 104,248 $ 83,693 $ 73,402

EBITDA margin(11) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.8% 8.4% 8.5% 7.8% 7.7%

(1) Our Ñscal years are based on the 52-53 week period ending on the Saturday closest to December 31.
Our Ñscal years 2004, 2002, 2001 and 2000 consisted of 52 weeks and our Ñscal year 2003 consisted
of 53 weeks.

(2) On March 23, 2001, we purchased the remaining 50% ownership interest in Cabela's Card, LLC that
we did not previously own and formed a new wholly-owned bank subsidiary, World's Foremost Bank.
The Ñnancial results of the bank were consolidated with our results beginning March 23, 2001.

(3) Other revenue consists primarily of revenue from our real estate and travel businesses.

(4) Other income primarily consists of interest earned on economic development bonds, gains on sales of
marketable securities and equity in undistributed net earnings (losses) of equity method investees.

(5) At Ñscal year end 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, cash and cash equivalents at World's Foremost Bank
were $58.1 million, $77.2 million, $35.0 million and $34.4 million, respectively, which is included in
our consolidated cash and cash equivalents. Due to regulatory restrictions, our ability to use this cash
for non-banking operations, including for working capital for our direct or retail businesses or for
destination retail store expansion, may be limited. See ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations Ì Bank Dividend Limitations and Minimum Capital
Requirements''.

(6) In September 2001, all outstanding shares of cumulative redeemable convertible preferred stock were
converted to non-voting common stock.

(7) Average sales per gross square foot includes sales and square footage of stores that are open at the
beginning of the period and at the end of the period.

(8) Stores are included in our comparable store sales base the Ñrst day of the month following the Ñfteen
month anniversary of its opening or expansion by greater than 25% of total square footage. The
percentages shown are based on a 52 to 52 week comparison. We previously reported 2003 on a 53
to 52 week basis as 2.4%.
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(9) This amount consists primarily of purchases of economic development bonds, the proceeds of which
are used to construct our destination retail stores and related infrastructure. See ""Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Ì Liquidity and Capital
Resources Ì Retail Store Expansion''.

(10) When we use the term ""EBITDA'', we are referring to net income minus interest income plus
interest expense, income taxes and depreciation and amortization. We present EBITDA because we
consider it an important supplemental measure of our performance and believe it is frequently used
by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our
industry. We also use EBITDA to determine our compliance with some of the covenants under our
revolving credit facility.

EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a
substitute for net income, operating income, cash Öows from operating, investing or Ñnancing
activities or any other measure calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. Some of these limitations are:

‚ EBITDA does not reÖect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures
or capital commitments;

‚ EBITDA does not reÖect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

‚ EBITDA does not reÖect the interest expense or cash requirements necessary to service
interest or principal payments on our debt;

‚ Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and
amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and EBITDA does not reÖect any cash
requirements for such replacements; and

‚ Other companies in our industry may calculate EBITDA diÅerently than we do, limiting its
usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash
available to us to invest in the growth of our business and we rely primarily on our GAAP results and use
EBITDA only supplementally.

The following table reconciles EBITDA to net income:

Fiscal Year(1)

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands)

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 64,996 $ 51,391 $ 46,922 $38,415 $34,780

Deprecation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29,843 26,715 23,539 17,355 14,681

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (601) (408) (443) (404) (487)

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,178 11,158 8,413 7,307 5,604

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,085 28,402 25,817 21,020 18,824

EBITDA ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $137,501 $117,258 $104,248 $83,693 $73,402

(1) EBITDA margin is deÑned as our consolidated EBITDA as a percentage of our consolidated revenue.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of Ñnancial condition, results of operations, liquidity and capital
resources should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated Ñnancial statements and notes
thereto appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties, including information with respect to our plans, intentions and strategies for
our businesses. See ""Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.'' For additional information
regarding some of the risks and uncertainties that aÅect our business and the industries in which we
operate, please see ""Factors AÅecting Future Results''. Our actual results may diÅer materially from those
estimated or projected in any of these forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are the nation's largest direct marketer, and a leading specialty retailer, of hunting, Ñshing,
camping and related outdoor merchandise. Since our founding in 1961, Cabela's has grown to become one
of the most well-known outdoor recreation brands in the United States. Through our well-established
direct business and our growing number of destination retail stores, we believe we oÅer the widest and
most distinctive selection of high quality outdoor products at competitive prices while providing superior
customer service. Our multi-channel retail model Ì catalog, Internet and destination retail stores Ì
strategically positions us to meet our customer's ever-growing needs. Our extensive product oÅering
consists of approximately 245,000 stock keeping units, or SKUs, and includes hunting, Ñshing, marine and
camping merchandise, casual and outdoor apparel and footwear, optics, vehicle accessories, gifts and home
furnishings with an outdoor theme. Our co-branded credit card provides revenue from credit and
interchange fees and oÅers us the opportunity to enhance our merchandising business revenue by
reinforcing our brand and increasing customer loyalty. To best reÖect our operations, we organize the
Ñnancial reporting of our business into the following three segments:

‚ Direct, which consists of our catalogs and website;

‚ Retail, which consists of our destination retail stores; and

‚ Financial Services, which consists of our credit card business, which is managed and administered
by our wholly-owned bank subsidiary, World's Foremost Bank.

In the discussion below, where we refer to our ""merchandising business'' we are referring to our
Direct and Retail segments, collectively. Where we refer to the ""bank,'' we are referring to our Financial
Services segment.

We also operate various other small businesses, which are not included within these segments but
which we believe are an extension of our overall business strategy and enable us to oÅer additional
products and services to our customers that further develop and leverage our brand and expertise. These
businesses are aggregated under the category ""Other'' in this discussion and include a travel agency
specializing in big-game hunting, wing shooting, Ñshing and trekking trips and a developer of real estate
adjacent to some of our destination retail stores. Corporate and other expenses, consisting of unallocated
shared-service costs and general and administrative expenses, also are included in the ""Other'' category.
Unallocated shared-service costs include receiving, distribution and storage costs, merchandising, quality
assurance costs and corporate occupancy costs. General and administrative expenses include costs
associated with general corporate management and shared departmental services such as management
information systems, Ñnance, human resources and legal.

Revenue

Revenue consists of sales of our products and services. Direct revenue includes sales from orders
placed over the phone, by mail and through our website and includes customer shipping charges. Retail
revenue includes all sales made at our destination retail stores and is driven by sales at new stores and
changes in comparable store sales. A store is included in our comparable store sales base on the Ñrst day
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of the month following the Ñfteen month anniversary of its opening or expansion by greater than 25% of
total square footage. Financial Services revenue includes securitization income, interest income and
interchange and other fees net of reward program costs, interest expense and credit losses from our credit
card operations.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for our merchandising business includes cost of merchandise, shipping costs, inventory
shrink and other miscellaneous costs. However, it does not include occupancy costs, depreciation, direct
labor or warehousing costs, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Our
Financial Services segment does not have costs classiÑed as cost of revenue.

Gross ProÑt

We deÑne gross proÑt as the diÅerence between revenue and cost of revenue. As we discuss below,
we believe that operating income presents a more meaningful measure of our consolidated operating
performance than gross proÑt because of the following factors:

‚ our Financial Services segment does not have costs classiÑed as cost of revenue which results in a
disproportionate gross proÑt contribution for this segment;

‚ we do not include occupancy costs, depreciation, direct labor or warehousing costs in cost of
revenue, which aÅects comparability to other retailers who may account diÅerently for some or all
of these costs; and

‚ we have historically attempted to price our customer shipping charges to generally match our
shipping expenses, which reduces gross proÑt as a percentage of Direct revenue.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include directly identiÑable operating costs and other
expenses, as well as depreciation and amortization. For our Direct segment, these operating costs primarily
consist of catalog development, production and circulation costs, Internet advertising costs and order
processing costs. For our Retail segment, these costs primarily consist of payroll, store occupancy, utilities
and advertising costs. For our Financial Services segment, these costs primarily consist of advertising costs,
third party data processing costs associated with servicing accounts, payroll and other administrative fees.
Our Other expenses include shared-service costs, general and administrative expenses and the costs of
operating our various other small businesses described above which are not included in any of our
segments. Shared-service costs include costs for services shared by two or more of our business segments
(principally our Direct and Retail segments) and include receiving, distribution and storage costs,
merchandising, quality assurance costs and corporate occupancy costs. General and administrative expenses
include costs associated with general corporate management and shared departmental services such as
management information systems, Ñnance, human resources and legal.

Operating Income

Operating income is deÑned as revenue less cost of revenue and selling, general and administrative
expenses. Given the variety of segments we report and the diÅerent cost classiÑcations inherent in each of
their respective businesses, it is diÇcult to compare our consolidated results on the basis of gross proÑt.
Consequently, we believe that operating income is the best metric to compare the performance and
proÑtability of our segments to each other and to judge our consolidated performance because it includes
all applicable revenue and cost items.

Trends and Opportunities

Competitors aggressively building new stores. Our competitors are actively building retail stores in
our markets. We seek to increase our merchandising revenue by continuing to make signiÑcant investments
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in new destination retail stores, in initiatives to improve our website and enhance our customer database
and in analysis tools to improve our catalog marketing, which is the primary form of marketing for our
merchandising business.

Increased gas prices. Increases in gas prices could aÅect us more negatively than our other retail
competition. We rely on destination retail store formats where some of our customers must drive hundreds
of miles to visit our stores. If gas prices continue to increase, customers may opt to shop at competitors
located closer to large populations.

Catalog production and circulation costs. Over the last several years, catalog production and
circulation costs have increased more rapidly than Direct revenues. This has been caused by a variety of
factors, including our strategy to use our catalog as an advertising and marketing tool for our entire
business, including mailing additional catalogs into markets where we have destination retail stores, the
established nature of our Direct business, and an increase in competition from new brick and mortar retail
stores as well the presence of our own destination retail stores in new markets. Due to the beneÑt the
catalogs provide to our Retail business, and additional revenues in our Direct business related to increased
circulation, we plan to continue to increase our catalog circulation despite this increase in cost. In order to
compensate for increased costs, we plan to maximize the operating eÇciencies of our Direct business by
decreasing operating costs in other areas of the business, such as reducing order processing and distribution
costs.

EÅect of retail expansion on direct business. When we open a destination retail store in a new
market, our Direct revenues in that market generally experience a decline during the Ñrst twelve months of
the new store opening despite a substantial increase in our Retail revenues in that market due to the
presence of our destination retail store. The new retail store serves as a marketing tool in that geographic
area. As a result, in the year following the opening of the destination retail store, Direct revenues in that
market have historically resumed their historical growth rates.

Investment in infrastructure. We anticipate that we will continue investing in our infrastructure to
support our new destination retail stores and management information systems department to support
growth in our website customer base. We expect that we will make investments in our data systems, and
we expect to hire additional employees in our shared services and corporate overhead areas, in a manner
appropriate to support our revenue growth.

Our new destination retail store expansion plans will require signiÑcant capital expenditures and eÅort.
We have developed and reÑned our destination retail store model and we anticipate that based upon
historical data and construction analyses for anticipated new destination retail stores the average initial
investment to construct a large-format destination retail store will range from approximately $40 million to
$80 million depending on the size of the store and the amount of public improvements necessary. This
investment includes the cost of real estate, site work, public improvements such as utilities and roads,
buildings, equipment, Ñxtures (including taxidermy) and inventory. See ""Ì Liquidity and Capital
Resources Ì Retail Store Expansion.'' Where appropriate, we intend to continue to utilize economic
development arrangements with state and local governments to oÅset some of these costs and improve the
return on investment on new destination retail stores. We also will seek to improve our Retail segment
operating performance through investments in new systems, including product analysis software, which we
believe will help us analyze and expand our product margins, and store associate scheduling analysis tools,
which we believe will help increase our labor eÇciencies as we expand into new markets.

We currently operate ten destination retail stores, including our new 176,000 square foot destination
retail store in Wheeling, West Virginia, which we opened in August 2004. In addition, we currently intend
to open four new large-format destination retail stores in 2005. Our failure to obtain or negotiate economic
development packages with local and state governments could cause us to signiÑcantly alter our destination
retail store strategy or format and/or delay the construction of one or more of our destination retail stores
and could adversely aÅect our revenues, cash Öows and proÑtability. Our Wheeling, West Virginia
destination retail store added 15.4% to our retail square footage in 2004. We anticipate that the four large-
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format destination retail stores we currently plan to open in 2005 will add approximately 750,000, or 57%,
to our retail square footage in 2005.

Saturation of our credit card. We anticipate that Financial Services revenue will increase as our
portfolio of managed receivables matures, and we will seek to further increase Financial Services revenue
by attracting new cardholders through low cost targeted marketing and enhancing our loyalty program to
encourage increased customer usage of our credit cards. We are also exploring the further expansion of our
Financial Services segment by oÅering to manage co-branded VISA credit cards for selected other
businesses, similar to our recent arrangements with International Speedway Corporation and Woodworkers
Supply, Inc. See ""Business Ì Financial Services Business Ì Third Party Card Programs''. We will seek to
control costs in our Financial Services segment by managing default rates, delinquencies and charge-oÅs
by continuing our underwriting and account management standards and practices. We anticipate that we
will continue to sell our credit card loans in the securitization markets and manage those customer
accounts at the bank.

Automated payment opportunities for consumers and fee changes. In our Financial Services
segment, we have experienced a downward trend in the quantity of transactions and the amount of fee
income as a percentage of outstanding managed credit card loans. We believe that the reason for this trend
is the increase in the number of payment options, such as payment via the Internet, which has decreased
the amount of fee income collected. During Ñscal 2004, in response to the declines in the quantity of fee
transactions, we adjusted our fee schedules to reduce further decline in fee income as a percentage of
managed credit card loans. We do not believe that this trend will have a material eÅect on the results of
our Financial Services segment in the future.

We have also experienced an increase in interchange fee income as VISA has raised the interchange
rate charged to merchants. In 2004, this change accounted for a $1.4 million increase in revenue, or 1.8%
of our total Financial Services revenue.

InÖuences on Period Comparability

We believe that the following factors have the potential to materially impact the comparability of our
results of operations if they diÅer from period to period:

‚ New destination retail store openings. The timing and number of our new destination retail store
openings will have an impact on our results. First, we incur one-time expenses related to opening
each new destination retail store. New store expenses for our large-format destination retail stores,
the majority of which are incurred prior to the store's opening, have averaged approximately
$4.3 million per store and are expensed as incurred. Historically, we have received support from our
vendors in a variety of forms including merchandise, purchase volume discounts and cooperative
advertising allowances. This support has helped to oÅset the cost of opening our new destination
retail stores and is typically recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses, but as we
begin to open more than one destination retail store in a year the support that we receive is likely
to decrease on a per store basis. Second, most destination retail store expenses vary proportionately
with revenue, but there is also a Ñxed cost component, consisting primarily of occupancy costs,
utilities and management overhead. These Ñxed costs typically result in lower store proÑtability
when a new destination retail store opens. Due to both of these factors, a new destination retail
store opening may result in temporary declines in operating income, both in dollars and/or as a
percentage of revenue. As the number of destination retail stores increases, the Ñxed costs will be
spread over a broader Retail revenue base and should not represent the same disproportionate
percentage of revenue in the future.

‚ Securitization of credit card receivables. During the Ñrst quarter of 2003, we completed two
securitization transactions, which resulted in a reduction in securitization income of $1.3 million.
We completed a securitization transaction in the second quarter of 2004 in which we sold
$75.0 million of Ñxed rate notes and $175.0 million of Öoating rate notes, which contributed to a
reduction in securitization income of $3.1 million. These reductions in securitization income do not
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have a material impact on the full Ñscal year 2004 results when compared to the prior full Ñscal
year results. We expect to complete a securitization transaction in the third or fourth Ñscal quarter
of 2005.

‚ Rapid interest rate changes. During periods of falling interest rates, our Financial Services
segment generally beneÑts as the variable rate of interest paid in connection with our securitization
programs and borrowings generally falls more rapidly than the interest rates charged to our
cardholders. During periods of rising interest rates, we generally experience the opposite eÅect.
Interest rates have generally declined or been steady in the periods presented in our selected
Ñnancial data. The recent increases in interest rates have not materially impacted the operating
results of our Financial Services segment as we have obtained favorable Ñxed interest rates for a
portion of our securitizations and borrowings and have been able to increase the interest rates paid
by our cardholders. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain similar Ñxed interest rates
for our securitizations and borrowings in the future. See ""Factors AÅecting Future Results Ì Risks
Related to Our Financial Services Business Ì Changes in interest rates could have a negative
impact on our earnings.''

‚ Changes in segment mix. We record direct labor expenses of our Retail segment and all of the
costs of our Financial Services segment in selling, general and administrative expenses. Therefore,
an increase in the revenue of those segments will generally be accompanied by an increase in
selling, general and administrative expenses. In addition, as discussed above, our Financial Services
segment does not have costs classiÑed as cost of revenue. If revenues in our Retail or Financial
Services segments grow at a disproportionate rate compared to our Direct segment, our results will
reÖect the disproportionate eÅect on gross proÑt and selling, general and administrative expenses
that results from our classiÑcation of these expenses.

‚ Seasonality. Our revenues are seasonal in nature due to holiday buying patterns and hunting and
Ñshing season openings across the country. Our merchandise revenues are typically higher in the
third and fourth quarters than in the Ñrst and second quarters. See ""Quarterly Results of
Operations and Seasonal InÖuences.''

‚ Compensation Charge. On May 1, 2004, we granted options to purchase 550,500 shares of our
common stock with an exercise price of $13.34 per share. These options vest in Ñve equal annual
installments commencing on January 1, 2005. We will incur a total pre-tax compensation charge of
approximately $3.7 million which is equal to the diÅerence between the initial public oÅering price
of $20.00 per share and the exercise price of $13.34 per share multiplied by the number of options
granted. This charge will be amortized to expense over the vesting period of the options. A pre-tax
compensation charge of $1.7 million was incurred in Ñscal 2004, and we anticipate pre-tax
compensation charges of $0.9 million, $0.6 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million will be incurred in
Ñscal years 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

‚ Compensation Charges for New Accounting Pronouncements. On December 15, 2004, the FASB
issued FASB Statement 123R, Share Based Payment (""FASB 123R''). This revises the previously
issued FASB 123. It requires public companies to record compensation at fair value for newly
issued options and for the remaining outstanding unvested options as of the eÅective date, which is
for periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We expect to incur a total non-cash pre-tax
compensation charge for the outstanding unvested options of $2.0 to $3.0 million during Ñscal 2005,
which is in addition to the amount incurred relating to our May 1, 2004 option grants discussed
above. This does not include charges for any new option grants that may be approved during Ñscal
2005.

‚ Land sales impact on other revenue. In Ñscal 2004, the amount of land sales increased over Ñscal
2003 by $5.2 million to $7.5 million compared to $2.3 million in Ñscal 2003. These land sales are
included in other revenue and pertain to development of land around our destination retail stores.
The cost of the land is reÖected in cost of sales as this land was held for sale. The timing and gross
proÑt of these land sales can have an impact on our annual and quarterly results. The primary
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increase in 2004 came from a sale of land that was sold at our cost, due to the timing of the
purchase and the sale of the land being in close proximity Ì it was sold at its fair market value.
Therefore, there was no gross proÑt related to the sale of that land. However, we expect the
development of that land to help drive customers to our destination retail stores. Total gross proÑt
on our land sales in Ñscal 2004 was $2.8 million, or 37.3%, of land sales.

‚ Number of weeks in our Ñscal periods. Our Ñscal year ends on the Saturday closest to
December 31 and, as a result, a 53rd week is added every Ñve or six years. Fiscal year 2003
consisted of 53 weeks ended on January 3, 2004. Fiscal years 2004, 2002, 2001 and 2000 consisted
of 52 weeks. In 2004, with one less week than 2003, the week impacted our total revenue growth
by 1.7%. See the chart, ""Fiscal 2004 vs. Fiscal 2003 Information'' for information on revenue
impact by segment. Our Ñscal year policy only impacts our retail and direct segments. Our bank's
Ñscal year ends on December 31 and therefore is not impacted by the 53rd week.

Recapitalization Transaction

On September 23, 2003, we entered into a recapitalization transaction pursuant to which we
purchased 10,922,617 shares of our common stock from existing stockholders for a price of $13.73 per
share. We funded this redemption by selling 7,063,282 shares of our common stock and 7,531,273 shares
of our non-voting common stock to J.P. Morgan Partners (BHCA) and its aÇliates and aÇliated parties
of Michael R. McCarthy, one of our directors, as well as other investors at a price of $13.73 per share. As
a result of this recapitalization, we received net proceeds of approximately $47.7 million, approximately
$40.1 million of which was paid to employees in connection with a change in our deferred compensation
plan that was required by the terms of the recapitalization documents and the remainder of which was
used for general corporate purposes.

Initial Public OÅering and Secondary OÅering

On June 30, 2004, we sold 6,250,000 shares of common stock at a price of $20.00 per share in our
initial public oÅering, which consisted of a total of 8,984,375 shares of common stock. We received net
proceeds of $114.2 million after payment of underwriting discounts and other expenses. We used
$38.1 million of the net proceeds to repay the then outstanding balance on our line of credit. We used the
remaining net proceeds for the capital expenditures and the purchase of marketable securities relating to
the construction and opening of new destination retail stores.

On November 16, 2004, certain of our stockholders sold 12,000,000 shares of their common stock,
including the underwriters over allotment, at a price of $22.50 per share in a Ñrm commitment
underwritten oÅering. We did not receive any proceeds from this sale. We incurred $0.6 million in
transaction costs, which were expensed as incurred and recorded in selling, general and administrative costs
in our Other segment.
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Results of Operations

Our Ñscal year ends on the Saturday closest to December 31. Fiscal year 2003 consisted of 53 weeks,
while Ñscal years 2002 and 2004 each consisted of 52 weeks. Our operating results for Ñscal years 2004,
2003 and 2002, expressed as a percentage of revenue, were as follows:

Fiscal Years

2004 2003 2002

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 59.5 59.4 60.1

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40.5 40.6 39.9

Selling, general and administrative expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34.3 34.5 33.7

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.2 6.1 6.2

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.0 0.0 0.0

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.5) (0.8) (0.7)

Other income (net) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.7 0.4 0.4

Total other expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 (0.4) (0.3)

Income before provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.4 5.7 5.9

Income tax expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.3 2.0 2.1

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.1% 3.7% 3.8%

Segment Information

The following table sets forth the revenue and operating income of each of our segments for Ñscal
years 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Fiscal Years

2004 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

Direct revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 970,646 $ 924,296 $ 867,799

Retail revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 499,074 407,238 305,791

Financial services revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 78,104 58,278 46,387

Other revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,150 2,611 4,604

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,555,974 $1,392,423 $1,224,581

Direct operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 146,765 $ 143,996 $ 134,011

Retail operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72,136 56,193 41,428

Financial services operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,099 19,271 12,949

Other operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (152,785) (134,529) (112,387)

Total operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 97,215 $ 84,931 $ 76,001

As a Percentage of Total Revenue:

Direct revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 62.4% 66.4% 70.8%

Retail revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32.1 29.2 25.0

Financial services revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.0 4.2 3.8

Other revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.5 0.2 0.4

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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Fiscal Years

2004 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

As a Percentage of Segment Revenue:

Direct operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.1% 15.6% 15.4%

Retail operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.5% 13.8% 13.5%

Financial services operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 39.8% 33.1% 27.9%

Total operating income(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.2% 6.1% 6.2%

(1) The percentage set forth is a percentage of consolidated revenue rather than revenue by segment as it
is based upon our consolidated operating income. A separate line item is not included for Other
operating income as this amount is reÖected in the total operating income amount, which reÖects our
consolidated operating results.

For credit card loans securitized and sold, the loans are removed from our balance sheet and the net
earnings on these securitized assets after paying outside investors are reÖected as a component of our
securitization income on a GAAP basis. The following table summarizes the results of our Financial
Services segment for Ñscal year 2004, 2003 and 2002 on a GAAP basis with interest and fee income,
interest expense and provision for loan losses for the credit card receivables we own reported in net interest
income. Non-interest income on a GAAP basis includes servicing income, gains on sales of loans and
income recognized on retained interest for the entire securitized portfolio, as well as, interchange income
on the entire managed portfolio.

Financial Services Revenue as reported in the Financial Statements:

Fiscal Years

2004 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands)

Interest and fee income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12,735 $ 7,858 $ 5,284

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,063) (3,226) (3,474)

Net interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,672 4,632 1,810

Non-interest income:

Securitization income(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 96,466 74,472 60,727

Other non-interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,905 19,050 14,979

Total non-interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 121,371 93,522 75,706

Less: Customer rewards costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (52,939) (39,876) (31,129)

Financial Services revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 78,104 $ 58,278 $ 46,387

(1) For the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, we recognized gains on sale of credit card loans of
$8.9 million, $5.9 million and $7.7 million respectively, which are reÖected as a component of
securitization income.

Our ""managed'' credit card loans represent credit card loans we own plus securitized credit card
loans. Since the Ñnancial performance of the managed portfolio has a signiÑcant impact on the earnings
we will receive from servicing the portfolio, we believe the following table on a ""managed'' basis is
important information to analyze our revenue in the Financial Services segment. This non-GAAP
presentation reÖects the Ñnancial performance of the credit card loans we own plus those that have been
sold for the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002 and includes the eÅect of recording the retained
interest at fair value. Interest, interchange (net of customer rewards) and fee income on both the owned
and securitized portfolio is recorded in their respective line items. Interest paid to outside investors on the
securitized credit card loans is included with other interest costs and included in interest expense. Credit

29



losses on the entire managed portfolio are included in provision for loan losses. Although our Ñnancial
statements are not presented in this manner, management reviews the performance of its managed
portfolio in order to evaluate the eÅectiveness of its origination and collection activities, which ultimately
aÅects the income we will receive for servicing the portfolio. The securitization of credit card loans
primarily converts interest income, interchange income, credit card fees, credit losses and other income
and expense related to the securitized loans into securitization income.

Managed Financial Services Revenue:

Fiscal Year

2004 2003 2002

(Dollars in thousands except other data)

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 71,309 $ 54,412 $ 42,579

Interchange income, net of customer reward costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 36,493 28,945 19,034

Other fee income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,841 13,605 12,905

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (26,750) (21,361) (15,352)

Provision for loan losses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (20,208) (17,380) (13,167)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 419 57 388

Managed Financial Services revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 78,104 $ 58,278 $ 46,387

As a Percentage of Managed Credit Card Loans
Managed Financial Services Revenue:

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.0% 7.7% 7.9%

Interchange income, net of customer reward costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.1% 4.1% 3.6%

Other fee income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.9% 1.9% 2.4%

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.0)% (3.0)% (2.9)%

Provision for loan losses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.3)% (2.4)% (2.5)%

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.0% 0.0% 0.1%

Managed Financial Services revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.7% 8.3% 8.6%

Average reported credit card loans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 82,526 $ 61,850 $ 47,734

Average managed credit card loans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $888,730 $705,265 $536,682

Fiscal 2004 vs. Fiscal 2003 Information:

Information on the extra week of the Ñscal year ended January 3, 2004 is provided to allow investors
to separate the impact of this extra week on reported results in comparison to reported results for the Ñscal
year ended January 1, 2005. Management believes these measurements are an important analytical tool to
aid in understanding underlying operating trends without distortion due to the extra week included in Ñscal
2003.

Period Ending Excluding Extra Week

January 1, January 3, Comparable
2005 2004 % January 3, % Store Sales

(52 weeks) (53 weeks) Incr/(Decr) 2004 Incr/(Decr) Growth(2)

52 weeks vs. 53 weeks

Direct revenue(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 970,646 $ 924,296 5.0% $ 910,270 6.6%

Retail revenue(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 499,074 407,238 22.6% 401,233 24.4% (0.6)%

Financial services
revenue(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 78,104 58,278 34.0% 58,278 34.0%

Other revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,150 2,611 n/a 2,611 n/a

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,555,974 $1,392,423 11.7% $1,372,392 13.4%
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(1) In the 52-week vs. 53-week period we take out week 1 of our Ñscal year 2003 in order to show a
comparable like calendar year. Week 1 of Ñscal year 2003 accounted for $14.0 million and
$6.0 million, respectively, of Direct and Retail revenue.

(2) Comparable store sales growth is calculated on a 52-week basis.

(3) Our Financial Services revenue is not adjusted for the extra week as the year end of our wholly-
owned bank subsidiary, World's Foremost Bank, corresponds to a calendar year end of December 31,
therefore there is no adjustment for the extra week.

Fiscal Year 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year 2003

Revenue

Revenue increased by $163.6 million, or 11.7%, to $1,556.0 million in Ñscal 2004 from
$1,392.4 million in Ñscal 2003 as we experienced revenue growth in each of our segments. We had
53 weeks in Ñscal 2003 versus 52 weeks in Ñscal 2004. On a comparative 52 week basis, revenue increased
by 13.4%.

Direct Revenue. Direct revenue increased by $46.3 million, or 5.0%, to $970.6 million in Ñscal 2004
from $924.3 million in Ñscal 2003 primarily due to growth in sales through our website. When we adjust
for the extra week in Ñscal 2003, our direct revenues grew by 6.6%. The number of customer packages
shipped increased by 5.3% to 8.1 million in Ñscal 2004. Circulation of our catalogs increased by 3.3 billion
pages, or 10.6%, to 34.5 billion pages in Ñscal 2004 from 31.2 billion pages in Ñscal 2003. The number of
active customers, which we deÑne as those customers who have purchased merchandise from us in the last
twelve months, increased by 6.1% to approximately 4.2 million in Ñscal 2004 over Ñscal 2003. The product
categories that contributed the largest dollar volume increase to our Direct revenue growth included work
wear, home furnishings and archery with paint ball being our fastest growing category in the Direct
segment for Ñscal 2004.

Retail Revenue. Retail revenue increased by $91.8 million, or 22.5%, to $499.1 million in Ñscal 2004
from $407.2 million in Ñscal 2003 due to increased new store sales of $99.8 million. Retail revenue
increased 24.4% on a comparative 52 week basis. Revenue for stores in our comparable base decreased by
$8.0 million compared to Ñscal 2003. We believe that the decrease is primarily attributable to the extra
week in Ñscal 2003. Our comparable store sales on a 52 week basis decreased 0.6%. The product categories
that contributed the largest dollar volume increase to our Retail revenue growth included Ñrearms, archery,
and optics with paint ball being our fastest growing category in the Retail segment for Ñscal 2004.

Financial Services Revenue. Financial Services revenue increased by $19.8 million, or 34.0%, to
$78.1 million in Ñscal 2004 from $58.3 million in Ñscal 2003, due to an increase in securitization income of
$22.0 million, an increase in other non-interest income of $5.9 million and an increase in net interest and
fee income of $5.0 million. The 29.5% increase in securitization income was primarily a result of
interchange income increasing by $20.6 million as our customers' VISA net purchases increased by 26.9%.
In addition, an increase in VISA rates improved interchange income by $1.4 million for the Ñscal year.
The increase in securitization income was partially oÅset by an increase in customer reward costs of
$13.1 million, or 32.8%. These costs generally increase proportionately with the amount of customer VISA
purchases. We had various promotions in the fourth Ñscal quarter where customers earned additional
rewards, which caused reward points expense to increase at a higher rate than VISA purchases. Compared
to Ñscal 2003, the number of average active accounts grew by 18.5% to 618,951 and the average balance
per active account grew by 6.3% to approximately $1,436.

Gross ProÑt

Gross proÑt increased by $65.4 million, or 11.6%, to $630.3 million in Ñscal 2004 from $564.9 million
in Ñscal 2003. As a percentage of revenue, gross proÑt declined slightly to 40.5% for Ñscal 2004, compared
to 40.6% in Ñscal 2003. Our Financial Services revenue growth of $19.8 million, which does not have any
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corresponding increase in cost of revenue, provided for an increase of 0.5% to the gross proÑt as a percent
of revenue. However, this was oÅset by a decline in merchandising margin as discussed below of 0.4% of
revenue and a decline of 0.2% in gross proÑt on our other revenue due to a sale of land with no gross
proÑt.

Merchandising Business. The gross proÑt of our merchandising business increased by $46.8 million,
or 9.3%, to $551.5 million in Ñscal 2004 from $504.7 million in Ñscal 2003. As a percentage of revenue,
gross proÑt declined by 0.4% to 37.5% in Ñscal 2004, from 37.9% in Ñscal 2003. The decline was
attributable to increased promotional activities, increased freight costs and a decrease in our net shipping
margin. Promotional activity recorded in net revenue had a negative impact on gross merchandising margin
of 0.8%. Increased freight costs of $5.5 million contributed to 0.3% of the decrease in our gross proÑt
margin. And Ñnally, a decrease in net shipping margin (shipping income less shipping expense) decreased
our merchandising gross proÑt by 0.1%. These decreases were partially oÅset by improved merchandising
practices.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $53.1 million, or 11.1%, to $533.1 million in
Ñscal 2004 from $480.0 million in Ñscal 2003. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 34.3% of
revenue in Ñscal 2004, compared to 34.5% in Ñscal 2003. The most signiÑcant factors contributing to the
increase in selling, general and administrative expenses included:

‚ Selling, general and administrative expenses attributed to shared services comprised $17.0 million of
the total increase in selling, general and administrative expense and increased primarily as a result
of the addition of new employees, which increased salary and wages, related taxes, insurance and
beneÑts, and 401(k) matching expense by $14.7 million. The additional new employees were hired
primarily in the distribution department, relating to the new distribution center in Wheeling, West
Virginia. In addition to new employees, there was a $1.7 million compensation charge related to
stock options granted at less than fair market value under our 2004 stock plan, which was included
in the increase in salary and wages. Professional fees increased over the prior year by $1.9 million.
$0.6 million is attributable to costs of the secondary oÅering that were expensed in the fourth Ñscal
quarter. We also incurred increases in various selling, general and administrative expense line items,
which in total were $0.8 million, and were related to moving an operation to a new location.

‚ Direct selling, general and administrative expenses comprised $12.9 million of the total increase in
selling, general and administrative expense and increased primarily as a result of an increase in
catalog production costs of $12.4 million, or 9.2%. Catalog costs increased to $146.4 million, or
15.1% of Direct revenue in Ñscal 2004, from $134.0 million, or 14.5% of Direct revenue in Ñscal
2003. This increase in catalog costs as a percent of our Direct revenue was primarily due to the
following factors: sales in the Ñrst half of the year that were below our expectations and our
continued use of our catalog as a marketing tool to increase brand awareness and to encourage
customers to visit our destination retail stores. Our credit card discount fees increased by
$1.1 million but were still in line with the increase as a percentage of revenue. All other costs
remained Öat as a percentage of revenue.

‚ Retail selling, general and administrative expenses comprised $15.2 million of the total increase in
selling, general and administrative expense primarily due to new store operating costs of
$16.4 million, which were oÅset by a reduction in comparable store costs of $1.2 million. Included
in the new store costs were our pre-opening and expansion costs, which decreased by $3.4 million
over Ñscal 2003. In 2004, we opened a 176,000 square foot store as compared to 2003 when we
opened a 247,000 square foot store. The size of the store impacted the pre-opening costs. The pre-
opening costs include vendor cooperative payments and direct reimbursement advertising that
reduced the pre-opening costs of our stores. Included in the comparable store costs was a reduction
in salary and wages of $2.1 million due to better payroll management and scheduling practices.
Total advertising remained Öat as a percent of revenue for the year at 1.8% of revenue. Total salary
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and wages, including new stores, decreased as a percent of retail revenue by 0.8% to 11.2% in Ñscal
2004, from 12.0% in Ñscal 2003.

‚ Financial Services selling, general and administrative expenses comprised $8.0 million of the total
increase in selling, general and administrative expense. Third-party data processing services
increased by $2.3 million, as the number of credit card transactions increased. Salary and wages
along with bonus and other related wage costs increased $2.2 million with the growth of the bank.
Advertising and promotion costs related to new account acquisitions increased by $1.7 million and
bad debt expense increased by $0.9 million as the amount of managed receivables outstanding
increased. As a percentage of managed receivables our bad debt expense decreased and continued
to be well below industry standards. Postage increased by $0.8 million, but as a percentage of
revenue it decreased.

Operating Income

Operating income increased by $12.3 million, or 14.5%, to $97.2 million in Ñscal 2004 from
$84.9 million in Ñscal 2003 primarily due to the factors discussed above.

Other Income

Other income increased by $4.8 million to $10.4 million in Ñscal 2004 from $5.6 million in Ñscal 2003
primarily due to an increase in interest earned from economic development bonds of $2.5 million and due
to a gain on the sale of our investment in Great Wolf Lodge, LLC.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased by $3.0 million in Ñscal 2004 to $8.2 million as compared with
$11.2 million in Ñscal 2003. The interest expense decrease was primarily due to changes made to our
deferred compensation plan in 2003, which reduced interest by $2.4 million, a reduction in long-term and
short-term borrowings and the discontinuance of our employee savings plan in December of 2003.

Income Taxes

Our eÅective tax rate was 35.1% in Ñscal 2004 as compared to 35.6% in Ñscal 2003. This decline in
the eÅective rate was due to prior year tax audits that were settled in our favor. We expect our eÅective
rate to increase in Ñscal 2005 as we enter more states with our destination retail stores.

Fiscal Year 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year 2002

Revenue

Revenue increased by $167.8 million, or 13.7%, to $1,392.4 million in Ñscal 2003 from
$1,224.6 million in Ñscal 2002 as we experienced revenue growth in our merchandising business and
Financial Services segment. Revenue for Ñscal 2003 included one extra week of revenue as compared to
Ñscal 2002. The extra week accounted for an increase of approximately 1% over Ñscal 2002 revenue.

Direct Revenue. Direct revenue increased by $56.5 million, or 6.5%, to $924.3 million in Ñscal 2003
from $867.8 million in Ñscal 2002 primarily due to an increased number of customer purchases or orders,
particularly through our website. The number of customer orders shipped increased by 7.2% from
6.4 million in 2002 to 6.9 million in 2003. Circulation of our catalogs increased by 2.2 billion pages, or
7.7%, to 31.2 billion pages in Ñscal 2003 from 29.0 billion pages in Ñscal 2002 as we increased customer
mailings, particularly to customers located near our destination retail stores. The number of active
customers, which we deÑne as those customers who have purchased merchandise from us in the last
twelve months, increased by 4.9% to approximately 4.0 million in Ñscal 2003 over Ñscal 2002. The product
categories that contributed the largest dollar volume increase to our Direct revenue growth included
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women's and children's casual clothing, camping, and auto/ATV accessories with women's and children's
casual clothing being our fastest growing category in the Direct segment in 2003.

Retail Revenue. Retail revenue increased by $101.4 million, or 33.2%, to $407.2 million in Ñscal
2003 from $305.8 million in Ñscal 2002 primarily as a result of increased new store sales of $89.4 million.
The product categories that contributed the largest dollar volume increase to our Retail revenue growth by
dollar volume included hunting equipment, camping equipment, optics and tree stands with women's and
children's casual clothing being our fastest growing category in the Retail segment in 2003.

Financial Services Revenue. Financial Services revenue increased by $11.9 million, or 25.6%, to
$58.3 million in Ñscal 2003 from $46.4 million in Ñscal 2002 primarily as a result of an increase in both
the number of active accounts and the average balance for these accounts, a decline in interest rates and
an increase in interchange income. During Ñscal 2003, the number of active accounts grew by 20.7% to
523,458 and the average balance per active account grew by 9.0% to approximately $1,347. We believe the
growth in average balance resulted from customers' desire to receive beneÑts under our rewards program
and due to the continued maturation of our account base.

Gross ProÑt

Gross proÑt increased by $75.8 million, or 15.5%, to $564.9 million in Ñscal 2003 from $489.1 million
in Ñscal 2002. As a percentage of revenue, gross proÑt increased by 0.7% to 40.6% in Ñscal 2003 from
39.9% in Ñscal 2002 as a result of an increase in Financial Services revenue, which represented
$11.9 million of the increase in gross proÑt and has no cost of revenue.

Merchandising Business. The gross proÑt of our merchandising business increased by $66.3 million
or 15.1%, to $504.7 million in Ñscal 2003 from $438.3 million in Ñscal 2002. As a percentage of revenue,
gross proÑt increased by 0.6% to 37.9% in Ñscal 2003 from 37.3% in Ñscal 2002 as we utilized better
merchandising practices.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $66.9 million, or 16.2%, to $480.0 million in
Ñscal 2003 from $413.1 million in Ñscal 2002. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 34.5% of
revenue in Ñscal 2003, compared to 33.7% in Ñscal 2002. As a percentage of revenue, Direct selling,
general and administrative expenses increased while Retail and Financial Services selling, general and
administrative expenses remained consistent with Ñscal 2002 levels. The most signiÑcant factors
contributing to the increase in selling, general and administrative expenses included:

‚ Selling, general and administrative expenses attributed to shared services comprised $19.7 million of
the total increase in selling, general and administrative expenses and increased primarily as a result
of our increased payroll and beneÑts of $15.3 million primarily relating to the hiring of new
employees in our management information systems department. Our property taxes increased by
$2.9 million, and depreciation expense increased by $1.3 million as a result of additional
infrastructure. In addition, an increase in the equity and interest based components of our deferred
compensation plan, which is no longer available, resulted in an increase of $2.0 million in beneÑt
expense as compared to Ñscal 2002.

‚ Direct selling, general and administrative expenses comprised $18.9 million of the total increase in
selling, general and administrative expense and increased primarily as a result of an increase of
$9.7 million, or 7.8%, in catalog production costs, such as printing, postage and labor, as we
increased catalog circulation and increased payroll and beneÑts of $4.4 million relating to the hiring
of additional employees in this segment. Our advertising expenses increased by $2.1 million, which
was generally proportional to our increase in Direct revenues. Credit card interchange fees paid by
us increased by $0.9 million. Interchange fees paid by us grew because more customers purchased
products through our website, for which we are charged a higher interchange rate.
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‚ Retail selling, general and administrative expenses comprised $22.7 million of the total increase in
selling, general and administrative expense and increased primarily as a result of new store
operating costs of $17.6 million. Advertising expenses increased by $2.3 million in connection with
new store events. Depreciation expense and property taxes increased by $2.1 million and
$1.5 million, respectively, as we added new stores and related equipment. These increases were
partially oÅset by a decrease in pre-opening expenses, as expenses incurred in Ñscal 2003 were
$0.9 million lower than the expenses incurred in Ñscal 2002.

‚ Financial Services selling, general and administrative expenses comprised $5.6 million of the total
increase in selling, general and administrative expense and increased primarily as a result of
increased costs of $1.7 million for third-party data processing services as a result of an increased
number of credit card transactions. In addition, we incurred increased professional fees of
$1.0 million, increased costs of advertising and promotional events of $0.7 million, increased postage
expenses of $0.6 million and increased wages and beneÑts of $1.0 million as we added employees in
this segment to support its growth.

Operating Income

Operating income increased by $8.9 million, or 11.7%, to $84.9 million in Ñscal 2003 from
$76.0 million in Ñscal 2002 primarily due to the factors described above.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $11.2 million in Ñscal 2003 as compared with $8.4 million in Ñscal 2002
predominantly due to the full year impact of interest expense on our $125 million of long-term debt issued
in a private placement in September 2002.

Income Taxes

Our eÅective tax rate was 35.6% in Ñscal 2003 as compared to 35.5% in Ñscal 2002. We have
experienced a gradual increase in our eÅective tax rate as we have opened stores in new states and
incurred additional state income taxes.

Quarterly Results of Operations and Seasonal InÖuences

Due to holiday buying patterns and hunting and Ñshing season openings across the country,
merchandise revenues are typically higher in the third and fourth quarters than in the Ñrst and second
quarters. We anticipate our revenues will continue to be seasonal in nature.
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The following table sets forth unaudited Ñnancial and operating data in each quarter during Ñscal
years 2004 and 2003. This quarterly information has been prepared on a basis consistent with our audited
Ñnancial statements and includes all normal recurring adjustments that we consider necessary for a fair
presentation of the information shown. This information should be read in conjunction with our selected
Ñnancial data and audited consolidated Ñnancial statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhere in
this report. Our quarterly operating results may Öuctuate signiÑcantly as a result of these and a variety of
other factors, and operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for a full Ñscal
year. See ""Ì Factors AÅecting Future Results'' and ""Ì InÖuences on Period Comparability''.

Unaudited

2004 (52 Weeks) 2003 (53 Weeks)

First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter(2) Quarter Quarter Quarter(1) Quarter Quarter Quarter

(Dollars in thousands except EPS)

Net revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $313,917 $279,139 $383,810 $579,108 $262,303 $250,846 $331,209 $548,065

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 125,242 106,853 156,421 241,793 103,331 97,788 132,259 231,517

Operating incomeÏÏÏ 12,703 3,232 25,495 55,785 6,315 5,342 17,559 55,715

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,046 1,987 16,503 38,460 3,077 3,090 10,237 34,987

Earnings per share Ì
basic(3)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.14 $ 0.03 $ 0.26 $ 0.60 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 $ 0.20 $ 0.62

Earnings per share Ì
diluted(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.14 $ 0.03 $ 0.25 $ 0.58 $ 0.06 $ 0.06 $ 0.19 $ 0.60

As a percentage of
full year results:

RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20.2% 17.9% 24.7% 37.2% 18.8% 18.0% 23.8% 39.4%

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.9% 17.0% 24.8% 38.3% 18.3% 17.3% 23.4% 41.0%

Operating income 13.1% 3.3% 26.2% 57.4% 7.4% 6.3% 20.7% 65.6%

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.4% 3.1% 25.4% 59.1% 6.0% 6.0% 19.9% 68.1%

(1) We recognized an oÅset to revenue in the Ñrst Ñscal quarter of Ñscal 2003 of $1.3 million as a result
of the completion of a securitization transaction in that quarter. See ""Ì InÖuences on Period
Comparability.''

(2) We recognized an oÅset to revenue in the second Ñscal quarter of Ñscal 2004 as a result of the
completion of a securitization transaction in that quarter.

(3) Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented.
Due to the recapitalization transaction in 2003 and our initial public oÅering in the second Ñscal
quarter of 2004, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not total the amounts for the
applicable periods.
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Bank Asset Quality

We securitize a majority of our credit card receivables. On a quarterly basis, we transfer eligible
receivables into a securitization trust. We are required to own at least a minimum twenty day average of
5% of the interests in the securitization trust. Therefore, these retained receivables have the same
characteristics as those receivables sold to outside investors. Certain accounts are ineligible for
securitization because they are delinquent at the time of addition, originated from sources other than
Cabela's Club credit cards and various other requirements. The total amount of ineligible receivables we
owned were $6.1 million and $1.5 million at Ñscal year end 2004 and Ñscal year end 2003, respectively. Of
the $6.1 million in ineligible receivables outstanding at Ñscal year end 2004, $5.2 million were originated
from sources other than Cabela's Club credit cards. The following table shows credit card receivables
available for sale along with those securitized as of Ñscal year end 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002

Receivables H90 Days Receivables H90 Days Receivables H90 Days
Outstanding Delinquent Outstanding Delinquent Outstanding Delinquent

Receivables held for sale
(median FICO score of 765
in 2003 and 776 in 2004)ÏÏÏ $ 4,202 Ì $ 4,223 Ì $ 5,003 Ì

Receivables securitized and
transferor's interest (median
FICO score of 771 in 2003;
and 774 in 2004)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,072,910 $1,808 867,982 1,433 670,554 1,294

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,077,112 $1,808 $872,205 $1,433 $675,557 $1,294

As reÖected in the preceding table, the credit quality of our reported credit card receivables does not
have a signiÑcant eÅect on the overall quality of our entire managed portfolio. As a result, we generally
only monitor the asset quality of the managed portfolio.

The quality of our managed credit card portfolio at any time reÖects, among other factors, the
creditworthiness of the individual cardholders, general economic conditions, the success of our account
management and collection activities, and the life cycle stage of the portfolio. Our Ñnancial results are
sensitive to changes in delinquencies and net charge-oÅs of this portfolio. During periods of economic
weakness, delinquencies and net charge-oÅs are more likely to increase. We have sought to manage this
sensitivity by selecting a customer base that has historically shown itself to be very creditworthy based on
charge-oÅ levels, Fair Isaac & Company, or FICO, scores and the percentage of qualifying versus non-
qualifying applicants.
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Our average managed receivables outstanding increased by $184 million, or 26.1%, to $889 million in
Ñscal 2004 from $705 million in Ñscal 2003. We believe that as credit card accounts mature they are less
likely to charge-oÅ and less likely to be closed. The following table shows our managed receivables
outstanding at Ñscal year end 2004 and 2003 by months since the account opened.

2004 2003

Receivables Percentage of Receivables Percentage of
Outstanding Total Outstanding Total

(Dollars in thousands)

Months Since Account Opened

6 months or Less ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 53,803 5.0% $ 53,382 6.1%

7 Ì 12 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 70,600 6.5% 64,177 7.3%

13 Ì 24 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 155,500 14.4% 151,633 17.4%

25 Ì 36 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 169,804 15.7% 170,959 19.6%

37 Ì 48 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 183,254 16.9% 223,776 25.6%

49 Ì 60 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 233,624 21.5% 79,719 9.1%

61 Ì 72 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 82,640 7.6% 28,564 3.3%

73 Ì 84 months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,514 2.6% 19,553 2.2%

85 ° months ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 105,381 9.8% 81,910 9.4%

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,083,120 100.0% $873,673 100.0%

Delinquencies

We consider the entire balance of an account, including any accrued interest and fees, delinquent if
the minimum payment is not received by the payment due date. Our aging methodology is based on the
number of completed billing cycles during which a customer has failed to make a required payment.
Delinquencies not only have the potential to reduce earnings by increasing the unrealized loss recognized
to reduce the loans to market value and reduction in securitization income, but they also result in
additional operating costs dedicated to resolving the delinquencies. The following chart shows the
percentage of our managed accounts that have been delinquent as of the end of Ñscal years 2004, 2003 and
2002.

Fiscal Year

2004 2003 2002

Number of days delinquent

Greater than 30 days ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.71% 0.80% 0.94%

Greater than 60 days ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.41% 0.43% 0.49%

Greater than 90 days ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.19% 0.18% 0.21%

Charge-oÅs

Gross charge-oÅs reÖect the uncollectible principal, interest and fees on a customer's account.
Recoveries reÖect the amounts collected on previously charged-oÅ accounts. We believe that most
bankcard issuers charge oÅ accounts at 180 days. We generally charge oÅ accounts the month after an
account becomes 90 days contractually delinquent, except in the case of cardholder bankruptcies and
cardholder deaths, which are charged oÅ at the time of notiÑcation. As a result, our charge-oÅ rates are
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not directly comparable to other participants in the bankcard industry. Our charge-oÅ activity for the
managed portfolio for Ñscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 is summarized below:

Fiscal Year

2004 2003 2002

Gross charge-oÅsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $23,134 $19,554 $15,074

Recoveries ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,477 2,499 1,907

Net charge-oÅs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19,658 17,055 13,167

Net charge-oÅs as a percentage of average managed loans ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.21% 2.42% 2.45%

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Our merchandising business and our Financial Services segment have signiÑcantly diÅerent liquidity
and capital needs. The primary cash requirements of our merchandising business relate to purchase of
inventory, capital for new destination retail stores, purchases of economic development bonds related to the
development of new destination retail stores, investments in our management information systems and
other infrastructure, and other general working capital needs. We historically have met these requirements
by generating cash from our merchandising business operations, borrowing under revolving credit facilities,
issuing debt and equity securities, obtaining economic development grants from state and local
governments in connection with developing our destination retail stores and collecting principal and interest
payments on our economic development bonds. The cash Öow we generate from our merchandising
business is seasonal, with our peak cash requirements for inventory occurring between May and
September. While we have consistently generated overall positive annual cash Öow from our operating
activities, other sources of liquidity are generally required by our merchandising business during these peak
cash use periods. These sources historically have included short-term borrowings under our revolving credit
facility and access to debt markets, such as the private placement of long-term debt securities we
completed in September 2002. While we generally have been able to manage our cash needs during peak
periods, if any disruption occurred to our funding sources, or if we underestimated our cash needs, we
would be unable to purchase inventory and otherwise conduct our merchandising business to its maximum
eÅectiveness which would result in reduced revenues and proÑts.

The primary cash requirements of our Financial Services segment relate to the generation of credit
card receivables and the purchase of points used in the customer loyalty rewards program from our
merchandising business. The bank obtains funds for these purposes through various Ñnancing activities,
which include engaging in securitization transactions, borrowing under federal funds bank credit facilities,
selling certiÑcates of deposit and generating cash from operations. Due to the limited nature of its state
charter, the bank is prohibited from making commercial or residential loans. Consequently, it cannot lend
money to Cabela's Incorporated or our other aÇliates. The bank is subject to capital requirements imposed
by Nebraska banking law and the VISA membership rules, and its ability to pay dividends is limited by
Nebraska and federal banking law.

We believe that we will have suÇcient capital available from current cash on hand, operations and
our revolving credit facility and other borrowing sources, including the possible monetization of our
economic development bonds, to fund our existing operations and growth plan for the next twelve months.

Operating, Investing and Financing Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $47.0 million in Ñscal 2004 as compared with $67.2 million
in Ñscal 2003. Cash decreased primarily due to an increase in cash used to originate credit card loans in
excess of cash received from the sale of interests in credit card loans in connection with securitization
transactions of $49.6 million. We increased the amount of cash spent for inventory by $5.4 million. Total
inventory was up $50.2 million in Ñscal 2004 compared to an increase of $44.9 million in Ñscal 2003.
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Retail inventory increased $12.3 million primarily due to our new destination retail store, which added
$8.5 million. The remainder of the retail inventory increase is attributable to a build up in inventory for
our credit card club events that ran from the week after Christmas to January 9, 2005. These credit card
club events did not take place in this same time frame in Ñscal 2003. The remainder of the overall
increase is attributable to an increase in special buys and private label inventory, which increase our lead
times and are purchased and held in inventory in larger quantities. These two increased uses of cash were
oÅset by the diÅerence in net payouts under our deferred compensation plan of $31.0 million. In 2003,
related to our recapitalization, we had a net pay out of $29.6 million, while in 2004 we had a net increase
in our deferred compensation plan of $1.4 million.

Cash provided by operating activities was $67.2 million in Ñscal 2003 as compared with $55.7 million
in Ñscal 2002. Cash increased partly due to an excess of cash received from the sale of interests in credit
card loans in connection with securitization transactions over cash used to fund credit card loans of
$22.8 million. Cash provided by operating activities in Ñscal 2003 included a substantial decrease in our
deferred compensation plan account balance of $29.6 million. This net change was due to a $40.1 million
cash payment of deferred compensation funds to employees that was required by the recapitalization
transaction, which was partially oÅset by $10.5 million in deposits. The entire amount of the payment to
employees had reduced income in the current and prior years when the employees earned the amounts
contributed to the plan and interest on such amounts and the plan was amended in 2003 to limit this type
of payout in future years. See ""Ì Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments''. Excluding this
payout, cash provided by operating activities would have been $96.8 million in Ñscal 2003. Other increases
included the accrual for compensation and beneÑts expense in Ñscal 2003 of $21.5 million, an increase in
gift certiÑcates and credit card rewards in Ñscal 2003 of $3.2 million, and an increase in accounts payable
and accrued expenses in Ñscal 2003 of $15.4 million, each of which occurred as a result of the growth of
our business. In addition, our inventory levels increased by $13.4 million during Ñscal 2003 to stock our
new large-format destination retail store. In all three years, one of the largest generators of cash provided
by operating activities was net income, and operating cash has been consumed as we have continued to
grow and maintain inventory levels to support our destination retail store expansion and revenue growth,
trends we expect will continue for as long as we implement our retail growth strategies.

Cash used in investing activities was $127.2 million in Ñscal 2004 as compared with $93.7 million in
Ñscal 2003. The increase in cash used was primarily due to an increase in the purchase of economic
development bonds of $56.3 million related to our destination retail stores. An additional increase in cash
used for investing activities was due to increased credit card loans receivable of $5.3 million. These credit
card loans are related to our new third party loans carried by our bank. These credit card loans receivable
are currently not included in our securitization programs and therefore are held on our books. These two
increases in cash used for investing activities were oÅset by a decrease in our capital expenditures of
$20.4 million and the proceeds from our sale of our investment in Great Wolf Lodge, LLC of $8.8 million.

Cash used in investing activities was $93.7 million in Ñscal 2003 as compared with $84.5 million in
Ñscal 2002, primarily due to an increase in capital expenditures of $19.6 million in Ñscal 2003 primarily as
a result of a higher level of spending attributable to destination retail stores. These increases were partially
oÅset by a decrease in the amount of economic development bonds purchased in Ñscal 2003 of
$14.6 million.

We invested signiÑcant amounts of cash in all three years as we have continued to execute on our
destination retail store expansion strategy and invest in infrastructure. Our total capital expenditures,
including the purchase of the bonds, to develop new destination retail stores in Ñscal 2004 and Ñscal 2003
was $172.9 million. See ""Ì Retail Store Expansion Ì Economic Development Bonds''.

Cash provided by Ñnancing activities was $135.8 million in Ñscal 2004 as compared with $40.4 million
in Ñscal 2003. This increase in Ñnancing activities is primarily attributable to our initial public oÅering,
which raised net proceeds of $114.2 million. In addition, our debt payments decreased by $15.5 million
primarily due to an early payoÅ of a note that occurred in 2003. In addition, we had a decrease in cash
paid for our employee savings plan of $7.9 million. We terminated this plan in 2003 and paid most of the
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balances by the end of Ñscal 2003. Finally, there was an increase in the time deposit activity at our bank,
as we sold additional time deposits of $6.8 million. These increases to our Ñnancing activities were oÅset
by a net decrease in activity in our employee stock options of $48.9 million. This includes the amount of
stock exercised and paid for by our employees and stock that was subsequently repurchased by us from our
employees. This decrease in activity is primarily due to activities related to the recapitalization transaction
that occurred in 2003, whereby a signiÑcant number of employee stock options were exercised.

Cash provided by Ñnancing activities was $40.4 million in Ñscal 2003 as compared with $97.7 million
in Ñscal 2002. The decrease in cash from Ñnancing activities in Ñscal 2003 versus Ñscal 2002 was primarily
due to the $125.0 million of net proceeds we received from the private placement in Ñscal 2002. This
decrease was oÅset by the receipt of cash proceeds from the issuance of common stock in excess of cash
used to repurchase common stock, the net amount of which was $61.6 million. This net receipt of
proceeds from stock issuances related primarily to the recapitalization transaction we completed in
September 2003, in which new investors purchased newly-issued common stock for approximately
$200.0 million and we repurchased shares of common stock from Mr. R. Cabela and Mr. J. Cabela,
resulting in net proceeds after professional fees to us of $47.7 million. In addition, we realized
$13.9 million from the exercise of options by employees net of repurchases.

As of January 1, 2005, we had entered into material commitments in the amount of $182.3 million for
Ñscal 2005 and $96.3 million for Ñscal 2006, for estimated capital expenditures and the purchase of future
economic development bonds in connection with the construction and development of new destination
retail stores. In addition, we are obligated to fund $28.0 million of future economic development bonds
relating to expansion of our distribution center in Wheeling, West Virginia throughout Ñscal 2005 and
2006.

Retail Store Expansion

SigniÑcant amounts of cash will be needed in order to open new destination retail stores and
implement our retail growth strategy. Depending upon the location and a variety of other factors, including
store size and the amount of public improvements necessary, and based upon our prior experience, opening
a single large-format store may require expenditures of $40 million to $80 million. This includes the cost
of real estate, site work, public improvements such as utilities and roads, buildings, equipment, Ñxtures
(including taxidermy) and inventory.

Historically, we have been able to negotiate economic development arrangements relating to the
construction of a number of our new destination retail stores, including free land, monetary grants and the
recapture of incremental sales, property or other taxes through economic development bonds, with many
local and state governments. We are able to negotiate these agreements as we generally have located our
destination retail stores in towns and municipalities that do not have a large base of commercial
businesses. We attempt to design our destination retail stores to provide exciting tourist and entertainment
shopping experiences for the entire family. Our destination retail stores employ many people from the local
community, draw customer traÇc from a broad geographic range and serve as a catalyst for the opening of
additional retail businesses such as restaurants, hotels and gas stations in the surrounding areas. We believe
all of these factors increase the revenue for the state and the local municipality where the destination retail
store is located, making us a compelling partner for community development and expansion. The structure,
amounts and terms of these arrangements vary greatly by location.

Grants. Under various grant programs, state or local governments provide funding for certain costs
associated with developing and opening a new destination retail store. We generally have received grant
funding in exchange for commitments, such as assurance of agreed employment and wage levels at our
destination retail stores or that the destination retail store will remain open, made by us to the state or
local government providing the funding. The commitments typically phase out over approximately Ñve to
ten years, but if we fail to maintain the commitments during the applicable period, the funds we received
may have to be repaid or other adverse consequences may arise. Our failure to comply with the terms of
current economic development packages could result in our repayment of grant money or other adverse
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consequences that would aÅect our cash Öows and proÑtability. As of January 1, 2005 and January 3,
2004, the total amount of grant funding subject to a speciÑc contractual remedy was $17.7 million and
$18.5 million respectively. Portions of three of our destination retail stores, such as wildlife displays and
museums, are subject to forfeiture provisions. In addition, there are 35.2 acres of undeveloped property
subject to forfeiture.

Economic Development Bonds. Through economic development bonds, the state or local government
sells bonds to provide funding for land acquisition, readying the site, building infrastructure and related
eligible expenses associated with the construction and equipping of our destination retail stores. We
typically have been the sole purchaser of these bonds. The bond proceeds that are received by the
governmental entity are then used to fund the construction and equipping of new destination retail stores
and related infrastructure development. While purchasing these bonds involves an initial cash outlay by us
in connection with a new store, some or all of these costs can be recaptured through the repayments of the
bonds. The payments of principal and interest on the bonds are typically tied to sales, property or lodging
taxes generated from the store and, in some cases, from businesses in the surrounding area, over periods
which range between 20 and 30 years. In addition, some the bonds that we have purchased may be
repurchased for par value by the governmental entity prior to the maturity date of the bonds. However, the
governmental entity from which we purchase the bonds is not otherwise liable for repayment of principal
and interest on the bonds to the extent that the associated taxes are insuÇcient to pay the bonds. In one
location, the bonds will become subordinated to other bonds associated with the development if we fail to
continue to operate the store over a prescribed period. After purchasing the bonds, we typically carry them
on our balance sheet as ""available for sale'' marketable securities and value them based upon
management's projections of the amount of tax revenue that will be generated to support principal and
interest payments on the bonds. We have limited experience in valuing these bonds and, because of the
unique features of each project, there is no independent market data for valuation of these types of bonds.
If suÇcient tax revenue is not generated by the subject properties, we will not receive scheduled payments
and will be unable to realize the full value of the bonds carried on our balance sheet. See ""Ì Critical
Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates Ì Economic Development Bonds and Factors AÅecting Future
Results Ì Risks Related to our Merchandising Business Ì The failure of properties to generate suÇcient
taxes to amortize the economic development bonds owned by us that relate to the development of such
properties would have an adverse impact on our cash Öows and proÑtability.'' As of January 1, 2005 and
January 3, 2004, we carried $144.6 million and $71.6 million, respectively, of economic development bond
receivables on our balance sheet.

The negotiation of these economic development arrangements has been important to our destination
retail store expansion in the past, and we believe it will continue to be an important factor to our ability to
execute our destination retail store expansion strategy because we believe they will allow us to avoid or
recapture a portion of the costs involved with opening a new store. If similar packages are unavailable in
the future or the terms are not as favorable to us, our return on investment in new stores would be
adversely aÅected and we may choose to signiÑcantly alter our destination retail store expansion strategy.

Credit Card Loan Receivable Securitizations

Our Financial Services segment historically has funded most of its growth in credit card receivables
through an asset securitization program. Asset securitization is a practice commonly used by credit card
issuers to fund credit card receivables at attractive rates. The bank enters into asset securitization
transactions, which involve the two-tier sale of a pool of credit card receivables from the bank to a wholly
owned special purpose entity, and from that wholly owned special purpose entity to a second special
purpose entity that is organized as a trust. The trust is administered by an independent trustee. Because
the trust qualiÑes as a ""qualiÑed special purpose entity'' within the meaning of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities (""SFAS 140''), its assets and liabilities are not consolidated in our balance
sheet in accordance with SFAS 140.
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The trust issues to outside investors various forms of certiÑcates or credit card receivable interests
(the ""CertiÑcates'') each of which has an undivided interest in the assets of the trust. The trust pays to
the holders of the CertiÑcates a portion of future scheduled cash Öows under preset terms and conditions,
the receipt of which is dependent upon cash Öows generated by the underlying performance of the assets
of the trust. We have recently converted our securitization structure to permit the issuance of asset-backed
notes. This involved the formation of a Delaware statutory trust which will purchase a certiÑcate from the
trust, and issue notes secured by that certiÑcate to investors.

In each securitization transaction, we retain a ""transferor interest'' in the securitized receivables,
which ranks equal with the investor certiÑcates, and an ""interest only strip'' which represents the right to
receive excess cash available after repayment of all amounts to the investors. Neither the investors nor the
trust have recourse against us beyond the assets of the trust, other than for breaches of certain customary
representations, warranties and covenants and minimum account balance levels which must be maintained
to support our retained interests. These representations, warranties, covenants, and the related indemnities,
do not protect the trust or the outside investors against credit-related losses on the receivables.

In accordance with SFAS 140 we record our interest only strip as an asset at fair value which is an
amount equal to the estimated present value of cash Öows to be received by us over the expected
outstanding period of the receivables. These cash Öows essentially represent Ñnance charges and late fees
in excess of the amounts paid to CertiÑcate holders, credit losses, and servicing and administration fees.
We use certain valuation assumptions related to the average lives of the receivables sold and anticipated
credit losses, as well as the appropriate market discount rate, in determining the estimated present value of
the interest only strip. Changes in the average life of the receivables sold, discount rate, and credit-loss
percentage could adversely impact the actual value of the interest only strip. Accordingly, actual results
could diÅer materially from the estimates, and changes in circumstances could result in signiÑcant future
changes to the assumptions currently being used.

Gains on securitization transactions, fair value adjustments and earnings on our securitizations are
included in consolidated revenue in the consolidated statement of income and the interest only strip is
included on our consolidated balance sheet as ""retained interests in securitized receivables.'' All of the
bank's securitization transactions are currently accounted for as sale transactions. As a result, the
receivables relating to those pools of assets are not reÖected on our balance sheet, other than our transferor
interest and interest only strip.

A credit card receivable represents a Ñnancial asset. Unlike a mortgage or other closed-end loan
account, the terms of a credit card account permit a customer to borrow additional amounts and to repay
each month an amount the customer chooses, subject to a monthly minimum payment requirement. The
credit card account remains open after repayment of the balance and the customer may continue to use it
to borrow additional amounts. We reserve the right to change the credit card account terms, including
interest rates and fees, in accordance with the terms of the credit card agreement and applicable law. The
credit card account is, therefore, separate and distinct from the loan receivable. In a credit card
securitization, the credit card account relationships are not sold to the securitization entity. We retain
ownership of the credit card account relationship, including the right to change the terms of the credit
card account.

We sell our credit card receivables in the ordinary course of business through a commercial paper
conduit program and we have from time to time entered into longer term Ñxed and Öoating rate
securitization transactions. In a conduit securitization, our credit card receivables are converted into
securities and sold to commercial paper issuers which pool the securities with those of other issuers. The
amount securitized in a conduit structure is allowed to Öuctuate within the terms of the facility which may
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provide greater Öexibility for liquidity needs. The total amounts and maturities for the term credit card
securitizations as of the end of Ñscal 2004 are as follows:

Initial CertiÑcate
Series Type Amount Rate Expected Final

Series 2001-2ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Term $250,000 Floating November 2006

Series 2003-1ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Term $300,000 Fixed January 2008

Series 2003-2ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Variable Funding $300,000 Floating March 2005

Series 2003-2ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Variable Funding $ 50,000 Floating February 2005*

Series 2004-I ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Term $ 75,000 Fixed March 2009

Series 2004-II ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Term $175,000 Floating March 2009

* The Series 2003-2, which matured in February of 2005, was a temporary three month increase in that
series.

We have been, and will continue to be, particularly reliant on funding from securitization transactions
for our Financial Services business. A failure to renew existing facilities or to add additional capacity on
favorable terms as it becomes necessary could increase our Ñnancing costs and potentially limit our ability
to grow our Financial Services business. Unfavorable conditions in the asset-backed securities markets
generally, including the unavailability of commercial bank liquidity support or credit enhancements, such
as Ñnancial guaranty insurance, could have a similar eÅect. We expect to renew our $300,000 variable
funding commercial paper facility that expires in March 2005.

Furthermore, poor performance of our securitized receivables, including increased delinquencies and
credit losses, lower payment rates or a decrease in excess spreads below certain thresholds, could result in
a downgrade or withdrawal of the ratings on the outstanding securities issued in our securitization
transactions, cause early amortization of these securities or result in higher required credit enhancement
levels. This could jeopardize our ability to complete other securitization transactions on acceptable terms,
decrease our liquidity and force us to rely on other potentially more expensive funding sources, to the
extent available, which would decrease our proÑtability.

CertiÑcates of Deposit. We utilize certiÑcates of deposit to partially Ñnance the operating activities of
our bank. Our bank issues certiÑcates of deposit in a minimum amount of $100,000 in various maturities.
As of January 1, 2005, we had $100.7 million of certiÑcates of deposit outstanding with maturities ranging
from January 2005 to May 2014 and with weighted average eÅective annual Ñxed rate of 3.34%.
CertiÑcate of deposit borrowings are subject to regulatory capital requirements.

Credit Facilities and other Indebtedness

We have a revolving credit facility with a group of banks that provides us with a $230 million
unsecured line of credit, which is available for our operations. This revolving facility, which expires on
June 30, 2007, provides for a LIBOR-based rate of interest plus a spread of between 0.80% and 1.425%
based upon our achievement of certain cash Öow leverage ratios. During the term of the facility, we are
also required to pay a facility fee, which ranges from 0.125% to 0.25%. Our credit facility also permits the
issuance of up to $100 million in letters of credit and standby letters of credit, which are applied against
the overall credit limit available under the revolver. We utilize these letters of credit to support purchases
from our suppliers in the ordinary course of our business. The average outstanding amount under these
letters of credit during Ñscal 2004 was $44.5 million. There were no outstanding principal amounts under
the credit facility as of Ñscal year end 2004. Our total remaining borrowing capacity under the credit
facility, after subtracting outstanding letters of credit of $31.1 million, and standby letters of credit of
$6.5 million, as of Ñscal year end 2004 was $192.4 million.
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Our credit agreement requires that we comply with several Ñnancial and other covenants, including
requirements that we maintain the following Ñnancial ratios as set forth in our credit agreement:

‚ a current consolidated assets to current consolidated liabilities ratio of no less than 1.15 to 1.00 as
of the last day of any Ñscal year;

‚ a Ñxed charge coverage ratio (the ratio of the sum of consolidated EBITDA plus certain rental
expenses to the sum of consolidated cash interest expense plus certain rental expenses) of no less
than 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any Ñscal quarter;

‚ a cash Öow leverage ratio of no more than 2.50 to 1.00 as of the last day of any Ñscal quarter; and

‚ a tangible net worth of no less than $300 million plus 50% of positive consolidated net earnings on
a cumulative basis for each Ñscal year beginning with Ñscal year ended 2004 as of the last day of
any Ñscal quarter.

In addition, our credit agreement includes a limitation that we may not pay dividends to our
stockholders in excess of 50% of our prior year's consolidated EBITDA and a provision that permits
acceleration by the lenders in the event there is a ""change in control.'' Our credit agreement deÑnes
""EBITDA'' to mean our net income before deductions for income taxes, interest expense, depreciation and
amortization. Based upon this EBITDA calculation for Ñscal 2004, dividends would not be permissible in
Ñscal 2005 in excess of $68.8 million. Our credit agreement deÑnes a ""change in control'' to mean any
circumstances under which we cease to own 100% of the voting stock in each of our subsidiaries that have
or have had total assets in excess of $5.0 million, any event in which any person or group of persons (other
than our stockholders as of May 6, 2004 and their aÇliates) acting in concert acquires beneÑcial
ownership of, or control over, 20% or more of the combined voting power of all of our securities entitled to
vote in the election of directors and such voting percentage exceeds the percentage of our common stock
owned by Mr. R. Cabela and Mr. J. Cabela as of the date of such acquisition, or any change in a majority
of the members of our board of directors within any twelve month period for any reason (other than by
reason of death, disability or scheduled retirement). As of January 1, 2005, Mr. R. Cabela and Mr. J.
Cabela collectively own 12,641,227 shares (not including 8,663,964 shares beneÑcially owned by Mr. R.
Cabela through Cabela's Family, LLC) of common stock, which represents 19.5% of our total outstanding
common stock and non-voting common stock. Our credit agreement provides that all loans or deposits
from us or any of our subsidiaries to the bank do not exceed $20.0 million in the aggregate at any time
when loans are outstanding under the revolving credit facility.

Our bank entered into an unsecured uncommitted Fed Funds Sales Agreement with a bank on
October 7, 2004. The maximum amount of funds which can be outstanding is $25.0 million of which no
amounts were outstanding at Ñscal year end 2004. On October 8, 2004, our bank entered into an
unsecured uncommitted Fed Funds Line of Credit agreement with another bank. The maximum amount
of funds which can be outstanding is $40.0 million of which no amounts were outstanding at Ñscal year
end 2004.

In addition to our credit facilities, we have from time to time accessed the private placement debt
markets. We currently have two such note issues outstanding. In September 2002, we issued
$125.0 million in senior unsecured notes bearing interest at a Ñxed rate of 4.95%, repayable in Ñve annual
installments of $25.0 million beginning on September 5, 2005. The entire principal amount under these
notes remains unpaid. In January 1995, we issued $20.0 million in senior unsecured notes bearing interest
at Ñxed rates ranging between 8.79% and 9.19% per year. The notes amortize, with principal and interest
payable in the amount of $0.3 million per month through January 1, 2007, thereafter decreasing to
$0.1 million per month through January 1, 2010. The aggregate principal balance of these notes as of
January 1, 2005 was $8.1 million. Both note issuances provide for prepayment penalties based on yield
maintenance formulas.
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These notes require that we comply with several Ñnancial and other covenants, including requirements
that we maintain the following Ñnancial ratios as set forth in the note purchase agreement:

‚ a consolidated adjusted net worth in an amount not less than the sum of (i) $150 million plus
(ii) 25% of positive consolidated net earnings on a cumulative basis for each Ñscal year beginning
with the Ñscal year ended 2002; and

‚ a Ñxed charge coverage ratio (the ratio of consolidated cash Öow to consolidated Ñxed charges for
each period of four consecutive Ñscal quarters) of no less than 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of any
Ñscal quarter.

In addition, the note purchase agreement includes a limitation that our subsidiaries, excluding the
bank, and we may not create, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise assume funded debt in excess of 60%
of consolidated total capitalization.

As of January 1, 2005, we were in compliance with all of the covenants under our credit agreements
and unsecured notes. We may or may not engage in future long-term borrowing transactions to fund our
operations or our growth plans. Whether or not we undertake such borrowings will depend on a variety of
factors, including prevailing interest rates, our retail growth plans, our Ñnancial strength, alternative sources
and costs of funding and our management's assessment of potential returns on investment that may be
realized from the proceeds of such borrowings.

Impact of InÖation

We do not believe that our operating results have been materially aÅected by inÖation during the
preceding three Ñscal years. We cannot assure, however, that our operating results will not be adversely
aÅected by inÖation in the future.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following tables provide summary information concerning our future contractual obligations and
commercial commitments, respectively, as of Ñscal year end 2004.

Contractual Obligations

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total

(Dollars in thousands)

Long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 28,183 $ 28,901 $ 26,643 $26,583 $26,467 $ 2,736 $139,513

Interest payments(1) ÏÏÏ 7,423 5,986 4,513 3,152 1,785 4,882 27,741

Capital lease obligations 500 500 500 500 500 12,000 14,500

Operating leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,611 2,159 1,123 336 336 869 7,434

Time deposits by
maturity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,953 28,201 10,705 7,200 5,200 400 100,659

Obligations under
economic development
arrangements(2) ÏÏÏÏÏ 307,807 2,252 1,272 2,769 962 4,096 319,158

Purchase obligations(3) 299,852 60,976 2,552 1 Ì Ì 363,379

Deferred compensationÏÏ 3,069 1,669 108 36 Ì 5,054 9,936

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $698,398 $130,644 $ 47,416 $40,577 $35,250 $30,037 $982,320

(1) These amounts do not include estimated interest payments due under our revolving credit facility
described below in ""Ì Other Commercial Commitments'' because the amount that will be borrowed
under this facility in future years is uncertain at this time.
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(2) In 2005, these obligations include approximately $72.9 million of contractual obligations, including the
purchase of bonds, associated with our Buda, Texas destination retail store; $65.4 million of
contractual obligations, including the purchase of bonds, associated with our Fort Worth, Texas
destination retail store; $44.0 million of contractual obligations, including the purchase of bonds,
associated with our Lehi, Utah destination retail store; and $28.0 million of contractual obligations,
including the purchase of bonds, associated with our Wheeling, West Virginia distribution center. In
2006, these obligations include approximately $96.3 million of contractual obligations, including the
purchase of bonds, associated with our Wheat Ridge, Colorado destination retail store.

(3) Our purchase obligations relate primarily to purchases of inventory, shipping and other goods and
services in the ordinary course of business under binding purchase orders. The amount of purchase
obligations shown is based on assumptions regarding the legal enforceability against us of purchase
orders we had outstanding as of Ñscal year end 2004. Under diÅerent assumptions regarding our rights
to cancel our purchase orders or diÅerent assumptions regarding the enforceability of the purchase
orders under applicable laws, the amount of purchase obligations shown in the table above would be
less.

The foregoing table does not include any amounts for contractual obligations associated with our
Rogers, Minnesota, Gonzales, Louisiana, Reno, Nevada and East Rutherford, New Jersey destination retail
stores, which obligations were either entered into subsequent to Ñscal 2004, or are in the process of
negotiations. The cost of the Rogers, Minnesota store to be opened in 2005 is estimated at $52.3 million.
The remainder of the locations, which are still being negotiated, will be subject to ordinary conditions to
closing. If the respective conditions are met, we expect the total costs of each of these destination retail
stores, including the cost of economic development bonds, to fall in our estimated range of $40 to
$80 million each. We expect the costs for our Rogers, Minnesota store to be incurred in 2005, the costs
for our Gonzales, Louisiana and Reno, Nevada stores to be incurred in 2006 and the costs for our East
Rutherford, New Jersey store to be incurred in 2007.

Other Commercial Commitments

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total

(Dollars in thousands)

Revolving line of credit(1) ÏÏ $ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì $ Ì

Bank Ì federal funds
lines(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì

Letters of creditÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,088 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 31,088

Standby letters of creditÏÏÏÏÏ 6,525 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 6,525

Total(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $37,613 Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì $37,613

(1) The total amount of our revolving line of credit, including lender letters of credit and standby letters
of credit, is $230.0 million. As of Ñscal year end 2004, approximately $192.4 million was available for
borrowing under this revolving line of credit including letters of credit and standby letters of credit.

(2) The maximum amount of funds on the bank federal funds lines which can be outstanding is
$65.0 million of which no amounts were outstanding at Ñscal year end 2004.

OÅ-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Operating leases Ì We lease various items of oÇce equipment and buildings, all of which are
recorded in our selling, general and administrative expenses. Future obligations are shown in the
contractual obligations table above.

Credit Card Limits Ì The bank bears oÅ-balance sheet risk in the normal course of its business. One
form of this risk is through the bank's commitment to extend credit to cardholders up to the maximum
amount of their credit limits. The aggregate of such potential funding requirements totaled $6.0 billion 
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at Ñscal year end 2004 and $4.9 billion at Ñscal year end 2003, which amounts were in addition to existing
balances cardholders had at such dates. These funding obligations are not included on our consolidated
balance sheet. While the bank has not experienced, and does not anticipate that it will experience, a
signiÑcant draw down of unfunded credit lines by customers, a signiÑcant draw down would create a cash
need at the bank which likely could not be met by our available cash and funding sources. The bank has
the right to reduce or cancel these available lines of credit at any time.

Securitizations Ì As described above under ""Ì Credit Card Loan Receivable Securitizations,'' all of
the bank's securitization transactions have been accounted for as sale transactions and the receivables
relating to those pools of assets are not reÖected on our consolidated balance sheet.

Bank Dividend Limitations and Minimum Capital Requirements

The ability of the bank to pay dividends to us is limited. Such dividends, which would only be made
at the discretion of our board of directors and the bank's board of directors, may be limited by a variety of
factors, such as regulatory capital requirements, dividend restriction statutes, broad enforcement powers
possessed by regulatory agencies and requirements imposed by membership in VISA. Under the Nebraska
Banking Act, dividends may only be paid out of ""net proÑts on hand,'' which the Nebraska Banking Act
deÑnes to mean, the remainder of all earnings from current operations plus actual recoveries on loans and
investments and other assets, after deducting from the total thereof all current operating expenses, losses
and bad debts, accrued dividends on preferred stock, if any, and federal and state taxes for the present and
two immediately preceding calendar years.

Based on these various restrictions, and assuming the same net proÑt levels in 2005 as in 2004, the
bank would not be permitted to pay us more than $18.8 million in dividends during 2005. Based on this
assumption, the bank currently intends to pay us at least $2.5 million per Ñscal quarter in dividends for
Ñscal 2005. The bank had $45.5 million in retained earnings at the end of 2004. Due to minimum capital
requirements under banking laws and the VISA membership rules, we may be required from time to time
to put additional capital into the bank in order to enable the bank to continue to grow its credit card
portfolio.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our consolidated Ñnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these Ñnancial statements requires
us to make estimates and judgments that aÅect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions are
evaluated on a periodic basis and are based on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may diÅer signiÑcantly from these
estimates.

Our signiÑcant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
The accounting policies discussed below are the ones we believe are the most critical to understanding our
consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Merchandising Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized for retail sales at the time of the sale in the store. For direct sales, revenue is
recognized when the merchandise is delivered to the customer, with the time of delivery being based on
our estimate of shipping time from our distribution facility to the customer. We record a reserve for
estimated product returns in each reporting period. The amount of this reserve is based upon our historical
return experience and our future expectations. If our estimates for these returns are too low, and we
receive more returns than we estimated, we would have a signiÑcant mismatching of revenue and expenses
in the following period. Shipping fees charged to customers are included in revenue and shipping costs are
included in cost of revenues. Our policy regarding gift certiÑcates is to record revenue as the certiÑcates
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are redeemed for merchandise. Prior to their redemption, the certiÑcates are recorded as a liability for the
full-face amount of the certiÑcates.

Inventory

Merchandise inventories, net of an allowance for shrink, returned or damaged goods and obsolescence,
are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the last-in-Ñrst-out method, or LIFO,
for all inventories except for those inventories owned by our wholly-owned subsidiaries Van Dyke Supply
Company, Inc., and Wild Wings, LLC which use the Ñrst-in, Ñrst-out method. We use a dollar value, link
chain method in calculating LIFO. Current year prices are determined using an internally developed index
applying the Ñrst purchase price method. We estimate a provision for shrink based on historical cycle
count adjustments and periodic physical inventories. These estimates may vary signiÑcantly due to a
variety of internal and external factors. The allowance for damaged goods from returns is estimated based
on historical experience. Most items that are returned and slightly damaged are sent to our Retail segment,
marked down and sold. We also reserve our inventory for obsolete or slow moving inventory based on
inventory aging reports and, in certain cases, by speciÑc identiÑcation of slow moving or obsolete inventory.
The aged inventory is grouped and analyzed in various categories, with particular attention given to
fashion-sensitive categories. All categories that are subject to obsolescence are reserved for based upon
management's estimates, which estimates reÖect past experience and management's assessment of future
merchandising trends. Our most fashion-sensitive categories of merchandise are apparel and footwear.
However, a signiÑcant percentage of our inventory has a low fashion component, such as hunting, camping,
and Ñshing gear, with a correspondingly lower rate of obsolescence. Slow moving inventory is marked down
and sold in the Bargain Cave section of our merchandising business.

Catalog Amortization

Prepaid catalog expenses consist of internal and third party incremental direct costs incurred in the
development, production and circulation of our direct mail catalogs. These costs are primarily composed of
creative design, prepress/production, paper, printing, postage and mailing costs relating to the catalogs. All
such costs are capitalized as prepaid catalog expenses and are amortized over their expected period of
future beneÑt or twelve months, whichever is shorter. Such amortization is based upon sales lag pattern
forecasts, which are developed using prior similar catalog oÅerings as a guide. Prepaid catalog expenses are
evaluated for realizability at each reporting period by comparing the carrying amount associated with each
catalog to actual sales data and to the estimated probable remaining future revenue (net revenue less
merchandise cost of goods sold, selling expenses and catalog completions costs) associated with that
catalog. If the carrying amount is in excess of the estimated probable remaining future revenue, the excess
is expensed in the reporting period. In 2004 and 2003 we had $26.6 million and $26.9 million, respectively,
capitalized at year-end.

Economic Development Bonds

Debt and equity securities with readily determinable fair values are classiÑed as ""available-for-sale''
and recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of related income taxes, excluded from
earnings and reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. Declines in the fair value of available-
for-sale securities below cost that are deemed to be other than temporary are reÖected in earnings as
realized losses. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and determined
using the speciÑc identiÑcation method. At the time we purchase these bonds we make estimates of the
discounted future cash Öow streams they are expected to generate in the form of interest and principal
payments. Because these cash Öows are based primarily on future property or sales tax collections at our
facilities and other facilities (which in many cases may not yet be operating), these estimates are
inherently subjective and the probability of ultimate realization is highly uncertain. Any excess of par value
over fair value of bonds acquired as part of the retail construction are allocated to the basis of the store.
Each reporting period we review the assumptions underlying the recorded valuation of these bonds to
determine whether changes in actual or anticipated tax collections or other factors suggest that the bonds

49



have become permanently impaired. Future property tax revenues are estimated using management's
current knowledge and assessment of known construction projects and the likelihood of additional
development or land sales at the relevant sites. Future sales tax revenues are estimated generally using
historical same store sales and projected increases for similar stores. Declines in the fair value of held-to-
maturity and available-for-sale bonds and securities below cost that are deemed to be other than temporary
are reÖected in earnings as realized losses. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the
trade date and determined using the speciÑc identiÑcation method.

Asset Securitization

We use securitization of our credit card receivables as one source to meet our funding needs for our
Financial Services business. We account for our securitization transactions in accordance with SFAS 140,
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (""FASB''). When we securitize credit card
receivables, we recognize retained beneÑcial interests, including an interest-only strip receivable. The
interest-only strip receivable represents the contractual right to receive from the trust interest and other
revenue less certain costs over the estimated life of the securitized receivables.

We estimate the fair value of the interest-only strip receivable based on the present value of expected
future revenue Öows (""excess spread'') based upon certain assumptions and estimates of our management.
Quoted market prices for the interest-only strip receivable are not available and we have limited
experience in performing this type of valuation. Our assumptions and estimates include projections
concerning interest income and late fees on securitized loans, recoveries on charged-oÅ securitized loans,
gross credit losses on securitized loans, contractual servicing fees, and the interest rate paid to investors in
a securitization transaction. These projections are used to determine the excess spread we expect to earn
over the estimated life of the securitized loan principal receivables. The other assumptions and estimates
we use in estimating the fair value of the interest-only strip receivable include projected loan payment
rates, which are used to determine the estimated life of the securitized loan principal receivables, and an
appropriate discount rate.

The assumptions and estimates used to estimate the fair value of the interest-only strip receivable at
each reporting period reÖects management's judgment as to the expected excess spread to be earned and
payment rates to be experienced on the securitized loans. These estimates are likely to change in the
future, as the individual components of the excess spread and payment rates are sensitive to market and
economic conditions. For example, the rates paid to investors in our securitization transactions are
primarily variable rates subject to change based on changes in market interest rates. Changes in market
interest rates can also aÅect the projected interest income on securitized loans, as we could reprice the
portfolio as a result of changes in market conditions. Credit loss projections could change in the future
based on changes in the credit quality of the securitized loans, our account management and collection
practices, and general economic conditions. Payment rates could Öuctuate based on general economic
conditions and competition. Actual and expected changes in these factors may result in future estimates of
the excess spread and payment rates being materially diÅerent from the estimates used in the periods
covered by this report.

On a quarterly basis, we review and adjust as appropriate, the assumptions and estimates used in
determining the fair value of the interest-only strip receivable recognized in connection with our
securitization transactions. If these assumptions change, or actual results diÅer from projected results, the
interest-only strip receivable and securitization income would be aÅected. If management had made
diÅerent assumptions for the periods covered by this report that raised or lowered the excess spread or
payment rate, our Ñnancial position and results of operations could have diÅered materially.

Note 2 to the audited consolidated Ñnancial statements provides further detail regarding the
assumptions and estimates used in determining the fair value of the interest-only strip receivable and their
sensitivities to adverse changes.
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Impact of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

At the March 17-18, 2004 EITF meeting the Task Force reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-1. The
Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. Issue 03-1
provides guidance for determining when an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired that is
incremental to the consideration in this Issue- speciÑcally, whether an investor has the ability and intent to
hold an investment until recovery. In addition, Issue 03-1 contains disclosure requirements that provide
useful information about impairments that have not been recognized as other than temporary for
investments within the scope of this Issue. The guidance for evaluating whether an investment is other-
than-temporarily impaired should be applied in other-than-temporary impairment evaluations made in
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2004. The disclosures are eÅective in annual Ñnancial statements
for Ñscal years ending after December 15, 2003, for investments accounted for under SFAS No. 115
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. For other investments within the scope
of this Issue, the disclosures are eÅective in annual Ñnancial statements for Ñscal years ending after
June 15, 2004. The additional disclosure for cost method investments are eÅective for Ñscal years ending
after June 15, 2004. Comparative information for periods prior to initial application is not required. The
adoption of this Issue did not have a material impact on the Company's Ñnancial position, results of
operations or cash Öows. In September 2004, the FASB issued StaÅ Position 03-1-1 which deferred the
eÅective date for the measurement and recognition guidance contained in paragraphs 10-20 of Issue 03-1.
This delay does not suspend the requirement to recognize other-than-temporary impairments as required
by existing authoritative literature. The delay of the eÅective date for paragraphs 10-20 of Issue 03-1 will
be superseded concurrent with the Ñnal issuance of FSB EITF Issue 03-1a.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 153 Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an
amendment of APB Opinion No. 29. This statement was a result of an eÅort by the FASB and the IASB
to improve Ñnancial reporting by eliminating certain narrow diÅerences between their existing accounting
standards. One such diÅerence was the exception from fair value measurement in APB Opinion No. 29,
Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets.
Statement 153 replaces this exception with a general exception from fair value measurement for exchanges
of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial
substance if the future cash Öows of the entity are expected to change signiÑcantly as a result of the
exchange. This statement shall be applied prospectively and is eÅective for nonmonetary asset exchanges
occurring in Ñscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for nonmonetary
asset exchanges occurring in Ñscal periods beginning after the date of issuance of this Statement. The
adoption of FASB No. 153 will not have a signiÑcant impact on the Company's Ñnancial position, results
of operations or cash Öows.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment.
Statement 123(R) requires all entities to recognize compensation expense in an amount equal to the fair
value of the share-based payments (e.g., stock options and restricted stock) granted to employees or by
incurring liabilities to an employee or other supplier (a) in amounts based, at least in part, on the price of
the entity's shares or other equity instruments or (b) that require or may require settlement by issuing the
entity's equity shares or other equity instruments. This Statement is a revision of FASB Statement
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. This Statement supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and its related implementation guidance. This Statement is
eÅective for public entities that do not Ñle as small business issuers as of the beginning of the Ñrst interim
or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. The Company will adopt this statement at its
eÅective date in the third Ñscal quarter of 2005. The Company expects to record pre-tax expense on
unvested options of approximately $2.0 to $3.0 million during the second half of 2005 after this statement
is adopted.
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Factors AÅecting Future Results

Risks Related to Our Merchandising Business

If we cannot successfully implement our destination retail store expansion strategy, our growth and

proÑtability would be adversely impacted.

Since January 1, 1998, we have increased the number of our destination retail stores from two,
totaling 124,000 square feet, to ten, totaling 1,316,000 square feet. We currently plan to open one
additional destination retail store in each of Ft. Worth, Texas, Buda, Texas, Lehi, Utah, and Rogers,
Minnesota by the end of 2005. The opening of the Rogers, Minnesota store may be delayed into early
2006 due to weather delays. We continue to actively seek additional locations to open new destination
retail stores. Our ability to open new destination retail stores in a timely manner and operate them
proÑtably depends on a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

‚ our ability to manage the Ñnancial and operational aspects of our retail growth strategy;

‚ our ability to identify suitable locations, including our ability to gather and assess demographic and
marketing data to determine consumer demand for our products in the locations we select;

‚ our ability to negotiate economic development packages with local and state governments where our
new destination retail stores would be located;

‚ our ability to properly assess the implications of economic development packages and customer
density to project the proÑtability of potential new destination retail store locations;

‚ our ability to secure required governmental permits and approvals;

‚ our ability to hire and train skilled store operating personnel, especially management personnel;

‚ the availability of construction materials and labor and the absence of signiÑcant construction delays
or cost overruns;

‚ our ability to provide a satisfactory mix of merchandise that is responsive to the needs of our
customers living in the areas where new destination retail stores are built;

‚ our ability to supply new destination retail stores with inventory in a timely manner;

‚ our competitors building or leasing stores near our destination retail stores or in locations we have
identiÑed as targets for a new destination retail store;

‚ general economic and business conditions aÅecting consumer conÑdence and spending and the
overall strength of our business; and

‚ the availability of Ñnancing on favorable terms.

We may not be able to sustain the growth in the number of our destination retail stores, the revenue
growth historically achieved by our destination retail stores or to maintain consistent levels of proÑtability
in our retail business, particularly as we expand into markets now served by other large-format sporting
goods retailers and mass merchandisers. In particular, new destination retail stores typically generate lower
operating margins because pre-opening costs are fully expensed in the year of opening and because Ñxed
costs, as a percentage of revenue, are higher. In addition, the substantial management time and resources
which our destination retail store expansion strategy requires may result in disruption to our existing
business operations which may harm our proÑtability.

Our continued retail expansion will result in a higher number of destination retail stores, which could

adversely aÅect the desirability of our destination retail stores and harm the operating results of our

retail business and reduce the revenues of our direct business.

As the number of our destination retail stores increases, our stores will become more highly
concentrated in the geographic regions we serve. As a result, the number of customers and related revenue
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at individual stores may decline and the average amount of sales per square foot at our stores may be
reduced. In addition, as we open more destination retail stores and as our competitors open stores with
similar formats, our destination retail store format may become less unique and may be less attractive to
customers as tourist and entertainment shopping locations. If either of these events occurs, the operating
results of our retail business could be adversely aÅected. The growth in the number of our destination
retail stores may also draw customers away from our direct business. If we are unable to properly manage
the relationship between our direct business and our retail business, the revenues of our direct business
could be adversely aÅected.

Our failure to successfully manage our direct business could have a material adverse eÅect on our

operating results and cash Öows.

During Ñscal 2004, our direct business accounted for 66% of the total revenue in our direct and retail
businesses. Our direct business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond
our control, including the following:

‚ our inability to properly adjust the Ñxed costs of a catalog mailing to reÖect subsequent sales of the
products marketed in the catalog;

‚ lower and less predictable response rates for catalogs sent to prospective customers;

‚ increases in U.S. Postal Service rates, paper costs and printing costs resulting in higher catalog
production costs and lower proÑts for our direct business;

‚ failures to properly design, print and mail our catalogs in a timely manner;

‚ failures to introduce new catalog titles;

‚ failures to timely Ñll customer orders;

‚ changes in consumer preferences, willingness to purchase goods through catalogs or the Internet,
weak economic conditions and economic uncertainty, and unseasonable weather in key geographic
markets;

‚ increases in software Ñlters that may inhibit our ability to market our products through e-mail
messages to our customers and increases in consumer privacy concerns relating to the Internet;

‚ changes in applicable federal and state regulation, such as the Federal Trade Commission Act, the
Children's Online Privacy Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act;

‚ breaches of Internet security; and

‚ failures in our Internet infrastructure or the failure of systems of third parties, such as telephone or
electric power service, resulting in website downtime, customer care center closures or other
problems.

Any one or more of these factors could result in lower-than-expected revenues for our direct business.
These factors could also result in increased costs, increased merchandise returns, slower turning
inventories, inventory write-downs and working capital constraints. Because our direct business accounts for
a signiÑcant portion of our total revenues, any performance shortcomings experienced by our direct
business would likely have a material adverse eÅect on our operating results and cash Öows.
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Intense competition in the outdoor recreation and casual apparel and footwear markets could reduce our

revenues and proÑtability.

The outdoor recreation and casual apparel and footwear markets are highly fragmented and
competitive. We compete directly or indirectly with the following categories of companies:

‚ other specialty retailers that compete with us across a signiÑcant portion of our merchandising
categories through direct or retail businesses, such as Bass Pro Shops, Gander Mountain, Orvis,
The Sportsman's Guide and Sportsman's Warehouse;

‚ large-format sporting goods stores and chains, such as The Sports Authority, Dick's Sporting Goods
and Big 5 Sporting Goods;

‚ mass merchandisers, warehouse clubs, discount stores and department stores, such as Wal-Mart and
Target; and

‚ casual outdoor apparel and footwear retailers, such as L.L. Bean, Land's End and REI.

Many of our competitors have a larger number of stores, and some of them have substantially greater
market presence, name recognition and Ñnancial, distribution, marketing and other resources, than we
have. In addition, if our competitors reduce their prices, we may have to reduce our prices in order to
compete. Furthermore, some of our competitors have been aggressively building new stores in locations
with high concentrations of our direct business customers. As a result of this competition, we may need to
spend more on advertising and promotion. Some of our mass merchandising competitors, such as Wal-
Mart, do not currently compete in many of the product lines we oÅer. If these competitors were to begin
oÅering a broader array of competing products, or if any of the other factors listed above occurred, our
revenues could be reduced or our costs could be increased, resulting in reduced proÑtability.

Our destination retail store expansion strategy may result in our direct business establishing nexus with

additional states which may cause our direct business to pay additional income and use taxes and have

an adverse eÅect on the proÑtability and cash Öows of our direct business.

As we open destination retail stores in additional states, state tax authorities may take the position
that our direct business is subject to the state's income and use tax laws. This could result in a signiÑcant
increase in the tax collection and payment obligations of our direct business which would reduce our
proÑtability and cash Öows of the direct business. These tax collection and payment obligations would
increase the total cost of our products to our customers. This increased cost could negatively aÅect the
sales of our direct business or cause us to reduce the underlying prices for the products sold through our
direct business. If either of these events occur, they would also have an adverse eÅect on the proÑtability
and cash Öows of our direct business.

We depend on vendors and service providers to operate our business and any disruption of their supply of

products and services could have an adverse impact on our revenues and proÑtability.

We depend on a number of vendors and service providers to operate our business, including:

‚ vendors to supply our merchandise in suÇcient quantities at competitive prices in a timely manner;

‚ outside printers and catalog production vendors to print and mail our catalogs and to convert our
catalogs to digital format for website posting;

‚ shipping companies, such as United Parcel Service, the U.S. Postal Service and common carriers,
for timely delivery of our catalogs, shipment of merchandise to our customers and delivery of
merchandise from our vendors to us and from our distribution centers to our destination retail
stores;

‚ telephone companies to provide telephone service to our in-house customer care centers;
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‚ communications providers to provide our Internet users with access to our website and a website
hosting service provider to host and manage our website; and

‚ software providers to provide software and related services to run our operating systems for our
direct and retail businesses.

Any disruption in these services could have a negative impact on our ability to market and sell our
products, and serve our customers. Our ten largest vendors collectively represented approximately 15.2% of
our total purchases in Ñscal 2004. If we are unable to acquire suitable merchandise or lose one or more
key vendors, we may not be able to oÅer products that are important to our merchandise assortment. We
are also subject to risks, such as the unavailability of raw materials, labor disputes, union organizing
activity, strikes, inclement weather, natural disasters, war and terrorism, and adverse general economic and
political conditions, that might limit our vendors' ability to provide us with quality merchandise on a
timely basis. We have no contractual arrangements providing for continued supply from our key vendors
and our vendors may discontinue selling to us at any time. We may not be able to develop relationships
with new vendors, and products from alternative sources, if any, may be of a lesser quality and more
expensive than those we currently purchase. Any delay or failure in oÅering products to our customers
could have an adverse impact on our revenues and proÑtability. In addition, if the cost of fuel continues to
rise or remains at current levels, the cost to deliver merchandise to the customers of our direct business
and from our distribution centers to our destination retail stores may rise which could have an adverse
impact on our proÑtability.

Political and economic uncertainty and unrest in foreign countries where our vendors are located could

adversely aÅect our operating results.

Approximately 57.5% of our merchandise is obtained directly from vendors located in foreign
countries, with approximately 35.3% of our merchandise being obtained from vendors located in China,
Taiwan and Japan. In addition, we believe that a signiÑcant portion of our other vendors obtain their
products from foreign countries that may also be subject to political and economic uncertainty. We are
subject to risks and uncertainties associated with changing economic and political conditions in foreign
countries where our vendors are located, such as:

‚ increased import duties, tariÅs, trade restrictions and quotas;

‚ work stoppages;

‚ economic uncertainties (including inÖation);

‚ adverse foreign government regulations;

‚ wars, fears of war and terrorist attacks and organizing activities;

‚ adverse Öuctuations of foreign currencies; and

‚ political unrest.

We cannot predict when, or the extent to which, the countries in which our products are
manufactured will experience any of the above events. Any event causing a disruption or delay of imports
from foreign locations, would likely increase the cost or reduce the supply of merchandise available to us
and would adversely aÅect our operating results, particularly if imports of our private label merchandise
were adversely aÅected as our margins are higher on our private label merchandise.

Due to the seasonality of our business, our annual operating results would be adversely aÅected if our

revenues during the third and fourth Ñscal quarters were substantially below expectations.

We experience seasonal Öuctuations in our revenues and operating results. Historically, we have
realized a signiÑcant portion of our revenues and substantially all of our earnings for the year during the
third and fourth Ñscal quarters, with a majority of the revenues and earnings for these quarters realized in
the fourth Ñscal quarter. In Ñscal 2004, we generated 24.7% and 37.2% of our revenues, and 25.4% and
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59.1% of our net income, in the third and fourth Ñscal quarters, respectively. We incur signiÑcant
additional expenses in the third and fourth Ñscal quarters due to higher customer purchase volumes and
increased staÇng. If we miscalculate the demand for our products generally or for our product mix during
these two quarters, our revenues could decline, which would harm our Ñnancial performance. In addition,
abnormally warm weather conditions during the third and fourth Ñscal quarters can reduce sales of many
of the products normally sold during this time period and inclement weather can reduce store traÇc or
cause us to temporarily close stores causing a reduction in revenues. Because a substantial portion of our
operating income is derived from our third and fourth Ñscal quarter revenues, a shortfall in expected third
and fourth Ñscal quarter revenues would cause our annual operating results to suÅer signiÑcantly.

A decline in discretionary consumer spending could reduce our revenues.

Our revenues depend on discretionary consumer spending, which may decrease due to a variety of
factors beyond our control, including:

‚ unfavorable general business conditions;

‚ increases in interest rates;

‚ increases in inÖation;

‚ war, terrorism or fears of war or terrorism;

‚ increases in consumer debt levels and decreases in the availability of consumer credit;

‚ adverse or unseasonable weather conditions;

‚ adverse changes in applicable laws and regulations;

‚ increases in taxation;

‚ adverse unemployment trends; and

‚ other factors that adversely inÖuence consumer conÑdence and spending.

Our customers' purchases of discretionary items, including our products, could decline during periods
when disposable income is lower or periods of actual or perceived unfavorable economic conditions. If this
occurs, our revenues would decline.

If we lose key management or are unable to attract and retain the talent required for our business, our

operating results could suÅer.

Our future success depends to a signiÑcant degree on the skills, experience and eÅorts of Dennis
Highby, our President and Chief Executive OÇcer, and other key personnel including our senior executive
management and merchandising teams. With the exception of our Chairman, Richard N. Cabela, and our
Vice Chairman, James W. Cabela, none of our senior management or directors have employment
agreements other than our Management Change of Control Severance Agreements. We do not carry key-
man life insurance on any of our executives or key management personnel. In addition, our corporate
headquarters is located in a sparsely populated rural area which may make it diÇcult to attract and retain
qualiÑed individuals for key management positions. The loss of the services of any of these individuals or
the inability to attract and retain qualiÑed individuals for our key management positions could cause our
operating results to suÅer.

Our business depends on our ability to meet our labor needs and if we are unable to do so, our

destination retail store expansion strategy may be delayed and our revenue growth may suÅer.

Our success depends on hiring, training, managing and retaining quality managers, sales associates and
employees in our destination retail stores and customer care centers. Our corporate headquarters,
distribution centers, return center and some of our destination retail stores are located in sparsely
populated rural areas. It may be diÇcult to attract and retain qualiÑed personnel, especially management
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and technical personnel, in these areas. Competition for qualiÑed management and technical employees
could require us to pay higher wages or grant above market levels of stock compensation to attract a
suÇcient number of employees. If we are unable to attract and retain qualiÑed personnel as needed, the
implementation of our destination retail store expansion strategy may be delayed and our revenue growth
may suÅer.

Our use tax collection policy for our direct business may expose us to the risk that we may be assessed

for unpaid use taxes which would harm our operating results and cash Öows.

Many states have attempted to require that out-of-state direct marketers, whose only contacts with
the state are solicitations and delivery to their residents of products purchased through the mail or the
Internet, collect use taxes on the sale of these products. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that these
states, absent congressional legislation, may not impose tax collection obligations on out-of-state direct
marketers unless the out-of-state direct marketer has created nexus with the state. Nexus generally is
created by the physical presence of the direct marketer, its agents or its property within the state. Our use
tax collection policy for our direct business is to collect and remit use tax in states where our direct
business has established nexus. Prior to the opening of a destination retail store, we have historically
sought a private letter ruling from the state in which the store will be located as to whether our direct
business will have nexus with that state as a result of the store opening. Some states have enacted
legislation that requires use tax collection by direct marketers with no physical presence in that state. In
some instances, the legislation assumes nexus exists because of the physical presence of an aÇliated entity
engaged in the same line of business. We expect that we will challenge the application of this legislation to
us but we may not prevail. Also, if Congress enacts legislation permitting states to impose these use tax
collection obligations, if the U.S. Supreme Court modiÑes or reverses its position or if we are otherwise
required to collect and remit additional use taxes by state tax authorities, we could be subject to
assessments, penalties and interest for unremitted use taxes, and demands for prospective collection and
remittance of these taxes in amounts which could be material. If any of these events occur, they may have
a material adverse eÅect on our operating results and cash Öows.

We must successfully order and manage our inventory to reÖect customer demand and anticipate

changing consumer preferences and buying trends or our revenues and proÑtability will be adversely

aÅected.

Our success depends upon our ability to successfully manage our inventory and to anticipate and
respond to merchandise trends and customer demands in a timely manner. We cannot predict consumer
preferences with certainty and they may change over time. We usually must order merchandise well in
advance of the applicable selling season. The extended lead times for many of our purchases may make it
diÇcult for us to respond rapidly to new or changing product trends or changes in prices. If we misjudge
either the market for our merchandise or our customers' purchasing habits, our revenues may decline
signiÑcantly and we may not have suÇcient quantities of merchandise to satisfy customer demand or we
may be required to mark down excess inventory, either of which would result in lower proÑt margins. In
addition, as we implement our destination retail store expansion strategy, we will need to construct
additional distribution centers or expand the size of our existing distribution centers to support our growing
number of destination retail stores. If we are unable to Ñnd suitable locations for new distribution centers
or to timely integrate new or expanded distribution centers into our inventory control process, we may not
be able to deliver inventory to our destination retail stores in a timely manner which could have an adverse
eÅect on the revenues and cash Öows of our retail business.

A natural disaster or other disruption at our distribution centers or return facility could cause us to lose

merchandise and be unable to eÅectively deliver to our direct customers and destination retail stores.

We currently rely on distribution centers in Sidney, Nebraska, Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin, Mitchell,
South Dakota and Wheeling, West Virginia to handle our distribution needs. We also operate a return
center in Oshkosh, Nebraska. Any natural disaster or other serious disruption to these centers due to Ñre,
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tornado or any other calamity could damage a signiÑcant portion of our inventory, and materially impair
our ability to adequately stock our destination retail stores, deliver merchandise to customers and process
returns to vendors and could result in lost revenues, increased costs and reduced proÑts.

We are planning substantial systems changes in support of our direct business and destination retail

store expansion that might disrupt our supply chain operations.

Our success depends on our ability to source merchandise eÇciently through appropriate management
information and operational systems and procedures. We are planning modiÑcations to our technology that
will involve updating or replacing our systems with successor systems during the course of several years,
including changes to the sortation systems at our distribution centers, updating of the space planning and
labor scheduling software for our destination retail stores and improvements to our customer relationship
management system. There are inherent risks associated with replacing or modifying these systems,
including supply chain disruptions that could aÅect our ability to deliver products to our stores and our
customers. We may be unable to successfully launch these new systems, the launch of these new systems
could result in supply chain disruptions or the actual cost may exceed the estimated cost of these new
systems, each of which could have an adverse eÅect on our revenues and proÑtability.

Our failure to obtain or negotiate economic development packages with local and state governments

could cause us to signiÑcantly alter our destination retail store strategy or format and/or delay the

construction of one or more of our destination retail stores and could adversely aÅect our revenues, cash

Öows and proÑtability.

We have received economic development packages from many of the local and state governments
where our destination retail stores are located. In some locations, we have experienced an increased
amount of government and citizen resistance and critical review of pending and existing economic
development packages. This resistance and critical review may cause local and state government oÇcials in
future locations to deny or limit economic development packages that might otherwise be available to us.
The failure to obtain similar economic development packages in the future for any of these reasons could
cause us to signiÑcantly alter our destination retail store strategy or format. As a result, we could be forced
to invest less capital in our stores which could have an adverse eÅect on our ability to construct the stores
as attractive tourist and entertainment shopping destinations, possibly leading to a decrease in revenues or
revenue growth. In addition, the failure to obtain similar economic development packages for stores built
in the future would have an adverse impact on our cash Öows and on the return on investment in these
stores.

The failure of properties to generate suÇcient taxes to amortize economic development bonds owned by

us that relate to the development of such properties would have an adverse impact on our cash Öows and

proÑtability.

We often purchase economic development bonds issued by state or local governmental entities in
connection with the development of our destination retail stores. The proceeds of these bonds are then
used to fund the construction and equipping of new destination retail stores and related infrastructure
development. The repayments of principal and interest on these bonds are typically tied to sales, property
or lodging taxes generated from the related destination retail store and, in some cases, from other
businesses in the surrounding area, over periods which range between 20 and 30 years. However, the
governmental entity from which we purchase the bonds is not otherwise liable for repayment of principal
and interest on the bonds to the extent that the associated taxes are insuÇcient to pay the bonds. At the
time we purchase these bonds, we make estimates of the discounted future cash Öow streams they are
expected to generate in the form of interest and principal payments. Because these cash Öows are based
primarily on future property or sales tax collections at our destination retail stores and other facilities
(which in many cases may not be operating at the time we make our estimates), these estimates are
inherently subjective and the probability of ultimate realization is highly uncertain. If suÇcient tax revenue
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is not generated by the subject properties, we will not receive the full amount of the expected payments
due under the bonds which would have an adverse impact on our cash Öows and proÑtability.

Our failure to comply with the terms of current economic development agreements could result in our

repayment of grant money or other adverse consequences that would aÅect our cash Öows and

proÑtability.

The economic development packages which we have received in connection with the construction of
our current stores have, in some instances, contained forfeiture provisions and other remedies in the event
we do not fully comply with the terms of the economic development agreements. Among the terms which
could trigger these remedies are the failure to maintain certain employment and wage levels, failure to
timely open and operate a destination retail store and failure to develop property adjacent to a destination
retail store. As of the end of Ñscal, 2004, the total amount of grant funding subject to repayment pursuant
to a speciÑc contractual remedy was $17.7 million. Portions of three of our destination retail stores, such
as wildlife displays and museums, are subject to forfeiture provisions. In addition, there are 35.2 acres of
undeveloped property subject to forfeiture. Other remedies that have been included in some economic
development agreements are loss of priority to tax payments supporting the repayment of bonds held by us.
Where speciÑc remedies are not set forth, the local governments would be entitled to pursue general
contract remedies. A default by us under these economic development agreements could have an adverse
eÅect on our cash Öows and proÑtability.

We may incur costs from litigation or increased regulation relating to products that we sell, particularly

tree stands and Ñrearms, which could adversely aÅect our revenues and proÑtability.

We may incur damages due to lawsuits relating to products we sell. Since the beginning of 2001, we
have been named as a defendant in 66 product liability lawsuits, including 20 lawsuits which allege that
tree stands we sold failed and caused physical injuries. Tree stands are seating platforms used by hunters
to elevate themselves in a tree. We are currently a defendant in 6 lawsuits relating to tree stands. In
addition, sales of Ñrearms and ammunition represented approximately 4.8% of our merchandise revenues
during Ñscal 2004. We may incur losses due to lawsuits, including potential class actions, relating to our
performance of background checks on Ñrearms purchases and compliance with other sales laws as
mandated by state and federal law. We may also incur losses from lawsuits relating to the improper use of
Ñrearms or ammunition sold by us, including lawsuits by municipalities or other organizations attempting
to recover costs from manufacturers and retailers of Ñrearms and ammunition. Our insurance coverage and
the insurance provided by our vendors for certain products they sell to us may be inadequate to cover
claims and liabilities related to products that we sell. In addition, claims or lawsuits related to products
that we sell or the unavailability of insurance for product liability claims, could result in the elimination of
these products from our product line reducing revenues. If one or more successful claims against us are
not covered by or exceed our insurance coverage, or if insurance coverage is no longer available, our
available working capital may be impaired and our operating results could be adversely aÅected. Even
unsuccessful claims could result in the expenditure of funds and management time and could have a
negative impact on our proÑtability and on future premiums we would be required to pay on our insurance
policies.

Current and future government regulation may negatively impact demand for our products and our

ability to conduct our business.

Federal, state and local laws and regulations can aÅect our business and the demand for products.
These laws and regulations include:

‚ Federal Trade Commission regulations governing the manner in which orders may be solicited and
prescribing other obligations in fulÑlling orders and consummating sales;

‚ laws and regulations that prohibit or limit the sale, in certain states and localities, of certain items
we oÅer such as Ñrearms, black powder Ñrearms, ammunition, bows, knives and similar products;
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‚ The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives governing the manner in which we sell
Ñrearms and ammunition;

‚ laws and regulations governing hunting and Ñshing;

‚ laws and regulations relating to the collecting and sharing of non-public customer information; and

‚ U.S. customs laws and regulations pertaining to proper item classiÑcation, quotas, payment of duties
and tariÅs, and maintenance of documentation and internal control programs which relate to
importing taxidermy which we display in our destination retail stores.

Changes in these laws and regulations or additional regulation could cause the demand for and sales
of our products to decrease. Moreover, complying with increased or changed regulations could cause our
operating expenses to increase. This could adversely aÅect our revenues and proÑtability.

Our inability or failure to protect our intellectual property could have a negative impact on our operating

results.

Our trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade secrets, domain names and other intellectual
property are valuable assets that are critical to our success. EÅective trademark and other intellectual
property protection may not be available in every country in which our products are made available. The
unauthorized reproduction or other misappropriation of our intellectual property could diminish the value
of our brands or goodwill and cause a decline in our revenues. Any infringement or other intellectual
property claim made against us, whether or not it has merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly
litigation, cause product delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. As a result, any
such claim could have an adverse eÅect on our operating results.

Failure to successfully integrate any business we acquire could have an adverse impact on our

proÑtability.

We may from time to time acquire businesses which we believe to be complementary to our business.
Acquisitions may result in diÇculties in assimilating acquired companies and may result in the diversion of
our capital and our management's attention from other business issues and opportunities. We may not be
able to successfully integrate operations that we acquire, including their personnel, Ñnancial systems,
distribution, operations and general operating procedures. If we fail to successfully integrate acquisitions,
we could experience increased costs associated with operating ineÇciencies which could have an adverse
eÅect on our proÑtability.

Risks Related to Our Financial Services Business

We may experience limited availability of Ñnancing or variation in funding costs for our Ñnancial

services business, which could limit growth of the business and decrease our proÑtability.

Our Ñnancial services business requires a signiÑcant amount of cash to operate. These cash
requirements will increase if our credit card originations increase or if our cardholders' balances or
spending increase. Historically, we have relied upon external Ñnancing sources to fund these operations,
and we intend to continue to access external sources to fund our growth. A number of factors such as our
Ñnancial results and losses, changes within our organization, disruptions in the capital markets, our
corporate and regulatory structure, interest rate Öuctuations, general economic conditions and accounting
and regulatory changes and relations could make such Ñnancing more diÇcult or impossible to obtain or
more expensive.

We have been, and will continue to be, particularly reliant on funding from securitization transactions
for our Ñnancial services business. Securitization funding sources include both a commercial paper conduit
facility and Ñxed and Öoating rate term securitizations. Our commercial paper conduit facility expires in
March of 2005 and our Ñrst term securitization expires in November of 2006. A failure to renew this
facility, to resecuritize the term securitizations as they mature or to add additional commercial paper
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conduit capacity on favorable terms as it becomes necessary could increase our Ñnancing costs and
potentially limit our ability to grow our Ñnancial services business. Unfavorable conditions in the asset-
backed securities markets generally, including the unavailability of commercial bank liquidity support or
credit enhancements, such as Ñnancial guaranty insurance, could have a similar eÅect.

Furthermore, even if we are able to securitize our credit card receivables consistent with past practice,
poor performance of our securitized receivables, including increased delinquencies and credit losses, lower
payment rates or a decrease in excess spreads below certain thresholds, could result in a downgrade or
withdrawal of the ratings on the outstanding securities issued in our securitization transactions, cause early
amortization of these securities or result in higher required credit enhancement levels. This could
jeopardize our ability to complete other securitization transactions on acceptable terms, decrease our
liquidity and force us to rely on other potentially more expensive funding sources, to the extent available,
which would decrease our proÑtability.

We may have to reallocate capital from our direct and retail businesses to meet the capital needs of our

Ñnancial services business, which could alter our destination retail store expansion program.

Our bank subsidiary must satisfy the capital maintenance requirements of government regulators and
its agreement with VISA International, Inc., or VISA. A variety of factors could cause the capital
requirements of our bank subsidiary to exceed our ability to generate capital internally or from third party
sources. For example, government regulators or VISA could unilaterally increase their minimum capital
requirements. Also, we have signiÑcant potential obligations in the form of the unused credit lines of our
cardholders. As of the end of Ñscal 2004, these unfunded amounts were approximately $6.0 billion. Draws
on these lines of credit could materially exceed predicted line usage. In addition, the occurrence of certain
events, such as signiÑcant defaults in payment of securitized receivables or failure to comply with the
terms of securitization covenants, may cause previously completed securitization transactions to amortize
earlier than scheduled or be reclassiÑed as a liability for Ñnancial accounting purposes, both of which
would have a signiÑcant eÅect on our ability to meet the capital maintenance requirements of our bank
subsidiary, as aÅected oÅ-balance sheet loans would immediately be recorded on our consolidated balance
sheet and would be subject to regulatory capital requirements. If any of these factors occur, we may have
to contribute capital to our bank subsidiary, which may require us to raise additional debt or equity capital
and/or divert capital from our direct and retail businesses, which in turn could signiÑcantly alter our
destination retail store expansion strategy.

It may be diÇcult to sustain the historical growth and proÑtability of our Ñnancial services business, and

we will be subject to various risks as we attempt to grow the business.

We may not be able to retain existing cardholders, grow account balances or attract new cardholders
and the proÑts from our Ñnancial services business could decline, for a variety of reasons, many of which
are beyond our control, including:

‚ credit risk related to the loans we make to cardholders and the charge-oÅ levels of our credit card
accounts;

‚ lack of growth of potential new customers generated by our direct and retail businesses;

‚ liquidity and funding risk relating to our ability to create the liquidity necessary to extend credit to
our cardholders and provide the capital necessary to meet the requirements of government
regulators and VISA; and

‚ operational risk related to our ability to acquire the necessary operational and organizational
infrastructure, manage expenses as we expand, and recruit management and operations personnel
with the experience to run an increasingly complex and highly regulated business.
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Economic downturns and social and other factors could cause our credit card charge-oÅs and

delinquencies to increase, which would decrease our proÑtability.

Economic downturns generally lead to increased charge-oÅs and credit losses in the consumer Ñnance
industry, which would cause us to experience increased charge-oÅs and delinquencies in our credit card
receivables portfolio. An economic downturn can hurt our Ñnancial performance as cardholders default on
their balances or carry lower balances. A variety of social and other factors also may cause changes in
credit card use, payment patterns and the rate of defaults by cardholders. These social factors include
changes in consumer conÑdence levels, the public's perception of the use of credit cards, changing
attitudes about incurring debt and the stigma of personal bankruptcy. Additionally, credit card accounts
tend to exhibit a rising trend in credit loss and delinquency rates between 18 to 30 months after they are
issued. If the rate of growth in new account generation slows, the proportion of accounts in the portfolio
that have been open for between 18 to 30 months will increase and the percentage of charge-oÅs and
delinquencies may increase. Our underwriting criteria and product design may be insuÇcient to protect the
growth and proÑtability of our Ñnancial services business during a sustained period of economic downturn
or recession or a material shift in social attitudes, and may be insuÇcient to protect against these
additional negative factors.

The performance of our Ñnancial services business may be negatively aÅected by the performance of our

merchandising businesses.

Negative developments in our direct and retail businesses could aÅect our ability to grow or maintain
our Ñnancial services business. We believe our ability to maintain cardholders and attract new cardholders
is highly correlated with customer loyalty to our merchandising businesses and to the strength of the
Cabela's brand. In addition, transactions on cardholder accounts produce loyalty points which the
cardholder may apply to future purchases from us. Adverse changes in the desirability of products we sell,
negative trends in retail customer service and satisfaction or the termination or modiÑcation of the loyalty
program could have a negative impact on our bank subsidiary's ability to grow its account base and to
attract desirable co-branding opportunities with third parties.

Changes in interest rates could have a negative impact on our earnings.

In connection with our Ñnancial services business, we borrow money from institutions and accept
funds by issuing certiÑcates of deposit, which we then lend to cardholders. We earn interest on the
cardholders' account balances, and pay interest on the certiÑcates of deposit and borrowings we use to fund
those loans. Changes in these two interest rates aÅect the value of the assets and liabilities of our Ñnancial
services business. If the rate of interest we pay on borrowings increases more (or more rapidly) than the
rate of interest we earn on loans, our net interest income, and therefore our earnings, could fall. Our
earnings could also be adversely aÅected if the rates on our credit card account balances fall more quickly
than those on our borrowings. In addition, as of Ñscal year end 2004, approximately 39.6% of our
cardholders did not maintain balances on their credit card accounts. We do not earn any interest from
these accounts but do earn other fees from these accounts such as VISA interchange fees. In the event
interest rates rise, the spread between the interest rate we pay on our borrowings and the fees we earn
from these accounts may change and our proÑtability may be adversely aÅected.

Fluctuations in the value of our interests in our securitizations relating to our Ñnancial services business

may adversely aÅect our earnings.

In connection with our securitizations relating to our Ñnancial services business, we retain certain
interests in the assets included in the securitization. These interests are carried in our consolidated
Ñnancial statements at fair value and include our retained interest, or a ""transferor interest,'' in the
securitized receivables, an ""interest only strip'' which represents our right to receive excess cash available
after repayment of all amounts due to the investors, and in some cases Class B certiÑcates which are
subordinate to the investors certiÑcates. See ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations Ì Liquidity and Capital Resources Ì Credit Card Loan Receivable
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Securitizations'' and Note 2 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements. The fair value of these retained
interests depends upon income earned on these interests which is aÅected by many factors not within our
control, including the performance of the securitized loans, interest paid to the holders of securitization
securities, credit losses and transaction expenses. The value of our interests in the securitizations will vary
over time as the amount of receivables in the securitized pool and the performance of those loans
Öuctuate. The performance of the loans included in our securitizations is subject to the same risks and
uncertainties that aÅect the loans that we have not securitized, including, among others, increased
delinquencies and credit losses, economic downturns and social factors, interest rate Öuctuations, changes
in government policies and regulations, competition, expenses, dependence upon third-party vendors,
Öuctuations in accounts and account balances, and industry risks.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to interest rate risk through our bank's operations and, to a lesser extent, through our
merchandising operations. We also are exposed to foreign currency risk through our merchandising
operations.

Financial Services Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk refers to changes in earnings or the net present value of assets and oÅ-balance sheet
positions less liabilities (termed ""economic value of equity'') due to interest rate changes. To the extent
that interest income collected on managed receivables and interest expense do not respond equally to
changes in interest rates, or that rates do not change uniformly, securitization earnings and economic value
of equity could be aÅected. Our net interest income on managed receivables is aÅected primarily by
changes in short term interest rate indices such as LIBOR and prime rate, as variable rate card
receivables, securitization certiÑcates and notes and corporate debts are indexed to LIBOR-based rates of
interest and are periodically repriced. We manage and mitigate our interest rate sensitivity through several
techniques, but primarily by modifying the contract terms with our cardholders, including interest rates
charged, in response to changing market conditions. Additional techniques we use include managing the
maturity, repricing and distribution of assets and liabilities by issuing Ñxed rate securitization certiÑcates
and notes and by entering into interest rate swaps to hedge our Ñxed rate exposure from interest strips.
The table below shows the mix of account balances at each interest rate at Ñscal year end 2004, 2003 and
2002.

Fiscal Year

2004 2003 2002

As a percentage of total balances outstanding

Balances carrying interest rate based upon the national prime lending rateÏÏ 57.2% 58.1% 57.3%

Balances carrying an interest rate of 9.99% ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.1% 3.8% 4.6%

Balances not carrying interest because their previous month's balance was
paid in full ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 39.6% 38.1% 38.0%

Charges on the credit cards issued by our Financial Services segment are priced at a margin over the
deÑned national prime lending rate, subject to certain interest rate Öoors, except purchases of Cabela's
merchandise, certain other charges and balance transfer programs, which are Ñnanced at a Ñxed interest
rate of 9.99%. No interest is charged if the account is paid in full within 20 days of the billing cycle.

Management has performed an interest rate gap analysis to measure the eÅects of the timing of the
repricing of our interest sensitive assets and liabilities. Based on this analysis, we believe that if there had
been an immediate 100 basis point, or 1.0%, increase in the market rates for which our assets and
liabilities were indexed during Ñscal 2004, our operating results would not have been materially aÅected.
Management has also performed an interest rate gap analysis to measure the eÅects of a change in the
spread between the prime interest rate and the LIBOR interest rate. Based on this analysis, we believe
that an immediate 50 basis point, or 0.5%, decrease or increase in this spread would cause an increase or
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decrease of $3.2 million on the pre-tax income of our Financial Services segment, which could have a
material eÅect on our operating results.

Merchandising Interest Rate Risk

Two of our economic development bond agreements are priced at a variable interest rate. One is tied
to the LIBOR rate and one is tied to the prime rate. In 2004, changes in these rates decreased our interest
income by approximately $0.1 million. We do not think these interest rate changes will have a material
impact on our operations.

The interest payable on our line of credit is based on variable interest rates and therefore aÅected by
changes in market interest rates. If interest rates on existing variable rate debt rose 1%, our results from
operations and cash Öows would not be materially aÅected.

Foreign Currency Risk

We purchase a signiÑcant amount of inventory from vendors outside of the U.S. in transactions that
are primarily U.S. dollar transactions. A small percentage of our international purchase transactions are in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Any currency risks related to these transactions are immaterial to us.
A decline in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to other foreign currencies could, however, lead to
increased merchandise costs.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information under the heading ""Quarterly Results of Operations and Seasonal InÖuences'' in
Item 7 of Part II of this report under ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations'' is incorporated herein by reference.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cabela's Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Sidney, Nebraska

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cabela's Incorporated and
Subsidiaries (the ""Company'') as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended
January 1, 2005. These Ñnancial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these Ñnancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
Ñnancial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over Ñnancial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the eÅectiveness of the Company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and signiÑcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall Ñnancial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated Ñnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
Ñnancial position of Cabela's Incorporated and Subsidiaries as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004,
and the results of their operations and their cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended
January 1, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Omaha, Nebraska
March 18, 2005
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CABELA'S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollar amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts)

January 1, January 3,
2005 2004

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 248,184 $192,581
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,483 at January 1, 2005, and $1,894 at

January 3, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 33,524 32,826
Credit card loans held for sale (Note 2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64,019 28,013
Credit card loans receivable, net of allowance of $65 at January 1, 2005 (Note 2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,209 Ì
Inventories ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 313,002 262,763
Prepaid expenses and deferred catalog costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,294 31,035
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,240 1,122
Other current assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31,015 33,291

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 728,487 581,631

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Note 3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 294,141 264,991

OTHER ASSETS:
Intangible assets, net (Note 4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,555 4,252
Land held for sale or development ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,153 9,240
Retained interests in securitized receivables (Note 2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,723 20,864
Marketable securities (Note 5) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 145,587 72,632
Investment in equity and cost method investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 830 4,266
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,755 5,677

Total other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 205,603 116,931

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,228,231 $963,553

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 100,826 $ 91,524
Unpresented checks net of bank balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34,653 36,788
Accrued expenses and other liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50,264 42,939
Gift certiÑcates and credit card reward points ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 97,242 80,570
Accrued employee compensation and beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 54,925 58,217
Time deposits (Note 6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,953 12,900
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 8) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,327 3,013
Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,551 27,100

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 453,741 353,051

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt, less current maturities (Note 8) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 119,825 139,638
Long-term time deposits (Note 6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 51,706 68,764
Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,614 7,248
Deferred grant incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,366 5,552
Deferred income taxes (Note 10) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,625 16,785

Total long-term liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 208,136 237,987

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 12 and 19)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY: (Notes 15 and 17)
Common stock, $0.01 par value:

Class A Voting, 245,000,000 shares authorized; 56,494,975 and 41,677,228 shares issued and
outstanding at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 566 417

Class B Non-voting, 245,000,000 shares authorized; 8,073,205 and 14,927,582 shares issued and
outstanding at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 80 149

Preferred stock, 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstandingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì
Additional paid-in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 236,198 109,437
Retained earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 326,794 261,798
Accumulated other comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,716 714

Total stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 566,354 372,515

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,228,231 $963,553

See notes to consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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CABELA'S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollar amounts in thousands except per share and share amounts)

2004 2003 2002

REVENUES:

Merchandise sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,469,720 $ 1,331,534 $ 1,173,590

Financial services revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 78,104 58,278 46,387

Other revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,150 2,611 4,604

Total revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,555,974 1,392,423 1,224,581

COST OF REVENUE:

Cost of merchandise salesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 918,206 826,869 735,269

Cost of other revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,459 659 176

Total cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 925,665 827,528 735,445

GROSS PROFIT ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 630,309 564,895 489,136

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENSESÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 533,094 479,964 413,135

OPERATING INCOMEÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 97,215 84,931 76,001

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Interest incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 601 408 443

Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,178) (11,158) (8,413)

Other income, net (Note 9)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,443 5,612 4,708

2,866 (5,138) (3,262)

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 100,081 79,793 72,739

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Note 10)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,085 28,402 25,817

NET INCOME ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 64,996 $ 51,391 $ 46,922

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 16):

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.06 $ 0.99 $ 0.94

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.03 $ 0.93 $ 0.88

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING
(Note 16):

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 61,277,352 52,059,926 49,899,203

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63,277,400 55,306,294 53,399,546

See notes to consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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CABELA'S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands Except Share Amounts)

Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Comprehensive
Stock Shares Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Total Income

BALANCE, Beginning of Ñscal year 2002 49,899,203 $ 499 $ 47,926 $163,485 $ 165 $ 212,075
Comprehensive income (Note 17):

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 46,922 Ì 46,922 $46,922
Unrealized gains on marketable

securities, net of taxes of $357 ÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 622 622 622
Derivative adjustment, net of taxes of

$(26) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (46) (46) (46)

Total comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏ $47,498

Repurchase of common stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (12,845) Ì (129) Ì Ì (129)
Exercise of employee stock options ÏÏÏÏ 12,845 Ì 63 Ì Ì 63
Tax beneÑt of employee stock option

exercises ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 23 Ì Ì 23

BALANCE, End of Ñscal year 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏ 49,899,203 499 47,883 210,407 741 259,530
Comprehensive income (Note 17):

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 51,391 Ì 51,391 $51,391
Unrealized loss on marketable

securities, net of taxes of $(160) ÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (265) (265) (265)
Derivative adjustment, net of taxes of

$127 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 238 238 238

Total comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏ $51,364

Issuance of common stock, net of
transaction costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,594,555 146 197,577 Ì Ì 197,723

Repurchase of common stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11,106,118) (111) (151,758) Ì Ì (151,869)
Exercise of employee stock options ÏÏÏÏ 3,217,170 32 11,981 Ì Ì 12,013
Tax beneÑt of employee stock option

exercises ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 3,754 Ì Ì 3,754

BALANCE, End of Ñscal year 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏ 56,604,810 566 109,437 261,798 714 372,515
Comprehensive income (Note 17):

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 64,996 Ì 64,996 $64,996
Unrealized gain on marketable

securities, net of taxes of $1,216ÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì 2,207 2,207 2,207
Derivative adjustment, net of taxes of

$(113) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (205) (205) (205)

Total comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏ $66,998

Issuance of common stock, net of
transaction costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,250,000 63 114,156 Ì Ì 114,219

Repurchase of common stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (95,420) (1) (1,272) Ì Ì (1,273)
Stock based compensation (Note 15) ÏÏ Ì Ì 1,674 Ì Ì 1,674
Employee stock purchase plan issuances 22,824 Ì 494 494
Exercise of employee stock options ÏÏÏÏ 1,785,966 18 9,747 Ì Ì 9,765
Tax beneÑt of employee stock option

exercises ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 1,962 Ì Ì 1,962

BALANCE, End of Ñscal year 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏ 64,568,180 $ 646 $ 236,198 $326,794 $2,716 $ 566,354

See notes to consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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CABELA'S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

2004 2003 2002

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 64,996 $ 51,391 $ 46,922
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash Öows from operating activities:

Depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,385 25,509 21,189
Amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,458 1,206 2,350
Stock based compensationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,674 Ì Ì
Equity in undistributed net (earnings) losses of equity method investeeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (532) 86 82
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,379) 8,674 124
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,067) 3,442 277
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,749) (3,554) (9,570)
Proceeds from new securitizations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 169,000 206,000 165,000
Origination of credit card loans held for sale, net of collectionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (205,006) (192,455) (174,281)
InventoriesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (50,239) (44,864) (31,502)
Prepaid expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (259) (2,007) (1,788)
Other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,966 (10,131) (3,680)
Land held for sale or development ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,875) (3,092) (1,636)
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,302 4,704 5,257
Accrued expenses and other liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,985 19,831 3,885
Gift certiÑcates and credit card reward points ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,672 17,826 14,593
Accrued compensation and beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,209) 16,811 (4,688)
Income taxes payableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,413 (1,726) 7,340
Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,116 (773) 6,005
Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,366 (29,642) 9,813

Net cash Öows from operating activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47,018 67,236 55,692

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expendituresÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (52,568) (72,972) (53,387)
(Investment in) distribution from equity and cost method investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,145 182 (32)
Proceeds from sale of cost method investment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,755 Ì Ì
Purchases of intangiblesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,761) (267) (3,983)
Purchases of marketable securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (74,492) (18,201) (32,821)
Change in credit card loans receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,313) Ì Ì
Change in retained interests ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,859) (6,983) (895)
Maturities of marketable securitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,959 2,596 1,768
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (36) 1,927 4,840

Net cash Öows from investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (127,170) (93,718) (84,510)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Advances on line of creditÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 53,106 117,023 368,516
Payments on line of creditÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (53,106) (117,023) (368,516)
Change in unpresented checks net of bank balance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,135) (1,905) (3,468)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 98 61 125,605
Payments on long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,325) (18,862) (27,119)
Change in time deposits, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,995 12,224 1,185
Net (decrease) increase in employee savings planÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,083) (8,958) 1,562
Issuance of common stock for initial public oÅering, net of transaction costs of $3,343 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 114,219 Ì Ì
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options and stock purchase plan, and

recapitalization (Note 17)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,259 209,736 63
Repurchase of common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,273) (151,869) (129)

Net cash Öows from Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 135,755 40,427 97,699

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,603 13,945 68,881
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Beginning of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 192,581 178,636 109,755

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 248,184 $ 192,581 $ 178,636

See notes to consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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CABELA'S INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business Ì Cabela's Incorporated is the World's Foremost OutÑtter» of hunting, Ñshing
and outdoor gear. The Company is a retailer and direct merchant, oÅering its products through regular and
special catalog mailings, the Internet and ten retail stores located in Nebraska, Kansas, Minnesota, South
Dakota, Michigan, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania and West Virginia. The Company's products are sold
throughout the United States as well as many foreign countries. On January 8, 2004, the Company
incorporated in the state of Delaware; previously the Company was incorporated in Nebraska.

Principles of Consolidation Ì The consolidated Ñnancial statements include the accounts of Cabela's»
Incorporated and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the ""Company''). All material intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.

World's Foremost Bank (""WFB''), a wholly-owned bank subsidiary, is a limited purpose bank formed
under the Competitive Equality Banking Act (""CEBA'') of 1987. Due to the limited nature of its charter,
WFB's lending activities are limited to credit card lending and the bank's deposit issuance is limited to
time deposits of at least one hundred thousand dollars. During 2003, WFB converted from a national
chartered bank to a state chartered bank.

Initial Public OÅering Ì On June 30, 2004, the Company closed its initial public oÅering of
6,250,000 shares of common stock, resulting in proceeds of $114,219, net of underwriting discounts and
other expenses. The Company used $38,088 of the net proceeds to repay the outstanding balance on its
open line of credit. The remaining amount was used for capital expenditures and the purchase of economic
development bonds related to the construction and opening of new destination retail stores. Transaction
costs of $3,343 were recognized as a reduction to the proceeds.

Reporting Year Ì The Company's Ñscal year ends on the Saturday nearest December 31. Unless
otherwise stated, references to years in this report relate to Ñscal years rather than to calendar years.

Fiscal Year Ended Weeks

2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ January 1, 2005 52

2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ January 3, 2004 53

2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ December 28, 2002 52

WFB's Ñscal year ends on December 31.

Revenue Recognition Ì Revenue is recognized for retail sales at the time of the sale in the store and
for direct sales when the merchandise is delivered to the customer. The Company records a reserve for
estimated product returns in each reporting period, which is equal to the gross proÑt on projected
merchandise returns and impairment of merchandise, based on its historical returns experience. Shipping
fees charged to customers are included in net revenues and shipping costs are included in cost of revenue.
The Company's policy regarding gift certiÑcates is to record revenue as the certiÑcates are redeemed for
merchandise. Prior to their redemption, the certiÑcates are recorded as a liability. WFB recognizes gains
on sales as credit card loans are securitized and sold. Interchange income is earned when a charge is made
to a customer's account.

Credit Card Interest and Fees Ì Credit card interest and fees are included in Financial Services
revenues and include interest, over limit, returned check, cash advance transaction fees and other credit
card fees. These fees are assessed according to the terms of the related cardholder agreements and
recognized as revenue when charged to the cardholder's accounts. Interest and fees are accrued in
accordance with the terms of the applicable cardholder agreement on credit card loans until the date of
charge-oÅ, which is generally in the month following when an account becomes 90 days contractually past
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due, except in the case of cardholder bankruptcies, cardholder deaths and fraudulent transactions, which
are charged oÅ earlier. Interest income is accrued on accounts that carry a balance from the statement
date through the end of the month.

Cost of Revenue and SG&A Expenses Ì The Company's consolidated cost of revenues primarily
consists of merchandise acquisition costs, including freight-in costs, as well as shipping costs. The
Company's consolidated SG&A expenses primarily consist of selling expense, marketing expenses,
including amortization of deferred catalog costs, warehousing, returned merchandise processing costs, retail
occupancy costs, costs of operating our bank, depreciation, amortization and general and administrative
expenses.

Land Held for Sale or Development Ì The Company owns a fully consolidated subsidiary, whose
primary activity is real estate development. Land that is purchased and held for sale is shown in other
assets. Proceeds from sale of land are recorded in other revenue and the corresponding cost of the land
sold is recorded in cost of revenue.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Ì Cash equivalents consist of commercial paper and other investments
that are readily convertible into cash and have maturities at date of purchase of three months or less.
Unpresented checks net of bank balance in a single bank account are classiÑed as current liabilities. WFB
had $58,147 and $77,237 of cash and cash equivalents in Ñscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively. Due to
regulatory restrictions the Company is restricted from using this cash for non-banking operations, including
for working capital for the direct and retail businesses.

Securitization of Credit Card Loans Ì WFB sells a substantial portion of its credit card loans. Thus a
majority of the credit card loans are classiÑed as held for sale and are carried at the lower of cost or
market. Net unrealized losses, if any, are recognized through a valuation allowance by charges to income.
Although WFB continues to service the underlying credit card accounts and maintains the customer
relationships, these transactions are treated as sales and the securitized receivables are removed from the
consolidated balance sheet. WFB retains certain interests in the loans, including interest-only strips, cash
reserve accounts and servicing rights.

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (""SFAS'') No. 140, Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, gains or losses are recognized at the
time of each sale. These gains or losses on sales depend in part on the carrying amount assigned to the
loans sold allocated between the assets sold and retained interest based on their relative fair values at the
date of transfer. For the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, WFB recognized gains on sale of
$8.9 million, $5.9 million and $7.7 million, respectively, which are reÖected as a component of Ñnancial
services revenue.

Since WFB receives adequate compensation relative to current market servicing rates, a servicing
asset or liability is not recognized.

For interest-only strips, WFB uses its best estimates for fair values based on the present value of
future expected cash Öows using assumptions for credit losses, payment rates and discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved. The future expected cash Öows do not include interchange income
since interchange income is only earned when and if a charge is made to a customer's account. However,
WFB has the rights to the remaining cash Öows (including interchange fees, if any) after the other costs
of the trust are paid. Consequently, interchange income on securitized receivables is included within
securitization income of Ñnancial services revenue. Financial services revenue is presented in Note 20.

WFB is required to maintain a cash reserve account as part of the securitization program. In addition,
WFB owns Class B certiÑcates from one of its securitizations. The fair value of the cash reserve account is
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estimated by discounting future cash Öows using a rate that reÖects the risks commensurate with similar
types of instruments. For the Class B certiÑcates, the fair value approximates the book value of the
underlying receivables. These retained interests (interest-only strip, cash reserve account and Class B
certiÑcates) are measured like investments in debt securities classiÑed as trading under SFAS No. 115,
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.

Inventories Ì Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the
last-in, Ñrst-out method (dollar value, link-chain) for all inventories except for those inventories owned by
Van Dyke Supply Company, and Wild Wings, LLC, subsidiaries of the Company, which use the Ñrst-in,
Ñrst-out method. If all inventories had been valued using the Ñrst-in, Ñrst-out method, which approximates
replacement cost, the stated value would have been greater by $0 and $48 as of the Ñscal years ended
2004 and 2003, respectively. All inventories are in one inventory class and are classiÑed as Ñnished goods.
A provision for shrink is estimated, based on historical cycle count adjustments and periodic physical
inventories. The allowance for damaged goods from returns is based upon historical experience. Inventory
is adjusted for obsolete or slow moving inventory based on inventory aging reports and, in some cases, by
speciÑc identiÑcation of slow moving or obsolete inventory. Provisions for inventory losses included within
cost of merchandise sales were approximately $1,862, $4,756, and $2,362 for Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

Accounting for Vendor Allowances Ì Vendor allowances include allowances, rebates and cooperative
advertising funds received from vendors. These funds are determined for each Ñscal year and the majority
is based on various quantitative contract terms. Amounts expected to be received from vendors relating to
purchase of merchandise inventories are recognized as a reduction of costs of goods sold as the
merchandise is sold. Amounts that represent a reimbursement of costs incurred, such as advertising, are
recorded as a reduction to the related expense in the period that the related expense is incurred. Fair value
of expenses reimbursed is determined using actual costs incurred, such as print and production costs for
media or catalog advertising. Reimbursements received from vendors that exceed related expenses are
classiÑed as a reduction of merchandise costs of goods sold when the merchandise is sold.

The Company records an estimate of earned allowances based on the latest projected purchase
volumes. Historical program results, current purchase volumes, and inventory projections are reviewed
when establishing the estimate for earned allowances, and a reserve based on historical adjustments is
recorded as a reduction to the total estimated allowance.

Deferred Catalog Costs and Advertising Ì The Company expenses the production cost of advertising
as the advertising takes place, except for catalog advertising costs, which are capitalized and amortized
over the expected period of future beneÑts.

Catalog advertising consists primarily of catalogs for the Company's products. The capitalized costs of
the advertising are amortized over a four to twelve month period following the mailing of the catalogs.

At Ñscal year ends 2004 and 2003, $26,592 and $26,928, respectively, of catalog costs were included
in prepaid expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Advertising expense was $157,623,
$146,062 and $129,090 for the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Advertising vendor
allowances recorded as a reduction to advertising expense, included in the amounts above were
approximately $3,290, $4,044 and $2,254 for the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

Store Preopening Expenses Ì Non-capital costs associated with the opening of new stores are
expensed as incurred.

Property and Equipment Ì Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization
are provided for in amounts suÇcient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their
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estimated service lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lives of the respective leases or the
service lives of the improvements whichever is shorter. The straight-line method of depreciation is used for
Ñnancial reporting. Assets held under capital lease agreements are amortized using the straight-line method
over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. Major improvements that
extend the useful life of an asset are charged to the property and equipment accounts. Routine
maintenance and repairs are charged against earnings. The cost of property and equipment retired or sold
and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any related gain or loss is
included in earnings. Long-lived assets used by the Company are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The
Company capitalizes interest costs on construction of projects while they are being constructed and before
they are placed into service. For the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company capitalized $0,
$246 and $151 of interest costs.

The Company follows the American Institute of CertiÑed Public Accountants Statement of Position
(""SOP'') No. 98-1, Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use. In accordance with SOP No. 98-1, the Company capitalizes all costs related to internally developed
or purchased software and amortizes these costs on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible Assets Ì Intangible assets consist of purchased credit card relationships, deferred Ñnancing
costs, non-compete agreements and goodwill. Purchased credit card relationships represent the intangible
value of acquired credit card relationships. Recorded goodwill is tested annually for impairment by
comparing the fair value of the Company's reporting units to their carrying value. The Company
performed its annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of Ñscal 2003 and 2004. Fair value was
determined using a discounted cash Öow methodology. As a result of these tests, no impairments were
recognized and there were no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill.

Marketable Securities Ì Economic development bonds (""bonds'') that are issued by the state and
local municipalities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classiÑed
as ""held-to-maturity'' and recorded at amortized cost. WFB holds mortgage backed securities from the
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority (NIFA), which are classiÑed as ""held-to-maturity'' and recorded
at amortized cost. For bonds classiÑed as available-for-sale where quoted market prices are not available,
fair values are estimated using present value or other valuation techniques. The fair value estimates are
made at a speciÑc point in time, based on available market information and judgments about the bonds,
such as estimates of timing and amount of expected future cash Öows. Such estimates do not reÖect any
premium or discount that could result from oÅering for sale at one time the Company's entire holdings of
a particular bond, nor do they consider the tax impact of the realization of unrealized gains or losses.

Equity securities with readily determinable fair values, are classiÑed as ""available-for-sale'' and
recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of related income taxes, excluded from
earnings and reported in accumulated other comprehensive income.

Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale bonds and securities below cost
that are deemed to be other than temporary are reÖected in earnings as realized losses. Gains and losses
on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and determined using the speciÑc identiÑcation
method.

Investment in Equity and Cost Method Investees Ì Companies that are 50% or less owned by the
Company have been excluded from consolidation. The Company reÖects its 33% investment in Three
Corners LLC at cost plus its equity in undistributed net earnings or losses since acquisition reduced by
dividends. Dividends received from Three Corners LLC were $150, $0, and $0 for the Ñscal years ended
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In December 2004, the Company disposed of its investment in Great
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Wolf Lodge, LLC, and recorded a gain in other income of $2,532. The Company reÖected its 17.5%
investment in Great Wolf Lodge, LLC at cost due to the preferred nature of its investment, which did not
provide for sharing in the earnings and losses, and was adjusted only for other-than-temporary declines in
fair value. Distributions received in excess of earnings, subsequent to the date of investment were
considered a return on investment and is recorded as a reduction of the cost of the investment.
Distributions received from Great Wolf Lodge, LLC were $995, $182 and $0 for the Ñscal years ended
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Government Economic Assistance Ì In conjunction with the Company's expansion into new
communities, the Company often receives economic assistance from the local governmental unit in order
to encourage economic expansion in the local government's area. This assistance typically comes through
the use of proceeds from the sale of economic development bonds and grants. The bond proceeds and
grants are made available to fund the purchase of land (where not donated), construction of the retail
facility and infrastructure improvements. The economic development bonds issued to fund the project, in
certain cases, will be repaid by sales taxes generated by the Company's facilities, while in other cases the
economic development bonds are repaid through property taxes generated within a designated tax area.
The government grants have been recorded as deferred grant income and have been classiÑed as a
reduction to the cost basis of the applicable property and equipment. The deferred grant income is
amortized to earnings, as a reduction of depreciation expense over the average useful life of the project.

In order to facilitate the transaction, the Company generally agrees to purchase these economic
development bonds, and in one case, has agreed to guarantee any deÑciency. In the one case the Company
has agreed to guarantee the deÑciency of an economic development bond, the term of the bond and the
guarantee is through October, 2014. Each period the Company estimates the remaining amount of the
governmental grant to be received associated with the project. If it is determined that Company will not
receive the full amount remaining, the Company will adjust the deferred grant income to appropriately
reÖect the change in estimate and the Company will immediately record a cumulative additional
depreciation charge that would have been recognized to date as expense, in the absence of the grant.

Additionally, in connection with these arrangements, local governments at times donate land to the
Company. Land grants typically include the land where the retail store is constructed as well as other land
which is divided into parcels for future sale and development. The Company records the fair value of the
land granted with a corresponding credit to deferred grant income that is classiÑed as a reduction to the
basis of the land. The deferred grant income is recognized as grant income over the life of the related
assets constructed upon it. As parcels of land are sold any appreciation or decline in the value of the land
is recognized at the time of sale. Land received by the Company under government economic assistance
totaled $14,384, $1,201 and $6,400 for the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

In certain cases, the Company has agreed to guarantee any deÑciency in tax proceeds that are used
for debt service of the economic development bonds. In those situations in which the Company guarantees
the economic development bonds, the Company records the obligation as debt on its balance sheet in
accordance with EITF 91-10, Accounting for Special Assessments and Tax Increment Financing Entities.
Such amounts are recorded in long-term debt (See Note 8). As of the Ñscal years ended 2004 and 2003,
the Company has guaranteed total outstanding economic development bonds of $4,430 and $4,635,
respectively. As of January 1, 2005, it does not appear that any payments which might be required by the
Company under these guarantees, would have a material impact on the Company's Ñnancial position.

As a condition of the receipt of certain grants, the Company is required to comply with certain
covenants. The most restrictive of these covenants are to maintain certain employment levels, maintain
retail stores in certain locations or to maintain oÇce facilities in certain locations. For these types of
grants, the Company records the grants as a component of deferred grant income, and recognizes them as
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the milestones associated with the grant are met. As of the Ñscal years ended 2004 and 2003, the
Company was in compliance with all material requirements.

Credit Card Reward Program Ì Every Cabela's Club VISA cardholder receives Cabela's points based
on the dollar amount transacted on WFB's credit card. Cabela's points can be redeemed at any Cabela's
store or through a Cabela's catalog or internet purchase. Classic or Gold cards are issued. Classic
Cardholders receive 1% in points for every dollar spent and 2% in points for purchases at Cabela's. Gold
Cardholders receive 1% in points for every dollar spent and 3% in points for purchases at Cabela's. There
is no limit or expiration on points that can be earned by a cardholder. Points are accrued and expensed as
the cardholder earns them. The expense is shown as a reduction of Ñnancial services revenue. The amount
of unredeemed credit card points was $38,552 and $30,946 as of the Ñscal years ended 2004 and 2003,
respectively. In addition to credit card points, vouchers and gift certiÑcates are issued to card members at
Club events and to new members when they apply for the card membership. These vouchers and gift
certiÑcates are used to purchase Cabela's merchandise. All of these items are part of the customer rewards
program. The amount of credit card rewards expensed as an oÅset to Ñnancial services revenue was
$52,939, $39,876 and $31,129 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Income Taxes Ì The Company Ñles consolidated federal and state income tax returns with its wholly
owned subsidiaries. The consolidated group follows a policy of requiring each entity to provide for income
taxes in an amount equal to the income taxes that would have been incurred if each were Ñling separately.
The Company's tax year-end is the Saturday closest to September 30.

Deferred income taxes are computed using the liability method under which deferred income taxes
are provided on the temporary diÅerences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their Ñnancial
reported amounts.

Use of Estimates Ì The preparation of Ñnancial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that aÅect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the Ñnancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could diÅer from those estimates.

Stock-Based Compensation Ì The Company follows Accounting Principles Board (""APB'') Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and related interpretations. The Company has adopted
the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended
by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Ì Transition and Disclosure. Under
SFAS No. 123, the fair value of stock option awards to employees is calculated through the use of option
pricing models, even though such models were developed to estimate the fair value of freely tradable, fully
transferable options without vesting restrictions, which diÅer from the Company's stock option awards.
These models also require subjective assumptions, including future stock price volatility and expected time
to exercise, which aÅect the calculated values. The Company's calculations are based on a single option
valuation approach and forfeitures are recognized as they occur. Stock-based compensation costs are
reÖected in net income where the options granted under those plans had an exercise price that is less than
the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.
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For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options granted is amortized to
expense over the options' vesting period. The Company's pro forma net income for 2004, 2003 and 2002
were as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Net income Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $64,996 $51,391 $46,922

Add: Stock based employee compensation recognized, net of tax 1,086 Ì Ì

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net
of related tax eÅects ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,759) (953) (1,032)

Net income Ì pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $61,323 $50,438 $45,890

Earnings per share:

Basic Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.06 $ 0.99 $ 0.94

Basic Ì proforma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.00 $ 0.97 $ 0.92

Diluted Ì as reportedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.03 $ 0.93 $ 0.88

Diluted Ì proforma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.94 $ 0.92 $ 0.87

The fair value of options granted subsequent to the Ñling of the initial public oÅering were estimated
on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions. The expected stock price volatility was 50%; the risk free interest at grant date was 3.57%
and the expected term was 4.5 years. Prior to the May 1, 2004 option grant, the Company used a binomial
model and did not include a volatility factor.

Financial Instruments and Credit Risk Concentrations Ì Financial instruments, which potentially
subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, are primarily cash, investments and accounts
receivable. The Company places its investments primarily in tax-free municipal bonds or commercial paper
with short-term maturities, and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one entity. Concentrations of
credit risk with respect to accounts receivable are limited due to the nature of the Company's receivables.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Ì The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables,
credit card loans held for sale, retained interests in asset securitizations, accounts payable, notes payable to
banks and accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.
The fair values of each of the Company's long-term debt instruments are based on the amount of future
cash Öows associated with each instrument discounted using the Company's current borrowing rate for
similar debt instruments of comparable maturity. The fair value estimates are made at a speciÑc point in
time and the underlying assumptions are subject to change based on market conditions. At Ñscal year
ended 2004 and 2003, the carrying amount of the Company's long-term debt was $148,152 and $142,651,
respectively, with an estimated fair value of approximately $150,910 and $149,597, respectively. For
purposes of estimating fair value, time deposits are pooled in homogeneous groups and the future cash
Öows of those groups are discounted using current market rates oÅered for similar products. At Ñscal year
end 2004 and 2003, the carrying amounts of the Company's time deposits were $100,659 and $81,664,
respectively, with an estimated fair value of approximately $100,636 and $82,917, respectively.

Derivatives Ì The Company uses derivatives for the purpose of hedging exposure to changes in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. The fair value of each derivative is recognized in the
balance sheet within current assets or current liabilities. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are
recognized immediately in the income statement for derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting.
For derivatives designated as a hedge and used to hedge an anticipated transaction, changes in the fair
value of the derivatives are deferred in the balance sheet within accumulated other comprehensive income
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to the extent the hedge is eÅective in mitigating the exposure to the related anticipated transaction. Any
ineÅectiveness associated with the hedge is recognized immediately in the income statement. Amounts
deferred within accumulated other comprehensive income are recognized in the income statement in the
same period during which the hedged transaction aÅects earnings.

Comprehensive Income Ì Comprehensive income consists of net income, derivative adjustments and
unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, net of related income taxes.

Earnings Per Share Ì Basic earnings per share (""EPS'') is computed by dividing net income by the
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per
share is computed by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average number of shares
outstanding plus all additional common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive
common share equivalents had been issued.

ReclassiÑcations Ì Certain reclassiÑcations have been made to prior year Ñnancial statements and the
notes to conform to the current year presentation.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information Ì The following table sets forth non-cash Ñnancing and
investing activities and other cash Öow information.

Fiscal Year Ended

2004 2003 2002

Non-cash Ñnancing and investing activities:

Contribution of assets in exchange for investment in Great
Wolf Lodge, LLCÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3,400 $ Ì $ 4,000

Contribution of land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6,038 $ Ì $ Ì

Capital lease obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8,728 $ Ì $ Ì

Other cash Öow information:

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $11,360 $11,086 $ 6,756

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $24,026 $21,453 $20,104

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Ì At the March 17-18, 2004 EITF meeting the Task
Force reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-1. The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and
Its Application to Certain Investments. Issue 03-1 provides guidance for determining when an investment
is other-than-temporarily impaired that is incremental to the consideration in this Issue- speciÑcally,
whether an investor has the ability and intent to hold an investment until recovery. In addition, Issue 03-1
contains disclosure requirements that provide useful information about impairments that have not been
recognized as other than temporary for investments within the scope of this Issue. The guidance for
evaluating whether an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired should be applied in other-than-
temporary impairment evaluations made in reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2004. The
disclosures are eÅective in annual Ñnancial statements for Ñscal years ending after December 15, 2003, for
investments accounted for under SFAS No. 115 Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities and SFAS No. 124 Accounting for Certain Investment Held by Not-for-ProÑt Organizations.
For other investments within the scope of this Issue, the disclosures are eÅective in annual Ñnancial
statements for Ñscal years ending after June 15, 2004. The additional disclosure for cost method
investments are eÅective for Ñscal years ending after June 15, 2004. Comparative information for periods
prior to initial application is not required. The adoption of this Issue did not have a material impact on the
Company's Ñnancial position, results of operations or cash Öows. In September 2004, the FASB issued
StaÅ Position 03-1-1 which deferred the eÅective date for the measurement and recognition guidance
contained in EITF paragraphs 10-20 of Issue 03-1. This delay does not suspend the requirement to
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recognize other-than-temporary impairments as required by existing authoritative literature. The delay of
the eÅective date for paragraphs 10-20 of Issue 03-1 will be superseded concurrent with the Ñnal issuance
of FSB EITF Issue 03-1a.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 153 Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an
amendment of APB Opinion No. 29. This statement was a result of an eÅort by the FASB and the IASB
to improve Ñnancial reporting by eliminating certain narrow diÅerences between their existing accounting
standards. One such diÅerence was the exception from fair value measurement in APB Opinion No. 29,
Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets.
Statement 153 replaces this exception with a general exception from fair value measurement for exchanges
of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial
substance if the future cash Öows of the entity are expected to change signiÑcantly as a result of the
exchange. This statement shall be applied prospectively and is eÅective for nonmonetary asset exchanges
occurring in Ñscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for nonmonetary
asset exchanges occurring in Ñscal periods beginning after the date of issuance of this Statement. The
adoption of FASB No. 153 will not have a signiÑcant impact on the Company's Ñnancial position, results
of operations or cash Öows.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment.
Statement 123(R) requires all entities to recognize compensation expense in an amount equal to the fair
value of the share-based payments (e.g., stock options and restricted stock) granted to employees or by
incurring liabilities to an employee or other supplier (a) in amounts based, at least in part, on the price of
the entity's shares or other equity instruments or (b) that require or may require settlement by issuing the
entity's equity shares or other equity instruments. This Statement is a revision of FASB Statement
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. This Statement supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and its related implementation guidance. This Statement is
eÅective for public entities that do not Ñle as small business issuers as of the beginning of the Ñrst interim
or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. The Company will adopt this statement at its
eÅective date in the third Ñscal quarter of 2005. The Company expects to record pre-tax compensation
expense of approximately $2.0 to $3.0 million during the second half of 2005 after this statement is
adopted.

2. SALE OF CREDIT CARD LOANS

WFB has established a trust for the purpose of routinely selling and securitizing credit card loans.
WFB maintains responsibility for servicing the securitized receivables and receives 1.25% (annualized) of
the average outstanding receivables in the trust. Additionally, WFB earns 0.75%, but only to the extent
that the trust generates suÇcient interchange income to make that portion of the payment. Servicing fees
are paid monthly. The trust issues commercial paper, long term bonds or long term notes. Variable bonds
and notes are priced on a Öoating rate basis with a spread over a benchmark rate. The Ñxed rate notes are
priced on a Ñve-year swap rate plus a spread. WFB retains rights to future cash Öows arising after
investors have received the return for which they are entitled and after certain administrative costs of
operating the trust. These retained interests are known as interest-only strips and are subordinate to
investor's interests. The value of the interest-only strips is subject to credit, payment rate and interest rate
risks on the loans sold. The investors have no recourse to WFB's assets for failure of debtors to pay.
However, as contractually required, WFB establishes certain cash accounts, known as cash reserve
accounts, to be used as collateral for the beneÑt of investors.

WFB owned $2,562 and $3,550 of the Series 2003-2 Class B certiÑcates at Ñscal year end 2004 and
2003, respectively.
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Retained Interests:

Retained interests in securitized receivables consist of the following at Ñscal years ended 2004 and
2003:

2004 2003

Cash reserve accountÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16,158 $10,330

Interest-only stripÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,003 6,984

Class B certiÑcatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,562 3,550

$28,723 $20,864

Credit card loans held for sale and credit card loans receivable consist of the following at Ñscal years
ended 2004 and 2003:

2004 2003

Composition of credit card loans held for sale and credit card loans
receivable:

Loans servicedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,083,120 $ 873,673

Loans securitized and sold to outside investors ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,010,000) (841,000)

Securitized loans with certiÑcates owned by WFB which are
classiÑed as retained interests ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,562) (3,550)

70,558 29,123

Less adjustments to market value and allowance for loan losses ÏÏÏ (1,330) (1,110)

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 69,228 $ 28,013

Delinquent loans in the managed credit card loan portfolio at Ñscal
year end:

30-89 days ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,591 $ 5,418

90 days or more and still accruing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,098 $ 1,619

Total net charge-oÅs on the managed credit card loans portfolio for
Ñscal year ended ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 19,658 $ 17,055

Annual average credit card loans:

Managed credit card loansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 888,730 $ 705,265

Securitized credit card loans including seller's interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 877,280 $ 693,828

Total net charge-oÅs as a percenage of annual average managed loans 2.21% 2.42%

Key economic assumptions used throughout 2004 and 2003 to estimate the fair value of the interest
only strips resulting from the securitization of credit card loans were as follows:
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Key Assumptions:

Ranges

2004 2003

Payment rates:

Month 1 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47.15% to 48.60% 47.40% to 48.61%

Following monthsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.83% to 15.33% 14.93% to 15.60%

Weighted average life in years ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.542 0.625

Expected credit losses:

Month 1 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.17% to 2.31% 2.30% to 2.52%

Following monthsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.58% to 3.75% 3.75% to 4.16%

Servicing feeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.25% 1.25%

Discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.70% to 10.03% 9.66% to 10.27%

Weighted average interest rate paid to investors ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.83% to 3.39% 2.66% to 2.93%

Sensitivity Analysis:

At Ñscal year ended 2004, key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of
retained interests of $28,723 to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions are as
follows:

2004
Impact on Fair

Value of an Adverse
Change of

Assumption 10% 20%

Payment rates ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.28% $(803) $(1,454)

Expected credit losses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.70% $(702) $(1,403)

Discount rateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10.03% $(387) $ (767)

Weighted average interest paid to investorsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.39% $(297) $ (584)

The sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and is as of a speciÑc point in time. As a result, these scenarios
should be used with caution. As the table indicates, changes in fair value based on 10 percent variation in
assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the
change in fair value may not be linear. Also, in this table, the eÅect of a variation in a particular
assumption on the fair values of interest-only strips are calculated without changing any other assumption;
in reality, changes in one factor may result in changes in another which might magnify or counteract the
sensitivities.

Cash Flows from Securitizations:

Cash Öows received from the securitization trust during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Proceeds from new securitizations, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 169,000 $ 206,000 $ 165,000

Collections used by the trust to purchase new balances
in recovering credit card securitizations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $4,597,365 $3,634,964 $2,728,191

Servicing fees received ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 16,452 $ 12,523 $ 9,441

Other cash Öows received on retained interests ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 94,277 $ 73,587 $ 56,682
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Other cash Öows represent the total cash Öows received on retained interest by the transferor other
than servicing fees.

Certain restrictions exist related to securitization transactions that protect certiÑcate holders against
declining performance of the credit card loans. In the event performance declines outside stated
parameters and waivers are not granted by certiÑcate holders, note holders and/or credit enhancement
providers, a rapid amortization of the certiÑcates could potentially occur. At Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003
and 2002, the credit card loans were performing within established guidelines.

3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment include the following at each Ñscal year end:

Fiscal Years EndedUseful Life
in Years 2004 2003

Land and improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0 - 20 $ 50,515 $ 47,681

Buildings and improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40 142,767 146,516

Assets held under capital leaseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30 8,728 Ì

Leasehold improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7 - 40 3,591 3,607

Furniture, Ñxtures and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 - 10 135,067 121,923

Capitalized softwareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 14,053 11,404

Monuments and animal displaysÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10 - 15 14,738 14,896

Construction in progress ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,503 17,768

417,962 363,795

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (123,821) (98,804)

$ 294,141 $264,991

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of the following at each Ñscal year end:

Fiscal Year Ended 2004Amortization
Period in Accumulated

Years Cost Amortization Net

Purchased credit card relationships ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4 $ 4,576 $(4,435) $ 141

Deferred Ñnancing costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 - 17 1,378 (599) 779

Customer name lists ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 3,018 (1,498) 1,520

Non-compete agreement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7 1,463 (317) 1,146

Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 969 Ì 969

$11,404 $(6,849) $4,555
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Fiscal Year Ended 2003Amortization
Period in Accumulated

Years Cost Amortization Net

Purchased credit card relationships ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4 $4,576 $(3,872) $ 704

Deferred Ñnancing costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 - 17 1,337 (393) 944

Customer name lists ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 2,509 (874) 1,635

Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 969 Ì 969

$9,391 $(5,139) $4,252

Aggregate amortization expense was $1,458, $1,206 and $2,350 for the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the Ñscals years shown is as follows:

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 983

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 843

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 499

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 263

2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 263

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 735

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,586

5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities consist of the following at each respective year-end:

Fiscal Year Ended 2004

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-sale:

Economic development bondsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $128,683 $3,976 $Ì $132,659

Held to maturity:

Mortgage backed securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,000 Ì Ì 1,000

Economic development bondsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,928 Ì Ì 11,928

$141,611 $3,976 $Ì $145,587

Fiscal Year Ended 2003

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

Available-for-sale:

Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,047 $ 17 $ Ì $ 1,064

Economic development bondsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 58,333 641 (104) 58,870

Held to maturity:

Economic development bondsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,698 Ì Ì 12,698

$72,078 $658 $(104) $72,632
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The amortized cost and fair value of economic development bonds by contractual maturity at Ñscal
2004 is as follows:

Available for Sale Held to Maturity

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,042 $ 2,406 $ 820 $ 820

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,434 2,862 992 992

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,729 3,137 1,006 1,006

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,936 3,349 1,193 1,193

2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,149 3,570 1,123 1,123

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 115,393 117,335 7,794 7,794

$128,683 $132,659 $12,928 $12,928

Realized gains of $264, $587 and $588 and in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, are included in other
income in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

6. TIME DEPOSITS

WFB accepts time deposits only in amounts of at least one hundred thousand dollars. All time
deposits are interest bearing. The aggregate amount of time deposits by maturity as of Ñscal year ended
2004 are as follows:

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 48,953

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,201

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,705

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,200

2009 and thereafterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,600

100,659

Less current maturitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (48,953)

Deposits classiÑed as non-current liabilties ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 51,706

7. REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITIES

On May 6, 2004 the Company renewed and amended its unsecured revolving loan agreement with
several banks for $230,000. This revolving facility, which expires on June 30, 2007, provides for a London
Interbank OÅered Rates (""LIBOR'') based rate of interest plus a spread, which adjusts based upon
certain Ñnancial ratios achieved by the Company and ranges from .80% to 1.425%. During the term of the
facility, the Company was also required to pay a facility fee, which ranges from .125% to .25%. The
principal amount was undrawn as of the end of 2004 and 2003. The average borrowing of principal
amounts outstanding was: $1,667, $2,440 and $36,933 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The loan agreement permits the issuance of up to $100 million in letters of credit and standby letters
of credit, the notional amount of which are applied against the overall credit limit available under the
revolver. At January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, the Company had outstanding commercial letters of
credit aggregating approximately $31,088 and $26,145, respectively, for the purchase of merchandise. In
addition, at January 1, 2005 the Company had outstanding standby letters of credit of $6,525. These
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related to the Company's self-funded property insurance and worker's compensation and to various
construction projects.

The agreement contains several provisions, which, among other things, require the maintenance of
certain Ñnancial ratios and net worth, and limit the payment of dividends. The signiÑcant Ñnancial ratios
and net worth requirements in the loan agreement are as follows:

‚ A current consolidated assets to current consolidated liabilities ratio of no less than 1.15 to 1.00 as
of the last day of any Ñscal year;

‚ A Ñxed charge coverage ratio (the ratio of the sum of consolidated EBITDA plus certain rental
expenses to the sum of consolidated cash interest expense plus certain rental expenses) of no less
than 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of the any Ñscal quarter; and

‚ A minimum tangible net worth of $300 million plus 50% of cumulative consolidated net income
beginning in 2004. Tangible net worth is our equity less intangible assets.

In addition, the note contains cross default provisions to other outstanding debt. In the event the
Company fails to comply with these covenants and the failure to comply goes beyond 30 days, a default is
triggered. In the event of default, the obligations shall automatically become immediately due and payable.
All outstanding letters of credit and all principal and outstanding interest would immediately become due
and payable.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of each Ñscal year end presented.

On October 7, 2004, WFB entered into an unsecured Federal Funds Sales Agreement with a Ñnancial
institution. All Federal Funds transactions will be on a daily origination and return basis. Daily interest
charges are determined based on mutual agreement by the parties. The maximum amount of funds which
can be borrowed is $25,000 of which no amounts were borrowed during Ñscal year 2004. On October 8,
2004, WFB entered into an unsecured Federal Funds Line of Credit agreement with a Ñnancial institution.
The maximum amount of funds which can be borrowed is $40,000 of which no amounts were outstanding
at Ñscal year end 2004. The interest rate for the line of credit is based on the current Federal funds rate.
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8. LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES

Principal amounts of long-term debt and net carrying amount of capital leases consists of the
following at each Ñscal year end:

2004 2003

Unsecured 4.95% notes payable to various insurance companies, with
principal payable in Ñve annual installments of $25,000 beginning
September 5, 2005. Interest payments are made semi-annuallyÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $125,000 $125,000

Unsecured Senior Notes, interest rates from 8.79% to 9.19%, payable with
interest and principal due in monthly installments of $274 through
January 1, 2007. Beginning February 1, 2008 monthly principal of $81
are due through January 1, 2010 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,123 10,563

Capital lease obligation, implicit rate of 4%, payable in monthly
installments of $42 through June 2034 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,639 Ì

Various notes payable due April 1, 2004 through October 15, 2014,
interest rates from 4.0% to 8.0%, and total annual installments of
approximately $790 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,390 7,088

Total long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 148,152 142,651

Less current maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (28,327) (3,013)

Long-term portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $119,825 $139,638

Certain of the long-term debt agreements contain various covenants and restrictions such as the
maintenance of minimum debt coverage, net worth and Ñnancial ratios. The signiÑcant Ñnancial ratios and
net worth requirements in the long-term debt agreements are as follows:

‚ A limitation of funded debt to be less than 60% of consolidated total capitalization.

‚ Cash Öow Ñxed charge coverage ratio (the ratio of the sum of consolidated EBITDA plus certain
rental expenses to the sum of consolidated cash interest expense plus certain rental expenses) of no
less than 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of the any Ñscal quarter; and

‚ A minimum consolidated adjusted net worth of $150 million plus 25% of cumulative consolidated
net income beginning in 2002. Adjusted net worth is consolidated equity less equity in WFB, plus
the LIFO reserve and deferred income taxes.

In addition, the debt contains cross default provisions to other outstanding credit facilities. In the
event the Company fails to comply with these covenants and the failure to comply goes beyond 30 days,
the Company will trigger a default. In the event of default, the obligations shall automatically become
immediately due and payable. All principal and outstanding interest would immediately become due and
payable.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants at each Ñscal year end presented.

The Company entered into a lease agreement for a distribution facility in Wheeling, West Virginia.
The lease term is 30 years, with monthly installments of $42 and contains a bargain purchase option at the
end of the lease term. The Company is accounting for this lease as a capital lease and has recorded the
leased asset at its present value of the future minimum lease payments using a 4% implicit rate. The
leased asset was recorded at $8,728 and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years.
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Aggregate expected maturities of long-term debt and scheduled capital lease payments in the future
are as follows:

Scheduled Long Term
Capital Lease Debt

Payments Maturities

2005ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 500 $ 28,183

2006ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 500 28,901

2007ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 500 26,643

2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 500 26,583

2009ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 500 26,467

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,000 2,736

$14,500 $139,513

Capital lease amount representing interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,861)

Present value of net scheduled lease payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8,639 8,639

Total long term debt and capital leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $148,152

9. OTHER INCOME

Other income (expense) consists of:

Fiscal Year Ended

2004 2003 2002

Interest income earned on economic development bondsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7,093 $4,575 $4,258

Gains on sale of investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,816 1,005 243

Equity in undistributed net earnings (losses) of equity method
investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 532 (86) (82)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2 118 289

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10,443 $5,612 $4,708

Interest income from economic development bonds consists of income earned on bonds associated
with various economic development agreements entered into by the Company.

10. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for each respective year-end:

2004 2003 2002

Current:

Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $36,833 $19,395 $25,331

State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 631 333 362

37,464 19,728 25,693

Deferred:

Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,339) 8,528 122

State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (40) 146 2

(2,379) 8,674 124

$35,085 $28,402 $25,817
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the eÅective income tax rate is a follows:

2004 2003 2002

Statutory federal rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income taxes, net of federal tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.5% 0.4% 0.3%

Other nondeductible itemsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1% 0.2% 0.2%

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.5)% Ì Ì

35.1% 35.6% 35.5%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at each respective year-end:

2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,132 $ 3,116

Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,135 1,778

Reserve for returnsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,538 6,331

Accrued vacation pay ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,045 1,692

Reserve for health insurance claims ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,484 1,145

InventoryÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,405 3,278

Accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 681 496

AmortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,348 1,262

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 742 1,373

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,078 30

25,588 20,501

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid catalog costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,603 9,735

Depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22,978 19,842

Capitalized software costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,277 1,892

Credit card issuance costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,001 1,233

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,411 197

Investment in equity method investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 142 779

Retained interest in securitized receivablesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,561 2,486

39,973 36,164

Net deferred tax liabilityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(14,385) $(15,663)

Included on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets under the following captions:

2004 2003

Deferred income tax (liability) asset Ì currentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,240 $ 1,122

Deferred income tax liability Ì noncurrent ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (16,625) (16,785)

$(14,385) $(15,663)
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11. DERIVATIVES

The Company is exposed to market risks including changes in currency exchange rates and interest
rates. The Company may enter into various derivative transactions pursuant to established Company
policies to manage volatility associated with these exposures.

Foreign Currency Management Ì The Company may enter into forward exchange or option contracts
for transactions denominated in a currency other than the applicable functional currency in order to reduce
exposures related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. This primarily relates to hedging against
anticipated inventory purchases.

Hedges of anticipated inventory purchases are designated as cash Öow hedges. The gains and losses
associated with these hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until the
anticipated transaction is consummated and are recognized in the income statement in the same period
during which the hedged transactions aÅect earnings. Gains and losses on foreign currency derivatives for
which the Company has not elected hedge accounting are recorded immediately in earnings.

For the Ñscal years ended 2004 and 2003, there was no ineÅectiveness associated with the Company's
foreign currency derivatives designated as cash Öow hedges. There were no discontinued foreign currency
derivative cash Öow hedges during the Ñscal years ended 2004 and 2003.

Generally, the Company hedges a portion of its anticipated inventory purchases for periods up to
12 months. As of Ñscal year ended 2004, the Company has hedged certain portions of its anticipated
inventory purchases through January of 2005, while other portions are hedged through the majority of
2005.

The fair value of foreign currency derivatives assets or liabilities is recognized within either other
current assets or liabilities. As of Ñscal years ended 2004 and 2003, the fair value of foreign currency
derivative assets was $235 and $553, respectively and, the fair value of foreign currency derivative
liabilities was $0 and $0, respectively.

As of Ñscal years ended 2004 and 2003, the net deferred gain recognized in other comprehensive
income/(loss) was $(205) and $238, net of tax, respectively. The Company anticipates a gain of $151, net
of tax, will be transferred out of accumulated other comprehensive income and recognized within earnings
over the next 12 months. Gains of $296, $430 and $172, net of tax, were transferred from accumulated
other comprehensive income into income from operations in Ñscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Interest Rate Management Ì On February 4, 2003, in connection with the Series 2003-1
securitization the securitization trust entered into a $300 million notional swap agreement in order to
manage interest rate exposure. The exposure is related to changes in cash Öows from funding credit card
loans which include a high percentage of accounts with Öoating rate obligations that do not incur monthly
Ñnance charges. The swap converts the interest rate on the investor bonds from a Öoating rate basis with a
spread over a benchmark note to a Ñxed rate of 3.699%. Since the trust is not consolidated, the fair value
of the swap is not reÖected on the Ñnancial statements. The Company entered into a swap with similar
terms with the counter-party whereby the notional amount is zero unless the notional amount of trust's
swap falls below $300 million. The Company has not elected to designate this derivative as a hedge and,
therefore, the derivative is marked to market through the statement of income. Market is currently
determined to be zero. WFB pays the Company a fee for the credit enhancement provided by this swap,
which was $610 and $552 in 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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12. COMMITMENTS

The Company leases various buildings, computer equipment, signs and storage space under operating
leases, which expire on various dates through 2012. Rent expense on these leases was $5,360, $4,303 and
$3,702 for the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The following is a schedule of future
minimum annual rental payments under operating leases at Ñscal year ended 2004:

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,611

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,159

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,123

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 336

2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 336

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 869

$7,434

WFB enters into Ñnancial instruments with oÅ balance sheet risk in the normal course of business
through the origination of unsecured credit card loans. These Ñnancial instruments consist of commitments
to extend credit, totaling approximately $5,952,159 and $4,931,164, in addition to any other balances a
cardholder might have at years end 2004 and 2003, respectively. These instruments involve, to varying
degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance sheet. The principal
amounts of these instruments reÖect the maximum exposure WFB has in the instruments. WFB has not
experienced and does not anticipate that all of the customers will exercise their entire available line of
credit at any given point in time. WFB has the right to reduce or cancel these available lines of credit at
any time.

The Company has started construction projects in various Retail site locations. Initial economic
development bond agreements have been signed. For agreements that have been signed as of the end of
Ñscal 2004, the total anticipated initial capital outlay in construction and bonds is estimated to be
$182.3 million for 2005 and $96.3 million for 2006. Subsequent to the end of Ñscal 2004, the Company has
either entered into agreements for, or announced it is negotiating, four additional Retail site locations. The
Company expects the total costs of each of these destination retail stores, including the cost of economic
development bonds, to fall in the estimated range of $40 to $80 million each. The Company expects to
incur costs for one of these locations in 2005, two in 2006 and one in 2007. The cost of the location to be
opened in 2005 is estimated at $52.3 million. The remainder of the locations are still being negotiated and
will be subject to ordinary conditions to closing.

In addition, the Company is obligated to fund $28 million of future economic development bonds
relating to its Wheeling, West Virginia development agreement. The funds are designated for use of
construction of additional distribution center facilities within the Company's development district.
Construction and funding of the bonds will take place throughout 2005 and 2006.

13. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS

WFB is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and the Nebraska State Department of Banking and Finance. Under
capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, WFB must meet
speciÑc capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and certain oÅ-
balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. WFB's capital amounts and
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classiÑcation are also subject to qualitative judgment by the regulators with respect to components, risk
weightings and other factors.

The quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require that WFB
maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the following table) of total and Tier 1 capital (as
deÑned in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as deÑned) and of Tier 1 capital (as deÑned).
Management believes, as of Ñscal year ends 2004 and 2003, that the WFB met all capital adequacy
requirements to which they are subject.

Ratio Required to
Be Considered

Actual ""Well-Capitalized''

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

2004:

Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $67,394 25.6% $26,311 10.0%

Tier I Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $66,064 25.1% $15,786 6.0%

Tier I Capital to Average AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $66,064 36.0% $ 9,177 5.0%

2003:

Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $49,460 26.4% $18,734 10.0%

Tier I Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $48,350 25.8% $11,241 6.0%

Tier I Capital to Average AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $48,350 31.3% $ 7,733 5.0%

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a deÑned contribution 401(k) savings plan, a deferred compensation plan, and an
employee charge program.

401(k) Savings Plan Ì All employees are eligible to defer up to 80% of their wages to the 401(k)
savings plan, subject to certain limitations. The Company has a mandatory match of up to 50% of the
employee deferrals, up to 6% of eligible wages as deÑned. All employees who complete one year of service
and attain age 18 are eligible for the mandatory match. The money purchase plan was merged into the
401(k) on July 15, 2002. In addition, the employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) was merged into the
401(k) eÅective March 1, 2004. Following these mergers, a discretionary contribution up to 12.5% can be
made on eligible wages as deÑned. Certain non-exempt and all exempt employees of Cabela's and World's
Foremost Bank are eligible for this discretionary contribution. Total expenses from mandatory contributions
were $4,345, $2,468 and $1,192 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Total expenses from discretionary
contributions were $5,385, $5,065 and $4,575 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan Ì The Company has a self-funded, nonqualiÑed deferred compensation
plan for the beneÑt of certain key employees. The plan was amended on December 31, 2004, to restrict
any further contributions, and to change the interest rate adjustment period from a monthly to a semi-
annual basis. The Company pays interest compounded daily at the declared interest rate. The declared rate
was prime plus 1.75% and 8.5% in Ñscal 2004 and 2003 respectively. Upon death, disability, termination or
retirement, employees can receive their balance in a lump sum payment or equal monthly payments over a
Ñve, ten or twelve year period. The charge to interest expense under the Ñxed rate portion of the plan was
approximately $595, $2,967 and $2,246 during the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The participants also could elect an additional investment option where the investment performance is
equal to the increase in the price of the Company's stock. The charge to expense under the ""equity''
portion of the plan was $0, $1,960 and $726 for the Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The equity portion of the plan was terminated in 2003 as required in connection with the recapitalization
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transaction. In addition, as required by the recapitalization transaction, the Company paid $40,060 of the
deferred compensation in 2003.

Employee Charge Accounts Ì The Company allows employees to charge products at its retail stores.
The amounts included in accounts receivable that were related to employee charges were $1,449 and
$1,356 at Ñscal year end 2004 and 2003, respectively. The eligibility and charge limits for employee charge
accounts vary depending on length of employment.

15. STOCK OPTION PLANS

In March 2004, the Company adopted the Cabela's Incorporated 2004 Stock Plan. The 2004 Stock
Plan provides for the grant of non-qualiÑed stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards to employees, directors, and
consultants. A maximum of 2,752,500, subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, consolidation or
stock dividends of the Company's common stock, shares of common stock may be subject to awards under
the 2004 Stock Plan. During any three-year period, no one person will be able to receive more than
734,000 options and/or stock appreciation rights. For awards subject to performance requirements no one
person will be able to receive more than 734,000 shares during any performance period of 36 months, with
proportionate adjustment for shorter or longer periods not to exceed Ñve years. The options will have a
term of no greater than ten years from the grant date and will become exercisable in accordance with the
vesting schedule determined at the time the awards are granted. If incentive stock options are granted to a
""ten percent holder,'' then the options will have a term of no greater than Ñve years from the grant date.
A ""ten percent holder'' is deÑned as a person who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the total
combined voting power of all classes of capital stock of the Company. At Ñscal year end 2004, there were
1,341,881 options granted under the 2004 plan and 1,410,619 options available for grant.

On May 1, 2004, the Company granted 550,500 options at below fair market value. The Company
will incur a pre-tax compensation charge of $3,665, associated with this grant. A pre-tax compensation
charge of $1,674 is included in the Ñscal year ended 2004. The Company will incur future pretax
compensation charges related to the May 1, 2004 grant of $941, $574, $330 and $147 in Ñscal years 2005,
2006, 2007, and 2008, respectively.

In March 2004, the Company adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, under which shares of
common stock are available to be purchased by the Company's employees. The maximum number of
shares of common stock available for issuance under the plan is 1,835,000, subject to adjustment in the
event of a stock split, consolidation, or stock dividends of the Company's common stock. Employees are
eligible to participate in the plan immediately upon hire. Employees who own more than 5% of the
combined voting power of all classes of our stock or stock of a subsidiary cannot participate in the plan.
The right to purchase stock under this plan became eÅective upon the completion of the initial public
oÅering. At Ñscal year end 2004, 22,824 shares had been issued under the Stock Purchase Plan and
1,812,176 shares were available for issuance.

The Company's 1997 Stock Option Plan provided for the granting of incentive stock options and
nonqualiÑed stock options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock to oÇcers, directors and
key employees responsible for the direction and management of the Company. These stock options vest
and become exercisable at the rate of 10% on the date of grant and an additional 10% on each January 1
thereafter. All unexercised incentive options issued prior to Ñscal year ended 2002 expire on the tenth
anniversary of the date of the grant. In 2003, only nonqualiÑed options were granted. NonqualiÑed options
granted vest and are exercisable at various dates through July 2008. At Ñscal year ended 2003, there were
7,337,615 shares of common stock issued under the 1997 plan and there were no future options available
for grant under the 1997 Plan.
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At certain times during the year, the Company will allow employees to exercise options prior to
vesting in exchange for a call option, as provided for in the 1997 Plan. The call option expires at the end
of the vesting period and only becomes exercisable if a termination event occurs that would cause the
stock option to be forfeited. The strike price for the call option is the lower of the employee's exercise
price or the fair value of the stock on the day the call is exercised. At the end of Ñscal year 2004,
238,546 shares have been exercised prior to vesting. There have been no termination events related to
these shares which would cause the call option to be exercisable. The estimated value of the call option is
approximately $932 at the end of Ñscal year 2004. All of these shares have been included in the tables
below.

In addition, in 1997 the Company granted 1,101,000 nonqualiÑed options to purchase Class A
common stock to two employees of the Company pursuant to separate stock option agreements between
the Company and the applicable employee. These options were not issued under the 1997 Plan and all of
these options have been exercised in the past three years.

Information relating to stock options at Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding Ì beginning ÏÏÏÏ 4,581,580 $ 7.06 7,042,730 $ 4.88 6,440,850 $ 4.36

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,341,881 17.29 930,345 11.20 638,580 10.11

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,785,966) 5.49 (3,217,170) 3.45 (12,845) 4.94

ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (174,325) 7.50 (23,855) 5.10

Outstanding Ì ending ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,137,495 $11.50 4,581,580 $ 7.07 7,042,730 $ 4.88

There were 989,425, 1,674,944 and 4,030,578 options exercisable at Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

Stock options outstanding at Ñscal years ended 2004, 2003 and 2002 were comprised of 1,943,424,
3,194,614 and 5,591,223 of incentive and 2,194,071, 1,386,966 and 1,451,507 nonqualiÑed stock options,
respectively.

The pro forma information regarding net income, required by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Ì
Transition and Disclosure, is presented in Note 1 and has been determined as if the Company had
accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method by these standards. The weighted
average fair value of options granted during the year was $10.05, $1.18 and $2.72 for the Ñscal years ended
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The fair value of these options was estimated at the date of grant using
the minimum value approach with the following weighted average assumptions for the Ñscal years ended
2003 and 2002. The fair value of options in Ñscal year ended 2004 was estimated using the Black Scholes
model with the following weighted average assumptions.

2004 2003 2002

Risk-free interest rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.63% 2.50% 4.00%

Dividend yieldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì

Expected volatility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50% Ì Ì

Weighted average expected life ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.5 years 4.5 years 8 years
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The following summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of Ñscal year ended 2004:

Options
Options Outstanding Exercisable

Average
Remaining

Exercise Price Number Contractual Life Number

$ 0.00 to $ 5.00 774,363 3.0 years 196,342

$ 5.01 to $10.00 859,697 6.3 years 227,539

$10.01 to $15.00 1,712,054 6.38 years 390,853

$15.01 to $20.00 785,381 9.3 years 174,691

$20.01 to $25.00 2,000 10.0 years Ì

$25.01 to $30.00 4,000 9.6 years Ì

$11.06 4,137,495 989,425

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share (""EPS'') is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed
by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average number of shares outstanding plus all
additional common shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive common share
equivalents had been issued. Options exercised prior to vesting have not been considered in the basic EPS
calculation but are considered in the computation of diluted EPS. There were 6,000 options outstanding
that were considered anti-dilutive for 2004. The following table reconciles the number of shares utilized in
the earnings per share calculations:

Fiscal Years Ended

2004 2003 2002

Weighted average number of shares:

Common shares Ì basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 61,277,352 52,059,926 49,899,203

EÅect of dilutive securities:

Stock OptionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,000,048 3,246,368 3,500,343

Common shares Ì diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63,277,400 55,306,294 53,399,546

17. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Class A Voting Common Stock Ì There are 245,000,000 shares of Class A common stock authorized,
par value $0.01 per share. At Ñscal year ended 2004 there were 56,733,521 shares of Class A common
stock outstanding, including 238,546 shares of unvested early exercised options. The holders of the
Company's Class A common stock will be entitled to receive ratably dividends, if any, the board of
directors may declare from time to time from funds legally available therefore, subject to the preferential
rights of the holders of any shares of the Company's preferred stock that the Company may issue in the
future. The holders of the Company's Class A common stock will be entitled to one vote per share on any
matter to be voted upon by stockholders.

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company's aÅairs, the
holders of the Company's Class A common stock are entitled to share ratably with the holders of Class B
non-voting common stock in all assets remaining after payment to creditors and subject to prior
distribution rights of any shares of preferred stock that the Company may issue in the future. All of the
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outstanding shares of Class A common stock are, and the shares oÅered by the Company will be, fully
paid and non-assessable.

Class B Non-voting Common Stock Ì There are 245,000,000 shares of Class B non-voting common
stock authorized, par value $0.01 per share. At Ñscal year ended 2004 there were 8,073,205 shares of
Class B non-voting common stock outstanding. The holders of the Company's Class B non-voting common
stock are not entitled to any voting rights, except that the holders may vote as a class, with each holder
receiving one vote per share of Class B non-voting common stock, on any amendment, repeal or
modiÑcation of any provision of the Company's amended and restated certiÑcate of incorporation that
adversely aÅects the powers, preferences or special rights of holders of Class B non-voting common stock.
Shares of the Company's Class B non-voting common stock are convertible into the same number of
shares of Class A voting common stock at any time. However, no holder of shares of Class B non-voting
common stock is entitled to convert any of its shares into shares of Class A common stock, to the extent
that, as a result of such conversion, the holder directly, or indirectly, would own, control or have the power
to vote a greater number of shares of Class A common stock or other securities of any kind issued by the
Company than the holder is legally permitted to own, control or have the power to vote. Subject to the
prior rights of holders of preferred stock, if any, holders of Class B non-voting common stock, which rates
equally with the Company's Class A common stock in respect of dividends, are entitled to receive ratably
dividends, if any, as may be lawfully declared from time to time by the Company's board of directors.

Upon the Company's liquidation, dissolution or winding up, whether voluntary or involuntary, holders
of Class B non-voting common stock are entitled to share ratably with the holders of Class A common
stock in all assets remaining after payment to creditors and subject to prior distribution rights of any shares
of preferred stock that the Company may issue in the future. All of the outstanding shares of Class B non-
voting common stock are, and the shares oÅered by the Company will be, fully paid and non-assessable.

Preferred Stock Ì Upon completion of the initial public oÅering and the Ñling of the Company's
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation in connection therewith, the Company authorized
10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share. At Ñscal year ended 2004 there were no
shares outstanding. The board of directors is authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock
without stockholder approval in diÅerent classes and series and, with respect to each class or series, to
determine the dividend rate, the redemption provisions, conversion provisions, liquidation preference and
other rights, privileges and restrictions. The issuance of any preferred stock could have the eÅect of
diluting the voting power of the holders of common stock, restricting dividends on the common stock,
impairing the liquidation rights of the common stock or delaying or preventing a change in control without
further action by the stockholders.

Recapitalization Transaction Ì On September 23, 2003, following arms-length negotiations between
the Company, the Company's chairman of the board, a board member, McCarthy Group, Inc., and
J.P. Morgan Partners (BHCA), L.P., the Company entered into a $200 Million recapitalization
transaction. As part of this transaction, the Company entered into a Stock Redemption Agreement with a
board member and an aÇliated party of this board member, the Company's chairman and his aÇliates
pursuant to which the Company purchased an aggregate amount of 10,922,617 of their shares of Class A
common stock at a negotiated price of $13.73 per share. As part of this transaction, the Company also sold
1,820,437 shares of Class B non-voting common stock, 14,680 shares and 3,058,328 shares of Class A
common stock to McCarthy Group, Inc., and Outdoor Investors, L.P., respectively, both of whom are
aÇliated parties of one of the Company's directors, for a negotiated purchase price of $13.73 per share. In
addition, the Company sold 5,710,836 shares of Class B non-voting common stock to J.P. Morgan Partners
(BHCA), L.P., one of the Company's principal shareholders, and its aÇliates, for a negotiated price of
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$13.73 per share. In addition, the Company sold 3,990,274 shares of Class A common stock for a
negotiated price of $13.73 per share to non-aÇliated parties.

Retained Earnings Ì The most signiÑcant restrictions on the payment of dividends are the covenants
contained in the Company's revolving credit agreement and unsecured senior notes purchase agreement,
Nebraska banking laws governing the amount of dividends that WFB can pay (including the amounts
WFB can pay to the Company) and the restrictions contained in a stockholders agreement which
terminated upon the consummation of an initial public oÅering of the Company's common stock. The
Company has unrestricted retained earnings of $68,750 available for dividends.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Ì The components of other comprehensive income (loss) and
related tax eÅects were as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Change in net unrealized holding gain (loss) on marketable securities,
net of tax of $1,186, $(128) and $336 in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,154 $(206) $638

Less: adjustment for net gain or (loss) on marketable securities
included in net income, net of tax of $30, $(32) and $(9) in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 53 (59) (16)

2,207 (265) 622

Change in net unrealized holding gain (loss) on derivatives, net of tax
of $49, $356 and $71 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectivelyÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 91 668 126

Less: adjustment for reclassiÑcation of derivative included in net
income, net of tax of $(162), $(230) and $(98) in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (296) (430) (172)

(205) 238 (46)

$2,002 $ (27) $576

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, were as follows:

2004 2003

Accumulated net unrealized holding gain on available for sale securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,565 $357

Accumulated net unrealized holding gain on derivatives ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 151 357

Total accumulated other comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,716 $714

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During 2003 and 2002 the Company leased land and buildings from an entity controlled by the
majority stockholders. The lease cost was $70 per month. Rent expense on this lease was $844 for Ñscal
years 2003 and 2002. At the end of Ñscal 2003 the Company purchased these buildings for $5.0 million.
These buildings were located in Sidney, Nebraska and are used for warehouse, distribution and corporate
storage.

The Company had engaged McCarthy & Co., an aÇliated party of one of the Company's directors, to
provide Ñnancial and business consulting services on a fee-for-services basis. The fees paid to McCarthy &
Co. totaled $58 and $50 in Ñscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, pursuant to an engagement
letter entered into by the Company with McCarthy & Co., McCarthy & Co. was paid a fee of $222 in
Ñscal 2003 in connection with the closing of the recapitalization transactions described in Note 17 above.
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A prior member of the Company's board of directors is an attorney with a Ñrm which the Company
utilizes in the course of its legal needs throughout the year. All activity is at arms-length rates and
reviewed and approved by a Vice President prior to payment. Fees paid to this board member's Ñrm
totaled $757 and $580 in Ñscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. Fees paid to this former board member's Ñrm
totaled $126 through March 2, 2004 when this director resigned from the board eÅective March 2, 2004.

Another member of the Company's board of directors is an attorney with a Ñrm which the Company
utilizes in the course of its legal needs throughout the year. All activity is at arms-length rates and
reviewed and approved by a Vice President prior to payment. Fees paid to this board member's Ñrm
totaled $56, $74 and $25 in Ñscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

A prior member of the Company's board of directors was the Chairman of an insurance company
which administers the Company's health insurance (self-funded) plan, as well as handles the Company's
stop-loss policy. This director resigned from the board at the end of Ñscal 2003, and is now deceased. Total
fees paid for these services were $1,413 during 2003.

The Company entered into an employee and oÇce space lease agreement with the Company's
Chairman, dated eÅective January 1, 2004, pursuant to which he leases the services of certain Company
employees and associated oÇce space. The amount of the lease payments paid under such agreement in
2004 was $221.

The Company was previously a party to a split dollar insurance agreement dated January 29, 1999
with an aÇliate of the Company's Chairman. Under the agreement, the Company was guaranteed
repayment the lesser of net premiums paid or cash surrender value of the policy upon death or
termination. This agreement was terminated in September of 2003, and the Company was reimbursed all
net premiums previously paid into the plan. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company paid $111 and $174,
net of reimbursements, in Ñscal 2003 and 2002, respectively.

19. CONTINGENCIES

Litigation Ì The Company is engaged in various legal actions arising in the ordinary course of
business. After taking into consideration legal counsel's evaluation of such actions, management is of the
opinion that the ultimate outcome will not have a material adverse eÅect on the Company's Ñnancial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

Self-Insurance Ì The Company is self-insured for health claims up to $300 per individual. A liability
of $4,168 and $3,651 has been estimated and recorded at year end for Ñscal 2004 and 2003, respectively,
for those claims incurred prior to year end but not yet reported.

The Company is also self-insured for workers compensation claims up to $500 per individual in Ñscal
years 2004 and 2003, respectively. A liability of $1,913 and $1,301 has been estimated and recorded at
year end for Ñscal 2004 and 2003, respectively, for those claims incurred prior to year end but not yet
reported.

The Company's liabilities for health and workers compensation claims incurred but not reported are
based upon internally developed calculations. These estimates are regularly evaluated for adequacy based
on the most current information available, including historical claim payments, expected trends and
industry factors.

20. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has three reportable segments: Direct, Retail and Financial Services. The Direct
segment sells products through direct-mail catalogs and an e-commerce website (Cabelas.com); the Retail
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segment consists of ten destination retail stores in various size and formats; Financial Services issues co-
branded credit cards. The reconciling amount is primarily made up of corporate overhead and shared
services. The Company's executive management, being its chief operating decision makers, assesses the
performance of each operating segment based on an operating income measure, which is net revenue less
merchandise acquisition costs and certain directly identiÑable and allocable operating costs as described
below. For the Direct segment, these operating costs primarily consist of catalog development, production
and circulation costs, e-commerce advertising costs and order processing costs. For the Retail segment,
these operating costs primarily consist of store and selling and occupancy costs. For the Financial Services
segment, operating costs primarily consist of advertising and promotion, contract labor, salaries and wages
and other general and administrative costs. Corporate and other expenses consist of unallocated shared-
service costs, general and administrative expenses, various small companies such as travel and lodging
which are not aggregated with the other segments and eliminations. Unallocated shared-service costs
include receiving, distribution and storage costs, merchandising and quality assurance costs as well as
corporate occupancy costs. General and administrative expenses include costs associated with general
corporate management and shared departmental services (e.g., Ñnance, accounting, data processing and
human resources).

Segment assets are those directly used in or clearly allocable to an operating segment's operations. For
the Direct segment, these assets primarily include prepaid and deferred catalog costs, Ñxed assets and
goodwill. Goodwill makes up $970 of assets in the Direct segment. For the Retail segment, these assets
primarily include inventory in the stores, land, buildings, Ñxtures, leasehold improvements. For the
Financial Services segment these assets primarily include cash, credit card loans receivable, other,
buildings and Ñxtures. Corporate and other assets include corporate headquarters, merchandise distribution
inventory, and shared technology infrastructure as well as corporate cash and cash equivalents, prepaid
expenses and $830 of investment in equity method investees. Non-cash capital expenditures were $8,728 in
the other segment for a capital lease on a distribution center. Segment depreciation and amortization and
capital expenditures are correspondingly allocated to each segment. Corporate and other depreciation and
amortization and capital expenditures are related to corporate headquarters, merchandise distribution and
technology infrastructure. Unallocated assets include corporate cash and equivalents, inventory that could
be shipped for sales to the Retail or Direct segment entities, the net book value of corporate facilities and
related information systems, deferred income taxes and other corporate long-lived assets. The accounting
policies of the segments, where applicable, are the same as those described in the summary of signiÑcant
accounting policies. Intercompany revenues between the segments have been eliminated in the
consolidations.

Corporate
Financial Overhead

2004 Direct Retail Services and Other Total

Dollars in thousands

Revenue from external ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $968,889 $497,027 $ 78,714 $ 11,344 $1,555,974

Revenue from internalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,757 2,047 (610) (3,194) Ì

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 970,646 499,074 78,104 8,150 1,555,974

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 146,765 72,136 31,099 (152,785) 97,215

As a % of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.1% 14.5% 39.8% N/A 6.2%

Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏ 5,350 10,200 1,386 12,907 29,843

Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 309,089 266,840 199,861 452,441 1,228,231

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,752 24,915 857 20,044 52,568
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Corporate
Financial Overhead

2003 Direct Retail Services and Other Total

Dollars in thousands

Revenue from external ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $923,195 $405,308 $ 57,531 $ 6,389 $1,392,423

Revenue from internalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,101 1,930 747 (3,778) Ì

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 924,296 407,238 58,278 2,611 1,392,423

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 143,996 56,193 19,271 (134,529) 84,931

As a % of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.6% 13.8% 33.1% N/A 6.1%

Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏ 5,141 8,846 1,318 11,410 26,715

Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 235,382 245,301 171,560 311,310 963,553

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,786 50,036 752 18,398 72,972

Corporate
Financial Overhead

2002 Direct Retail Services and Other Total

Dollars in thousands

Revenue from external ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $866,343 $303,541 $ 46,387 $ 8,310 $1,224,581

Revenue from internalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,456 2,250 Ì (3,706) Ì

Total revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 867,799 305,791 46,387 4,604 1,224,581

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 134,011 41,428 12,949 (112,387) 76,001

As a % of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.4% 13.5% 27.9% N/A 6.2%

Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏ 4,735 6,505 2,610 9,689 23,539

Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 230,527 201,963 128,189 274,289 834,968

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,242 28,245 6,290 15,610 53,387

The components and amounts of net revenues for our Ñnancial services business for 2004, 2003 and
2002 were as follows:

2004 2003 2002

INTEREST AND FEE INCOME ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12,735 $ 7,858 $ 5,284

INTEREST EXPENSE ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,063) (3,226) (3,474)

NET INTEREST INCOME ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,672 4,632 1,810

NON-INTEREST INCOME:

Securitization income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 96,466 74,472 60,727

Other non-interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,905 19,050 14,979

Total non-interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 121,371 93,522 75,706

Less: Customer rewards costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (52,939) (39,876) (31,129)

FINANCIAL SERVICES REVENUE ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 78,104 $ 58,278 $ 46,387

The Company's products are principally marketed to individuals within the United States. Net sales
realized from other geographic markets, primarily Canada, have collectively been less than 1% of
consolidated net sales in each reported period. No single customer accounted for ten percent or more of
consolidated net sales. No single product or service accounts for a signiÑcant percentage of the Company's
consolidated revenue.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cabela's Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Sidney, Nebraska

We have audited the consolidated Ñnancial statements of Cabela's Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the
""Company'') as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, and for each of the three years in the period
ended January 1, 2005, and have issued our report thereon dated March 18, 2005; such report is included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Our audits also included the Ñnancial statement schedule of the Company
listed in Item 15. This Ñnancial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits. In our opinion, this Ñnancial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic Ñnancial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Omaha, Nebraska
March 18, 2005
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Beginning Charged to Charged to Net End of
of Year Costs and Other Charge- Year
Balance Expenses Accounts OÅs Balance

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 1, 2005:

Allowance for doubtful accountsÏÏÏ $1,894 $ (404) $ (7) $ (411) $1,483

Allowance for credit card receivable
loan losses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 65 $ Ì $ 65 $ 65

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004:

Allowance for doubtful accountsÏÏÏ $ 693 $1,374 $(173) $1,201 $1,894

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 28,
2002:

Allowance for doubtful accountsÏÏÏ $ 468 $ 153 $ 72 $ 225 $ 693
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Related CEO and CFO CertiÑcations

We conducted an evaluation of the eÅectiveness of the design and operation of our ""disclosure
controls and procedures'' (""Disclosure Controls'') as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K
(the ""Evaluation''). The Evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including our President and Chief Executive OÇcer (""CEO'') and Chief Financial OÇcer
(""CFO''). Based on the Evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our Disclosure Controls are
eÅective in timely alerting them to material information required to be included in our periodic SEC
reports.

Attached as exhibits to this Form 10-K are certiÑcations of the CEO and the CFO, which are
required in accordance with Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
""Exchange Act''). This ""Controls and Procedures'' section includes the information concerning the
Evaluation referred to in the certiÑcations, and it should be read in conjunction with the certiÑcations for a
more complete understanding of the topics presented.

Changes in Internal Controls

There has not been any change in our internal control over Ñnancial reporting that occurred during
the quarter ended January 1, 2005 that has materially aÅected, or is reasonably likely to materially aÅect,
those controls.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information under the headings ""Proposal One Ì Election of Directors,'' ""Executive OÇcers of
the Company,'' ""Corporate Governance Ì Committees of the Board of Directors Ì Audit Committee,''
and ""Section 16 (a) BeneÑcial Ownership Reporting Compliance,'' in our Proxy Statement relating to our
2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (our ""Proxy Statement'') is incorporated herein by reference. With
the exception of the foregoing information and other information speciÑcally incorporated by reference into
this Form 10-K Report, our Proxy Statement is not being Ñled as a part hereof.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our senior oÇcers, including speciÑcally our Chief
Executive OÇcer, our Chief Financial OÇcer, and our Director of Accounting. We have also adopted a
general business code of conduct and ethics that applies to all of our directors, oÇcers and employees.
These codes are both posted on our website, which is located at www.cabelas.com. Stockholders may
request a free copy of either of such items in print form by writing to Secretary, Cabela's, One Cabela
Drive, Sidney, NE 69160. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K
regarding any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Code of Ethics by posting such
information on our website at the address speciÑed above. Similarly, we expect to disclose to stockholders
any waiver of the business code of conduct and ethics for executive oÇcers or directors by posting such
information on our website at the address speciÑed above. Information contained on our website, whether
currently posted or posted in the future, is not part of this document or the documents incorporated by
reference in this document.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information under the heading ""Executive Compensation'' and ""Corporate Governance Ì
Director Compensation'' in our Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference; provided however,
that the information under the heading ""Executive Compensation Ì Compensation Committee Report on
Executive Compensation'' in our Proxy Statement is not incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT

The information under the headings ""Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and
Management'' and ""Executive Compensation Ì Equity Compensation Plan Information as of Fiscal Year
End'' in our Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information under the headings ""Certain Relationships and Related Transactions'' in our Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information under the heading ""Proposal Two Ì RatiÑcation of Independent Public Account-
ants,'' in our Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are Ñled as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements:

Consolidated Statements of Income Ì Years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004, Decem-
ber 28, 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheets Ì January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Ì Years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004,
December 28, 2002

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity Ì Years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004,
December 28, 2002

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC
are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.
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3. Exhibits: See Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

3.1 Amended and Restated CertiÑcate of Incorporation of Cabela's Incorporated (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
July 3, 2004)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cabela's Incorporated (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2
to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 3, 2004)

4.1 Specimen Stock CertiÑcate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2003, among Cabela's Incorporated and
the security holders named therein (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.3 Form of 4.95% Senior Note Due September 2009 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.4 Form of 8.79% Senior Note, Series A, Due January 2007 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4
of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.5 Form of 9.01% Senior Note, Series B, Due January 2007 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.5
of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.6 Form of 9.19% Senior Note, Series C, Due January 2010 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.6
of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.7 Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September 5, 2002, among Cabela's Incorporated and various
purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 of our Registration Statement
on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.8 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela's Incorporated and various
purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.8 of our Registration Statement
on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.9 Amendment No. 1 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela's Incorporated
and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.9 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.10 Amendment No. 2 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela's Incorporated
and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.10 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.11 Amendment No. 3 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela's Incorporated
and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.11 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.12 Amendment No. 4 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela's Incorporated
and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.12 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

4.13 Amendment No. 5 to Note Agreements dated as of January 1, 1995, among Cabela's Incorporated
and various purchasers party thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.13 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

10.1 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 4, 2004, among Cabela's Incorporated and
Richard N. Cabela (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of our Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.2 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 4, 2004, among Cabela's Incorporated and
James W. Cabela (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of our Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.3 Employee and OÇce Space Lease Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004, among Cabela's
Incorporated and Richard N. Cabela (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 of our Registra-
tion Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

10.4 Stock Redemption Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2003, among Cabela's Incorporated and
James W. Cabela and an aÇliated party and Richard N. Cabela and his aÇliates (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.4 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004,
Registration No. 333-113835)

10.5 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2003, among Cabela's Incorporated and the
security holders named therein (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)

10.6 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6 of our Registration Statement
on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.7 First Amendment to 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.8 Second Amendment to 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.9 Third Amendment to 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.10 Fourth Amendment to 1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9.1 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.11 Form of 1997 Employee Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 of
our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.12 Form of Employee Stock Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.13 2004 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 of our Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.14 Form of 2004 Employee Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 of
our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.15 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.16 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2004, among Cabela's Incorporated,
various lenders party thereto, and U.S. Bank National Association as Agent (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.15 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004,
Registration No. 333-113835)

10.17 Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agreement dated as of September 5, 2002, among Cabela's
Incorporated, various lenders party thereto and various note holders party thereto (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.16 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004,
Registration No. 333-113835)

10.18 Form of IndemniÑcation Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 of our Registra-
tion Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.19 Form of Management Change of Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.19 of our Registration Statement on Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration
No. 333-113835)*

10.20 Restated Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.20 of our Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Ñled on March 23, 2004, Registration No. 333-113835)*

10.21 Cabela's Incorporated Third Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, Ñled on March 1,
2005 (File No. 001-32227))*

10.22 Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of
our Current Report on Form 8-K, Ñled on December 27, 2004 (File No. 001-32227))*
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.23 Summary of Compensation to our Named Executive OÇcers*

21.1 Subsidiaries of Cabela's Incorporated

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

31.1 CertiÑcation of CEO Pursuant to 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act

31.2 CertiÑcation of CFO Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act

32.1 CertiÑcations Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

* indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be Ñled as exhibits
pursuant to Item 15(b) of this report.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. See Item 15(a) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

CABELA'S INCORPORATED

Dated: March 18, 2005 By: /s/ Dennis Highby

Dennis Highby
President and Chief Executive OÇcer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Dennis Highby President, Chief Executive OÇcer and March 18, 2005
Director (Principal Executive OÇcer)Dennis Highby

/s/ Ralph W. Castner Vice President and Chief Financial March 18, 2005
OÇcer (Principal Financial OÇcerRalph W. Castner
and Principal Accounting OÇcer)

/s/ Richard N. Cabela Chairman of the Board and Director March 18, 2005

Richard N. Cabela

/s/ James W. Cabela Vice-Chairman of the Board March 18, 2005
and DirectorJames W. Cabela

/s/ Gerald E. Matzke Director March 18, 2005

Gerald E. Matzke

/s/ Michael R. McCarthy Director March 18, 2005

Michael R. McCarthy

/s/ Reuben Mark Director March 18, 2005

Reuben Mark

/s/ John Gottschalk Director March 18, 2005

John Gottschalk

/s/ Theodore M. Armstrong Director March 18, 2005

Theodore M. Armstrong
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Exhibit 10.23

On February 23, 2005, after a review of performance and competitive market data, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors of Cabela's Incorporated (""Cabela's'') established Ñscal 2005 base
salaries and determined cash bonuses under Cabela's Restated Bonus Plan for Cabela's Named Executive
OÇcers (as deÑned in Item 402(a) of Reg. S-K).

The Ñscal 2005 base salaries for Cabela's Named Executive OÇcers are as follows:

Dennis Highby, $648,003
David A. Roehr, $515,117
Patrick A. Snyder, $399,438
Michael Callahan, $399,437
Ralph W. Castner, $311,250

The Ñscal 2004 cash bonuses for Cabela's Named Executive oÇcers are as follows:

Dennis Highby, $1,500,000
David A. Roehr, $1,150,000
Patrick A. Snyder, $450,000
Michael Callahan, $450,000
Ralph W. Castner, $375,000

Each of Messrs. Highby, Roehr, Snyder, Callahan, and Castner are employed ""at will.'' Fiscal 2005 base
salaries will be eÅective April 7, 2005 for Messrs. Highby, Snyder, Callahan, and Castner and April 14,
2005 for Mr. Roehr. Fiscal 2004 cash bonuses for the Named Executive OÇcers are payable in two parts,
half was paid on March 4, 2005, with the other half payable on December 16, 2005.

The Named Executive OÇcers are parties to respective Management Change of Control Severance
Agreements with Cabela's and are eligible to receive an annual bonus award pursuant to Cabela's Restated
Bonus Plan. The Named Executive OÇcers are also eligible to participate in Cabela's broad-based beneÑt
plans, including health and life insurance programs, 401(k) Plan, and Employee Stock Purchase Plan, to
receive awards under Cabela's 2004 Stock Plan, and to receive certain perquisites oÅered by Cabela's,
including discounted prices on merchandise.

Additional information regarding the compensation awarded to the Named Executive OÇcers in respect of
and during Ñscal 2004 will be set forth in the sections entitled ""Summary Compensation Table'' and
""Options Granted in the Last Fiscal Year'' of the Proxy Statement for Cabela's 2005 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the ""Proxy Statement''), which sections are incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy
Statement is expected to be Ñled with the SEC in April 2005.



Exhibit 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF CABELA'S INCORPORATED

Name of Subsidiary State of Organization

Cabela's Catalog, Inc. Nebraska
Cabela's Lodging, LLC Nebraska
Cabela's Outdoor Adventures, Inc. Nebraska
Cabela's Marketing & Brand Management, Inc. Nebraska
Cabela's Retail, Inc. Nebraska
Cabela's Trophy Properties, LLC Nebraska
Cabela's Ventures, Inc. Nebraska
Cabela's Wholesale, Inc. Nebraska
Cabelas.com, Inc. Nebraska
Original Creations, LLC Minnesota
Van Dyke Supply Company, Inc. South Dakota
WFB Funding Corporation Nebraska
WFB Funding, LLC Nebraska
Wild Wings, LLC Minnesota
World's Foremost Bank Nebraska
Cabela's Retail GP, LLC Nebraska
CRLP, LLC Nebraska
Cabela's Retail TX, L.P. Nebraska
Cabela's Retail LA, LLC Nebraska



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-116864 on
Form S-8 of our reports dated March 18, 2005 relating to the Ñnancial statements and the
Ñnancial statement schedule of Cabela's Incorporated, appearing in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Cabela's Incorporated for the year ended January 1, 2005.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Omaha, Nebraska
March 18, 2005



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Dennis Highby, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cabela's Incorporated;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the Ñnancial statements, and other Ñnancial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the Ñnancial condition, results of operations and cash
Öows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the eÅectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the eÅectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent Ñscal quarter (the registrant's fourth Ñscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially aÅected, or is reasonably likely to
materially aÅect, the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over Ñnancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors:

a. All signiÑcant deÑciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over Ñnancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely aÅect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report Ñnancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
signiÑcant role in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

Date: March 18, 2005 /s/ Dennis Highby

Dennis Highby
President and Chief Executive OÇcer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Ralph W. Castner, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cabela's Incorporated;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the Ñnancial statements, and other Ñnancial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the Ñnancial condition, results of operations and cash
Öows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the eÅectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the eÅectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent Ñscal quarter (the registrant's fourth Ñscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially aÅected, or is reasonably likely to
materially aÅect, the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over Ñnancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors:

a. All signiÑcant deÑciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over Ñnancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely aÅect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report Ñnancial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
signiÑcant role in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

Date: March 18, 2005 /s/ Ralph W. Castner

Ralph W. Castner
Vice President and Chief Financial OÇcer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Cabela's Incorporated (the ""registrant'') on Form 10-K for the
period ended January 1, 2005 as Ñled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the ""report''), each of the undersigned certiÑes, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to the best of
his knowledge:

(1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the Ñnancial
condition and results of operations of the registrant.

Dated: March 18, 2005

/s/ Dennis Highby

Dennis Highby
President and Chief Executive OÇcer

/s/ Ralph W. Castner

Ralph W. Castner
Vice President and Chief Financial OÇcer
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Corporate Headquar ter s
Cabela’s Inc.

One Cabela Drive

Sidney, NE 69160

Telephone: 308-254-5505

Legal Counsel
Koley Jessen P.C.,A Limited Liability Organization

One Pacific Place

1125 South 103rd Street, Suite 800

Omaha, NE 68124

Independent Reg istered 
Public Accounting Firm
Deloitte & Touche LLP 

First National Tower, 1601 Dodge Street, Suite 3100

Omaha, NE 68102-9706

Transfer Agent & Reg istrar
Wells Fargo Shareowner Services

P.O. Box 64854

South St. Paul, MN 55164-0854

Telephone: 800-401-1957

Notice of Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held 

at 10 a.m. MT on Wednesday, May 11, 2005, at:

Holiday Inn

664 Chase Boulevard

Sidney, NE 69162

Telephone: 308-254-2000

Investor Relations Inquir ies
Questions and requests for information should 

be directed to Christopher Gay,Treasurer and 

Manager of Investor Relations, at 308-255-2905 

or via email at christopher.gay@cabelas.com 

or by visiting the company’s website at 

www.cabelas.com.

Common Stock
Cabela’s Class A 

Common Stock is 

traded on the 

New York Stock 

Exchange under the 

ticker symbol “CAB”.
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Cabela’s is the nation’s largest direct marketer, and a leading specialty retailer, of hunting,

fishing, camping and related outdoor merchandise. Since our founding in 1961, Cabela’s®

has grown to become one of the most well-known outdoor recreation brands in the

United States, and we have long been recognized as the World’s Foremost Outfitter®.

Through our well-established direct business and our growing number of destination

retail stores, we believe we offer the widest and most distinctive selection of high-quality

outdoor products at competitive prices while providing superior customer service. Our

multi-channel retail model – catalog, Internet and destination retail stores – strategically

positions us to meet our customers’ ever-growing needs. We also issue the Cabela’s Club

VISA credit card through which we offer a related customer loyalty rewards program as

a vehicle for strengthening our customer relationships.

As the World’s Foremost Outfitter,
we passionately serve people 

who enjoy the outdoor lifestyle 
by delivering innovation, quality and 

value in our products and services.

Cabela’s Class A Common Stock began trading on June 25, 2004  

on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “CAB”.

As the World’s Foremost Outfitter,
we passionately serve people 

who enjoy the outdoor lifestyle 
by delivering innovation, quality and 

value in our products and services.

Cabela’s Class A Common Stock began trading on June 25, 2004  

on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “CAB”.

®®



Monument at Cabela’s retail store in Wheeling,West Virginia
“Where Eagles Dare” by Vic Payne
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